

Antidiabetic Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract and Rhinacanthin-C

Muhammad Ajmal Shah

A Thesis Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmaceutical Sciences Prince of Songkla University 2017

Copyright of Prince of Songkla University

Thesis Title	Antidiabetic Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract a	
	Rhinacanthin-C	
Author	Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah	
Major Program	Pharmaceutical Sciences	

Major Advisor

Examining Committee:

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant)	Chairperson (Assist. Prof. Dr. Supreeya Yuenyongsawad)
Co-Advisor	Committee (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Wantana Reanmongkol)
(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Wantana Reanmongkol)	Committee (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant)
	Committee (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Boonchoo Sritularak)

The Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, has approved this thesis as fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Pharmaceutical Sciences.

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Teerapol Srichana) Dean of Graduate School This is to certify that the work here submitted is the result of the candidate's own investigations. Due acknowledgement has been made of any assistance received.

.....Signature (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant) Major Advisor

...... Signature

(Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah) Candidate I hereby certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any other degree, and is not being currently submitted in candidature for any degree.

..... Signature (Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah) Candidate

ชื่อวิทยานิพนธ์ ฤทธิ์ลดน้ำตาลในเลือดของสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงและ ของไรนา-แคนธินชี

ผู้เขียน Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah

สาขาวิชา เภสัชศาสตร์

ปีการศึกษา 2559

บทคัดย่อ

สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสงเป็นสารสกัดกึ่งบริสทธิ์ ที่มีปริมาณไรนา แคนธินซีร้อยละ 60 โดยน้ำหนัก สารสกัดดังกล่าวเตรียมได้จากใบทองพันชั่ง ซึ่งเป็นพืช ้สมุนไพรชนิดหนึ่งที่นิยมนำมาใช้รักษาโรคในการแพทย์แผนไทย นอกจากนี้ในประเทศ ้ไต้หวันและจีนยังใช้เป็นเครื่องดื่มสมุนไพรด้วย การเตรียมสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริ มาณสูงจะใช้วิธีการสกัดด้วยคลื่นไมโครเวฟ ซึ่งเป็นวิธีการสกัดสารที่ได้รับการยอมรับ ว่าเป็นวิธีที่เป็นมิตรต่อสิ่งแวดล้อม จากนั้นนำสารสกัดมาแยกสารด้วยคอลัมน์ชนิด Amberlite[®] ส่วนการแยกสารไรนาแคนธินซี, ไรนาแคนธินดี และ ไรนาแคนธินเอ็น จาก สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง ใช้คอลัมน์ชนิด silica gel การศึกษานี้ได้ทดสอบ ศักยภาพในการรักษาโรคเบาหวานของสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง และ ไรนา แคนธินที่ใช้เป็นสารมาตรฐาน โดยการทดสอบฤทธิ์ยับยั้งเอนไซม์ α-glucosidase ใน หลอดทดลอง และทดสอบฤทธิ์ superoxide scavenging, ฤทธิ์ต้านการเกิดไกลเคชัน, ้ฤทธิ์กระต้นการนำกลูโคสเข้าเซลล์ และ ฤทธิ์ยับยั้งการสร้างเซลล์ไขมัน นอกจากนี้ ยัง ทดสอบฤทธิ์ลดระดับน้ำตาลและไขมันในเลือด ของสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง และ ไรนาแคนธินซี ในหนทดลองที่ถกทำให้เป็นโรคเบาหวานด้วยการให้ nicotinamide และศึกษาเพื่อทำนายความสัมพันธ์ระหว่างโครสร้างทางเคมีของ และ streptozotocin สารกับ รปแบบของเภสัชจลนศาสตร์และความเป็นพิษของไรนาแคนธินโดยใช้โปรแกรม คอมพิวเตอร์

สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงมีฤทธิ์ยับยั้งเอนไซม์ α-glucosidase (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 25.0 μg/mL) ได้ใกล้เคียงกับไรนาแคนธินซี (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 22.6 μg/mL) และมี ฤทธิ์ดีกว่าไรนา-แคนธินดี (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 71.5 μg/mL) และยามาตรฐาน acarbose (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 395.4 μg/mL) ในขณะที่ไรนาแคนธินเอ็นไม่มีฤทธิ์ดังกล่าว การศึกษาทางจล

ศาสตร์พบว่าทั้งสารสกัดที่มีไรนา-แคนธินปริมาณสูงและไรนาแคนธินซีมีฤทธิ์ยับยั้ง เอนไซม์ α-glucosidase แบบ noncompetition และสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง และไรนาแคนธินซียังช่วยเสริมฤทธิ์ของ acarbose (competitive inhibitor) เมื่อให้ ร่วมกันที่ระดับความเข้มข้นต่ำ (¼IC₅₀, ½IC₅₀ and IC₅₀) และจากการศึกษาด้วย โปรแกรมคอมพิวเตอร์พบว่าไรนาแคนธินซีจับกับเอนไซม์ α-glucosidase โดยใช้ส่วน ของโมเลกุลทั้งที่มีขั้วและไม่มีขั้ว

การทดสอบฤทธิ์ superoxide scavenging ใช้เทคนิค cyclic voltammetry และการทดสอบฤทธิ์ต้าน ไกลเคชันใช้ระบบ fructose mediated human serum albumin การศึกษาความสัมพันธ์ของโครงสร้างทางเคมีของไรนาแคนธินและฤทธิ์ใช้ molecular interaction studies พบว่าสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงมีฤทธิ์ต้านออกซิเดชันผ่าน กลไก E_rC_i โดยมีค่า IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 8.0 µg/mL มีค่า antioxidant capacity เท่ากับ 39439 M⁻¹ และ มีค่า binding constant เท่ากับ 45709 M⁻¹ การทดสอบฤทธิ์ต้านไกลเคชันพบว่า สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงมีฤทธิ์ดีเทียบเท่าไรนาแคนธินซี โดยมีค่า IC_{50} เท่ากับ 39.7 และ 37.3 μg/mL ตามลำดับ แต่มีฤทธิ์ดีกว่าไรนา-แคนธินดี (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 50.4 μ g/mL), ไรนาแคนธินเอ็น (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 89.5 μ g/mL) และสารมาตรฐาน rutin (IC₅₀ เท่ากับ 41.5 µg/mL) การที่สารสกัดมีฤทธิ์ superoxide scavenging และฤทธิ์ต้านไกลเค แสดงให้เห็นว่าสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงมีศักยภาพในการ ชั่นได้ดีมาก นำไปใช้รักษาโรคเรื้อรังต่างๆ โดยเฉพาะโรคแทรกซ้อนที่มักจะเกิดในผู้ป่วย โรคเบาหวาน

โรคอ้วนเป็นเป็นอีกโรคหนึ่งที่มักจะพบในผู้ป่วยโรคเบาหวน โดยเฉพาะ โรคเบาหวานชนิดที่ 2 มีรายงานว่าสารสกัดใบทองพันชั่งมีศักยภาพในการรักษา ้โรคเบาหวานและโรคอ้วนได้ ในการศึกษานี้ได้ศึกษาฤทธิ์กระตุ้นการนำกลูโคสเข้าเซลล์ ้และ ถุทธิ์ต้านการสร้างเซลล์ไขมัน ของสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสงและไรนา ้แคนธินมาตรฐาน ในเซลล์ชนิด 3T3-L1 adipocytes และ L6 myotubes การทดสอบฤทธิ์ ึกระตุ้นการนำกลูโคสเข้าเซลล์ทำการทดลองในเซลล์ชนิด 3T3-L1 และ L6 ด้วยวิธีการ ้วัดปริมาณกลูโคสที่เหลือในอาหารเพาะเลี้ยงโดยใช้ glucose oxidase kit ส่วนการ ทดสอบฤทธิ์ต้านการสร้างเซลล์ไขมันทำเฉพาะในเซลล์ไขมันชนิด 3T3-L1 ด้วยการวัด ้ปริมาณไขมันในเซลล์โดยใช้ oil red O dye พบว่าที่ขนาดยาที่ให้ผลดีที่สุด สารสกัดที่มี ไรนา-แคนธินปริมาณสูง (20 μg/mL) มีฤทธิ์กระตุ้นการนำกลูโคสเข้าเซลล์ชนิด 3T3-L1 ้ได้ดีเท่ากับไรนาแคนธินเอ็น (20 μg/mL) และอินซูลิน (0.58 μg/mL) และมีฤทธิ์ดีกว่าไร นาแคนธินซี (20 μg/mL) และไรนาแคนธินดี (20 μg/mL) ส่วนในเซลล์ชนิด L6 พบว่า สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง (2.5 µg/mL) มีฤทธิ์กระตุ้นการนำกลูโคสเข้าเซลล์ (>80%) ได้ดีเท่ากับไรนาแคนธินซี (2.5 µg/mL) และยามาตรฐานอินซูลิน (2.90 µg/mL) และ เม็ตฟอร์มิน (219.5 µg/mL) และมีมีฤทธิ์ดีกว่าไรนาแคนธินดี (2.5 µg/mL) และไรนา แคนธินเอ็น (2.5 μg/mL) นอกจากนี้ สารสกัดที่มี ไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูง (20 µg/mL) ยังมีฤทธิ์ต้านการสร้างเซลล์ไขมันในเซลล์ชนิด 3T3-L1 ได้ดีมาก โดยออกฤทธิ์ ได้ใกล้เคียงกับไรนาแคนธินซี (20 μg/mL) และมีฤทธิ์ดีกว่าไรนาแคนธินดี (20 μg/mL) และไรนาแคนธินอ็น (20 µg/mL)

การศึกษาในหนูทดลองที่ถูกทำให้เป็นเบาหวานด้วยการให้ nicotinamide และ streptozotocin เพื่อเปรียบเทียบผลในการลดระดับน้ำตาลและไขมันในเลือดของ สารสกัดที่มีไรนา-แคนธินปริมาณสูง (24.11 mg/kg ซึ่งเป็นขนาดที่สมมูลกับไรนาแคนธิน ซี 15 mg/kg) ไรนาแคนธินซี (15 mg/kg) และยามาตรฐาน glibenclamide (600 μg/kg) โดยให้สารสกัดและยาติดต่อกันเป็นระยะเวลา 28 วัน พบว่าสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริ มาณสูงและไรนาแคนธินซีสามารถลดระดับน้ำตาลในเลือด (fasting blood glucose), ระดับ HbA1c และการกินอาหารและน้ำ และเพิ่มระดับของอินซูลินและน้ำหนักตัวหนูทอ ลองได้ แต่ไม่มีผลเหล่านี้ในหนูปกติ และมีผลทำให้ระดับของไขมันในซีรั่มและระดับของ biomarkers ในตับและไตกลับมาเป็นปกติในหนูทดลองที่เป็นเบาหวานทั้งในกลุ่มที่ได้รับ สารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงและกลุ่มที่ได้รับไรนาแคนธินซี แต่ไม่มีผลเหล่านี้ใน หนูปกติ นอกจากนี้ในการศึกษาพยาธิวิทยาระดับเซลล์ของตับอ่อนพบว่า สารสกัดที่มี ไรนาแคนธินปริมาณสูงและไรนาแคนธินซียังช่วยฟื้นฟูเซลล์ islets of Langerhans ใน หนูทดลองที่เป็นเบาหวานด้วย จากผลการศึกษาทั้งหมดนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่า สารสกัดที่มีไร นาแคนธินปริมาณสูงมีศักยภาพในการรักษาโรคเบาหวานได้ทัดเทียมกับไรนา-แคนธิน

ชี และจากการทำนายผลการวิเคราะห์ทางเภสัชจลนศาสตร์และความเป็นพิษด้วย โปรแกรมคอมพิวเตอร์พบว่า สามารถให้ไรนา-แคนธินซีโดยการรับประทานได้โดยไม่ เกิดความเป็นพิษ ไม่เป็นสารก่อมะเร็งและสารก่อการกลายพันธุ์ และ มีชีวปริมาณออก ฤทธิ์ (bioavailability) ที่เหมาะสม การศึกษานี้แสดงให้เห็นว่าสารสกัดที่มีไรนาแคนธินป ริมาณสูง เป็นสารสกัดจากธรรมชาติที่มีศักยภาพในการนำมาใช้รักษาโรค เบาหวานได้ อย่างมีประสิทธิภาพ Thesis TitleAntidiabetic Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract and
Rhinacanthin-CAuthorMr. Muhammad Ajmal ShahMajor ProgramPharmaceutical SciencesAcademic Year2016

ABSTRACT

Rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) is a semi purified leaf extract that contains 60% w/w of rhinacanthin-C (RC) obtained from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf, a popular medicinal plant used in Thai traditional medicine and an herbal drink in Taiwan and China. RRE was prepared by microwave assisted green extraction method along with a simple step of fractionation using Amberlite[®] column. RC, rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN) were isolated from the RRE using silica gel column chromatography. In this study, RRE and its marker compounds were investigated for their antidiabetic potential using *in vitro* α -glucosidase inhibition, superoxide scavenging, antiglycation, glucose uptake stimulation and adipogenic inhibition assays. An *in vivo* experiment using nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats was also performed to validate and compare the hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic activity of RRE with its major constituent RC. Moreover, *in silico* studies were conducted to predict structure activity relationship, pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile of rhinacanthins.

RRE (IC₅₀ value of 25.0 μ g/mL) exhibited α -glucosidase inhibitory activity nearly equal to that of RC (IC₅₀ value of 22.6 μ g/mL) but stronger than that of RD (IC₅₀ value of 71.5 μ g/mL) and the standard drug, acarbose (IC₅₀ value of 395.4 μ g/mL), while RN was inactive. Kinetic studies revealed that both RRE and RC exhibited noncompetitive α -glucosidase inhibitory activity, while combinations of either RRE or rhinacanthin-C with acarbose (competitive inhibitor) at low concentrations (¹/₄IC₅₀, ¹/₂IC₅₀ and IC₅₀) showed a synergistic inhibitory effect. *In* *silico* studies identified the binding mode of RC highlighting the formation of both polar and apolar contacts of ligand with α -glucosidase.

Superoxide scavenging activity was performed by cyclic voltammetry and fructose mediated human serum albumin glycation model was used for antiglycation activity. Molecular interaction studies were conducted to identify the structure activity relationships of rhinacanthins. On the basis of kinetic measurements, RRE exhibited the most potent antioxidant activity via E_rC_i mechanism, with an IC₅₀ value of 8.0 µg/mL, antioxidant capacity of 39439 M⁻¹ and binding constant of 45709 M⁻¹. Antiglycation assay showed that RRE exhibited almost same glycation inhibitory effect to that of RC, with IC₅₀ values of 39.7, and 37.3 µg/mL, respectively, but higher than that of RD (IC₅₀ of 50.4 µg/mL), RN (IC₅₀ of 89.5 µg/mL) as well as the positive control, rutin (IC₅₀ of 41.5 µg/mL). The potent superoxide scavenging and albumin glycation inhibitory effect of RRE rationalized its therapeutic application in various chronic diseases especially in the complications of diabetes.

Obesity is one of the imperative dynamic in the incidence and intensification of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). *R. nasutus* leaf extracts are previously reported for their antidiabetic and antiobesity potential. In the present study, RRE and its marker compounds have been evaluated for glucose uptake stimulatory and antiadipogenic activities in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells. Glucose uptake stimulation in both 3T3-L1 and L6 cells was performed by quantification of residual glucose in the media using glucose oxidase kit. Antiadipogenic activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes was performed by intracellular lipids quantification using oil red O dye. At the highest effective dose, RRE (20 μ g/mL) exhibited satisfactory glucose uptake stimulatory effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes that is nearly equal to RN (20 μ g/mL) and the positive control insulin (0.58 μ g/mL), but higher than RC (20 μ g/mL) and RD (20 μ g/mL) and metformin (219.5 μ g/mL), but higher than RD (2.5 μ g/mL) and RN (2.5 μ g/mL). Furthermore, RRE (20 μ g/mL) exhibited

potent antiadipogenic effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, which was equivalent to RC (20 μ g/mL) but higher than RD (20 μ g/mL) and RN (20 μ g/mL).

In animal experiments, RRE (24.11 mg/kg equivalent to 15 mg/kg RC content), RC (15 mg/kg) and the standard drug glibenclamide (600 µg/kg) were comparatively assessed for their hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic activity in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats for 28 days. RRE and RC significantly reduced the fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and food/water intake, while increased the insulin level and body weight in diabetic rats without affecting the normal rats. The serum lipid, liver and kidney biomarkers were markedly normalized by both RRE and RC in diabetic rats without affecting the normal rats. Moreover, the histopathology of pancreas revealed that RRE and RC evidently restored the islets of Langerhans in diabetic rats. The overall results indicated that RRE has significantly comparable antidiabetic potential to that of RC. Furthermore, the *in silico* pharmacokinetic and toxicity analysis predicts that RC is orally non-toxic, non-carcinogenic and non-mutagenic with a decent bioavailability. The undertaken study suggests that RRE could be used as an effective natural remedy in the treatment of diabetes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all, I am extremely gratified to Almighty "God" Who enabled me to fulfill the partial requirements for Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmaceutical Sciences degree successfully and bestowed upon me an opportunity to achieve one of my life's desires.

I would sincerely like to express my most profound thanks to my principal supervisor, **Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant**, for his dedicative continuous support, guidance, encouragement, expertise and invaluable advice throughout the study period. Grateful thanks are also extended to my co-supervisor **Assoc. Prof. Wantana Reanmongkol** for her support and suggestion in animal experiments.

In addition, I am grateful and thankful to Assoc. Prof. Zaheer Ul-Haq from ICCBS, University of Karachi Pakistan for his continuous support and help in computational study. I am also thankful to Asst. Prof. Decha Sermwittayawong and Assoc. Prof. Nisaudah Radenahmad from Faculty of Science, for the provision of opportunity to work in their labs.

I am thankful to Prince of Songkla University for providing Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award and Thesis Support Grant, for the financial support of this research.

Last but not least, I am indebted to my family members and friends especially, **Mr. Zia Ullah**, Provincial Drug Inspector, Dir Lower KPK Pakistan and **Asst. Prof. Dr. Pensri Srisawat**, Institute of Physical Education Suphanburi Thailand whose continued support, good wishes and sacrifices in the form of prayers, love and moral support being made it possible for me to achieve this goal.

Muhammad Ajmal Shah

CONTENTS

Page

List of Abbreviations and symbols	xiv
List of Publications	1
Acceptance letter of Paper I from the journal	2
Reprint of Paper II with permission from the publisher	3
Acceptance letter of Paper III from the journal	4
1. General Introduction	5
1.1 Background and rationale	5
1.2 Objectives	9
2. Significant results and general discussion	10
2.1. α -Glucosidase inhibition by RRE and its synergism with acarbose	10
2.2. Molecular docking studies on RC interaction with α -glucosidase	11
2.3. Antioxidant activity of RRE with in silico biopredictions	12
2.4. Antiglycation activity of RRE and interaction studies of rhinacanthins	13
2.5. Glucose uptake stimulatory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells	14
2.6. Adipogenic inhibitory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 adipocytes	15
2.7. Effect of RRE on different parameters in diabetic rats	16
2.8. Pharmacokinetic and toxicity properties of RC	18
3. Concluding remarks	20
4. References	22
5. Appendices	
Paper I	29
Paper II	55
Paper III	63
Paper IV	84
Paper V	103
Animal ethic certificate	129
6. Vitae	130

xiii

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

ADMET	Absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicity
AGEPs	Advanced glycation end products
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
CBD	Conservation Biodiversity
CV	Cyclic voltammetry
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
ErCi	Reversible electron transfer followed by an irreversible chemical
	reaction
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
g	Gram
Glb	Glibenclamide
GLUT2	Glucose transporter 2
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
GO	Glucose oxidase
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HS	Horse serum
HSA	Human serum albumin
IBMX	3-Isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IC ₅₀	50% Inhibitory concentration
Kao	Antioxidant activity coefficient
Kb	Binding constant

L	Liter
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
mg	Milligram
MD	Molecular docking
MOE	Molecular operating environment
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
NA	Nicotinamide
nM	Nanomolar
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PASSonline	Online prediction of activity spectra for substances
pNPG	Para nitrophenyl α-D-glucopyranoside
RC	Rhinacanthin-C
RD	Rhinacanthin-D
RMSD	Root mean square deviation
RMSF	Root mean square fluctuation
RN	Rhinacanthin-N
RRE	Rhinacanthins-rich extract
STZ	Streptozotocin
T2DM	Type-2 diabetes mellitus
TC	Total cholesterol
TG	Triglyceride
w/w	Weight by weight
WHO	World Health Organization
α-ΜΕΜ	α-Minimum essential medium
μg	Microgram
µg/mL	Microgram per milliliter
μL	Microliter
μΜ	Micromolar

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis contains introduction, significant results and discussion, and concluding remarks, and follows by two accepted (Paper I and III), one published (Paper II) paper as indicated by roman number, and two submitted manuscripts (Paper IV and V).

- Paper I Shah MA, Keach J, Panichayupakaranant P. Antidiabetic naphthoquinones and their plant resources in Thailand. Review.(Accepted in Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin)
- Paper II Shah MA, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichayupakaranant P. α-Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf and synergistic effect in combination with acarbose. Journal of Functional Foods, (2017) 36, 325-331

(Reprinted with permission of Elsevier)

Paper III Shah MA, Muhammad H, Mehmood Y, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichayupakaranant P. Superoxide scavenging and antiglycation activities of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaves.

(Accepted in Pharmacognosy Magazine)

Paper IV Shah MA, Jakkawanpitak C, Decha S, Panichayupakaranant P. Rhinacanthins-rich extract enhance glucose uptake and inhibit adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes.

(Submitted to Pharmacognosy Magazine)

Paper V Shah MA, Reanmongkol W, Radenahmad N, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P. Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats.

(Under process for submission to Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy)

PAPER I

Acceptance letter from Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin

pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th

to me

Ref.: Ms. No. MS17-00529 CPB-Current Topics(Review) Antidiabetic naphthoguinones and their plant resources in Thailand

Dear Dr. Panichayupakaranant,

I am pleased to tell the review for your manuscript is through and it is ready for publication in CPB-Current Topics(Review).

For publication details, an email will be sent to you from the editorial office in a short while.

Thank you for submitting your work to this journal.

With kind regards

Bulletins of the Pharmaceutical Society of Japan Editor Katsuyoshi Matsunami

Reviewers' comments:

PAPER II

Reprinted with permission of Elsevier

7/21/2017

RightsLink Printable License

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 21, 2017

This Agreement between Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4153451261586
License date	Jul 21, 2017
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of Functional Foods
Licensed Content Title	a-Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract from Rhinacanthus nasutus leaf and synergistic effect in combination with acarbose
Licensed Content Author	Muhammad Ajmal Shah,Ruqaiya Khalil,Zaheer Ul-Haq,Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant
Licensed Content Date	Sep 1, 2017
Licensed Content Volume	36
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	7
Start Page	325
End Page	331
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Antidiabetic activity of rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C
Expected completion date	Jul 2017
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah PPBEC, Prince of Songkla University
	Hat Yai, Songkhla 90112 Thailand Attn: Mr. Muhammad Ajmal Shah
Total	0.00 USD

PAPER III

Acceptance letter from Pharmacognosy Magazine

From:	"Pharmacognosy Magazine" <journals@phcog.net></journals@phcog.net>
Subject:	{Disarmed} [pm]:Article provisionally accepted.
Date:	Wed, June 21, 2017 5:00 pm
To:	pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th

pm_196_17

Superoxide Scavenging and Antiglycation Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract Obtained from the Leaves of Rhinacanthus nasutus

pm

Dear Dr. Panichayupakaranant,

We are pleased to inform that your manuscript "Superoxide Scavenging and Antiglycation Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract Obtained from the Leaves of Rhinacanthus nasutus" is provisionally accepted. You would receive an edited version of article in about 8-10 weeks based on the publishing process and schedules from now for a final check and correction.

The article will be published online and appear one of the future issues. Kindly login via www.journalonweb.com/pm to learn about likely data of publishing

date of publishing.

Thanks for your interest in publishing your research work at Phcog Mag.

Journal Office Editor, Pharmacogn Mag.

Phcog.Net <<u>http://www.phcog.net</u>> # 17, II Floor, Buddha Vihar Road, Cox Town, Bangalore 560 005, INDIA P : +91-80-65650760 E : journals@phcog.net

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and rationale

Blood glucose homeostasis is crucial to keep balance between glucose production and depletion in various body tissues. Numerous hormonal regulated metabolic pathways are involved in the maintenance of glucose homeostasis. Any abnormality in this homeostasis results in several fatal disorders including diabetes mellitus (Gupta et al. 2016).

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a multifarious chronic hyperglycemic disorder, characterized by altered metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins. DM can be classified into two main types i.e. type-1 (insulin-dependent) and type-2 (noninsulin-dependent) differ in their pathogenesis, but both have a common symptom of hyperglycemia. Type-1 DM is due to the loss of insulin-secreting beta cells whereas type-2 DM (T2DM) is caused by impaired insulin secretion combined with either a reduction of insulin activity or impairment of maintained activity (Perez et al. 1998). According to WHO, T2DM is a major type of diabetes comprising 90% of total diabetic cases globally. The international prevalence of DM increased from 4.7-8.5% during the last three decades, and the number of diabetic patients was estimated as 422 million in 2014 with 1.5 million deaths each year (World Health Organization, 2016). In 2015, more than 4 million cases of DM have been reported in Thailand, while diabetic prevalence was 8% among the individuals having age between 20-79 years old (International Diabetes Federation, 2016).

Excess body weight and physical inactivity are the main causes of T2DM (Olokoba et al. 2012). Hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia are prime characteristics in the progression of T2DM and chronic cardiovascular disorders (Ogden et al. 2006). Insulin resistance, the main cause of T2DM is linked with the release of free fatty acids and proinflammatory cytokines from adipose tissues in obesity or excessive adiposity, which stimulates beta cells for over secretion of insulin and reduces its receptors (Kahn et al. 2006). The global prevalence of obesity and overweight raised to almost double with the reported 600 million obese adults and 41 million obese children having high mortality than underweight (WHO, 2016).

Oxidative stress caused by an imbalance of free radicals is a common factor in the occurrence and progression of DM and its complications. The oxidative

mechanisms which intensify DM include triggering transcription factors, advanced glycation of protein and activation of protein kinase-C. Insulin resistance, a leading factor in the development and intensification of T2DM can be linked with the oxidative stress due to the impairment in enzymes action and high level of lipid peroxidation (Maritim et al. 2003). The overproduction of free radicals can be attenuated by intake of antioxidants (Asmat et al. 2016).

Chronic DM leads to serious complications including nephropathy, neuropathy, retinopathy and cardiovascular problems which ultimately increase the risk of diabetic mortality. Diabetic complications are instigated by 'macromolecule aging' phenomena involving non-enzymatic glycation reactions such as nucleophilic addition reactions between the amino groups of proteins and the carbonyl groups of reducing sugars in chronic hyperglycemic conditions (Xi et al. 2008; Abdallah et al. 2017) . Hyperglycemia and oxidative stress are the major factors in accelerating the formation of early glycation products that subsequently rearrange and dehydrate into more stable compounds known as advanced glycation end products (AGEPs) (Xi et al. 2008; Yamagishi et al. 2012). Formation of AGEPs act as positive feedback for oxidative stress that further damages cells and intensifies diabetic complications (Li et al. 2012). A number of compounds have been used to inhibit AGEPs formation such as aminoguanidine but toxicity and adverse effects limit use of these agents (Peng et al. 2008).

Clinically available oral antidiabetic drugs exert their therapeutic effect by various mechanisms including elevation of insulin secretion, glucose absorption and metabolism. α-Glucosidase is a key enzyme that converts disaccharides into simple absorbable monosaccharides within the gastrointestinal tract and α -glucosidase inhibition is therefore a prominent therapeutic strategy to control postprandial hyperglycemia in T2DM. The clinically available α -glucosidase inhibitors including acarbose, voglibose and miglitol are currently administered orally as monotherapeutics or in combination with other oral antidiabetic drugs. However, these compounds are high cost and are known to cause gastrointestinal side effects. In addition, long term use of the commercially available a-glucosidase inhibitors is also associated with cardiac hazards (Fisman et al. 2008). Moreover, both insulin and noninsulin therapy in T2DM promote weight gain probably via adipogenesis, the foremost cause of T2DM (Carver, 2006; Phung et al. 2010). The therapeutic molecule that can effectively control hyperglycemia with antiadipogenic potential would be an ideal antidiabetic agent. Therefore, adipogenic inhibition and glucose uptake stimulation in adipose and muscle tissue also present the prominent strategies to control obesity associated T2DM (Klein et al. 2007).

Plants are rich sources of various therapeutic molecules. More than 400 medicinal plants have been reported for their antidiabetic potential but their mechanisms of action are known for only 109 plants (Prabhakar et al. 2008). In addition, particular phytochemicals have been identified from plants having antidiabetic potential, i.e. alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids, polysaccharides and naphthoquinones. Various plant extracts and phytochemicals have been reported to offer potential as antidiabetic drugs, which function via α -glucosidase inhibition, antioxidant and anti-AGEPs mechanisms (Kumar et al. 2011; Chinchansure et al. 2015; Suantawee et al. 2016). Some of them are effective to combat obesity associated diabetes *via* glucose uptake stimulatory and adipogenic inhibitory potential (Yun, 2010; Arulselvan et al. 2014).

Regarding the natural biodiversity resources, Thailand is among one of the World's top countries that have rich natural biodiversity resources due to its unique geographical location. Thai traditional medicines obtained from natural resources especially medicinal plants play an important role in public health as well as the economy of the country. In 2013, the export value of Thai traditional medicines and herbs was 8.06 million US\$. Thai floras consist of almost 10, 250 plants, which are supposed to be 5% of the entire world (Convention on Biological Diversity Thailand, 2015). Many plants containing naphthoquinone compounds are found in Thailand and have been used as a single ingredient or in polyherbal formulations for the cure of various disorders including DM (Farnsworth and Bunyapraphatsara, 1992).

R. nasutus (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae), a medicinal plant native to Thailand, has been traditionally used in the cure of several disorders including DM (Brimson and Tencomnao, 2014). In China and Taiwan, *R. nasutus* has been consumed as an herbal drink (Huang et al. 2015; Li et al. 2017). *R. nasutus* leaf extracts with a broad pharmacological potential, have been reported for various biological activities including antioxidant, antiglycation and antiobesity (Thephinlap et al. 2013; Sompong and Adisakwattana, 2015; Sompong et al. 2016; Wannasiri et al. 2016).

Rao and Naidu (2010) extensively studied methanol extract (200 mg/kg) of *R. nasutus* leaf for various antidiabetic parameters in streptozotocin (STZ) induced diabetic rat model. The leaf extract markedly reduced the fasting sugar level, normalized the altered lipid profile and enhanced the level of antioxidant enzymes, i.e. superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase in diabetic rats (Rao and Naidu, 2010; Rao et al. 2011; Rao et al. 2012). It was further reported that methanol extract (200 mg/kg) is also effective to normalize the levels of mitochondrial (succinate dehydrogenase, glutamate dehydrogenase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) and liver (glucokinase, phosphofructokinase, and pyruvate kinase) enzymes, and glycogen level in diabetic rats (Rao et al. 2013a; Rao et al. 2013b).

The major phytoconstituents in *R. nasutus* leaf are 1,4-naphthoquinone esters, namely rhinacanthin-C (RC), rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN). These compounds are the marker naphthoquinones of *R. nasutus* leaf (Panichayupakaranant et al. 2009). RC is a reddish yellow oily 1,4-naphthoquinone found as a major naphthoquinone in leaves and roots of *R. nasutus*. Recently, RC (5 mg/kg/day and 20 mg/kg/day) has been reported for its hypoglycemic, hypolipidemic and pancreatic protective effects in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats (Adam et al. 2016). RC decreased blood glucose level and lipid profile as well as exerted pancreatic protective effect by reducing the level of inflammatory and apoptosis mediators i.e. TNF α , Ikk β and caspase-3 in diabetic rats. An enhanced insulin level was also observed due to higher glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) level in pancreas. It has been concluded that RC exerts its antidiabetic activity by different mechanisms, i.e. an increased glucose uptake in adipocytes, a pancreatic protection by enhanced antioxidative enzymes and suppressed cellular apoptotic mediators.

However, RC is not available commercially and its isolation involves a time-consuming, energy-intensive, multi-stage process that requires a large amount of

toxic organic solvents, ultimately increase its production costs. An alternative approach that presents the possibility of synergistic effect is to utilize rhinacanthinsrich extract (RRE), a semi purified *R. nasutus* leaf extract that features a total rhinacanthins content of not less than 70% w/w, with 60-70% w/w comprising RC as the major component (Panichayupakaranant et al. 2009). Previously, RRE prepared by conventional extraction methods has been reported for antimicrobial and antiinflammatory activity (Panichayupakaranant et al. 2009; Bhusal et al. 2014; Puttarak et al. 2010).

1.2. Objectives

In the present study, RRE was prepared using microwave assisted extraction followed by a simple step of fractionation with Amberlite[®] column. Moreover, only the green solvents, ethanol and water, were used in the extraction and fractionation processes. The marker compounds (RC, RD and RN) were isolated from RRE using a silica gel column chromatography. To investigate the antidiabetic activity of RRE and its marker compounds, we define the following objectives:

- 1. To investigate *in vitro* α -glucosidase inhibition of RRE, RC, RD and RN, to evaluate their synergistic potential with the standard antidiabetic drug acarbose and to explain the structure activity relationship of potent rhinacanthin using molecular docking studies.
- 2. To determine free radical scavenging and human albumin glycation inhibitory activity of RRE, RC, RD and RN, and to predict rhinacanthins interaction with albumin using *in silico* predictions.
- To determine the glucose uptake stimulatory and adipogenic inhibitory effects of RRE, RC, RD and RN in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes.
- To determine and compare the hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic properties of RRE and RC using nicotinamide-streptozotocin (NA-STZ) induced diabetic Wistar rats.

SIGNIFICANT RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.1. α-Glucosidase inhibition by RRE and its synergism with acarbose

The inhibitory effect of RRE and its marker compounds RC, RD and RN against α -glucosidase was assessed in order to assess their antidiabetic potential. Both RRE and RC exhibited satisfactory inhibitory activity against α -glucosidase with IC₅₀ values of 25.0 µg/mL and 22.6 µg/mL, that was much higher activity than acarbose (IC₅₀ value of 395 µg/mL) (**Paper II**). RRE and RC display almost equal α -glucosidase inhibitory activity that similar to previously been reported to possess almost equal antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activity (Panichayupakaranant et al. 2009; Bhusal et al. 2014; Puttarak et al. 2010). RD, a minor naphthoquinone ester of RRE, also showed good inhibitory activity, with an IC₅₀ value of 71.5 µg/mL, while RN was found to be inactive. This implies that an aromatic ring on substituted R group of rhinacanthins (**Paper I**) may reduce their α -glucosidase inhibitory effect by interference to the enzyme binding site.

To determine the mechanism of inhibition, RRE and RC were used in three different concentrations i.e. 12.5, 25 and 50 µg/mL as inhibitors in kinetic experiment to elucidate the type of inhibition. Possible interference by RRE and RC was examined at five different concentrations of para nitrophenyl α-Dglucopyranoside (pNPG) i.e. 0.16 to 2.65 mM. The absorbance was first plotted against time to obtain velocities of reactions and the velocities were subsequently plotted against the reciprocal of substrate concentration to construct Linearweaver-Burk plots. The Lineweaver–Burk plots for α -glucosidase inhibition by RRE and RC generated straight lines, which intersected at the same point on X-axis in the second quadrant, indicating noncompetitive inhibition (Paper II). Acarbose is a competitive α -glucosidase inhibitor (Ag, 1994), thus it was of interest to establish whether RRE and RC, as noncompetitive inhibitors, might interact synergistically with acarbose in inhibiting α -glucosidase. The experiment was performed at three different concentrations at ¹/₄IC₅₀, ¹/₂IC₅₀ and IC₅₀. It was found that lower concentrations of acarbose combined with RRE or RC at 1/4IC50 and 1/2IC50 resulted in significant inhibition compared with the individual compounds at the same concentration (Paper II) indicating synergistic inhibitory activity against α -glucosidase. These findings suggest that the combination of acarbose with RRE or RC having different inhibitory

mechanisms could inhibit α -glucosidase activity more effectively at low doses compared with the single compounds, resulting in a reduction of postprandial blood glucose in T2DM and avoiding adverse effects due to acarbose.

2.2. Molecular docking studies on RC interaction with α-glucosidase

The mechanism of α -glucosidase inhibition by RC was elucidated by molecular docking (MD) studies according to the protocol previously described study (Barakat et al. 2016). Molecular Operating Environment-dock was used to generate 100 conformations of RC. The resultant poses were clustered and the pose presenting the highest score for the largest cluster was selected for further analysis. The binding mode and interaction profile of RC with yeast α -glucosidase is represented in (**Paper II**). The molecular surface model of the protein suggested that the presence of basic residues around the naphthoquinone ring of the ligand complements binding of the relatively more electronegative part of the ligand. The tail of the ligand containing an aliphatic chain has folded to accommodate itself in the hydrophobic groove of the protein.

Ligand-protein interaction profiling confirmed the formation of various hydrogen and hydrophobic bonds between RC and α -glucosidase (Salentin et al. 2015). As depicted in **Paper II**, the core of RC has anchored to the protein via special bidentate interactions with LYS232 and LYS414. Another hydrogen bond has also been observed between the backbone N atom of SER157 and RC. The hydrophobic core that surrounds the tail of the ligand includes residues LYS143, PRO144, THR160 and PHE161. The observed affinity in molecular modeling studies between the ligand and enzyme that helps to explain the experimental findings of high inhibition of α -glucosidase activity by RC.

In order to investigate the stability of the proposed ligand-protein model, a short production run (10 ns) of all atom MD simulation was performed using AMBER14. MD simulation has emerged as a major technique in the array of tools to design bioactive molecule and investigate their mode of action. Apart from extraction of information regarding the distances and interactions between ligand and residues of interest, MD trajectories allow estimation of overall stability of complex. We have measured different characteristics of the system to measure the dynamic differences induced in system upon ligand binding. Root Mean Square Deviation (RMSD) is a measure of stability of complex, the lower the RMSD the higher the stability. The average RMSD values of the two systems; apo and complex, were 1.5 and 2.0 Å, respectively. The plot shows more fluctuation in complex as compared to apostructure, though the overall system remains unstable (**Paper II**). Further, to investigate the exact nature of this deviation, Root Mean Square Fluctuation (RMSF) was calculated (**Paper II**). We have observed higher fluctuations in case of α glucosidase-RC complex with notably higher deviations in case of residues LYS229, ASP278, and GLU548. Visual inspection of these residues annotated by secondary structure suggests that these residues are present in exposed loops which are highly dynamic in nature. The visual analysis of MD trajectories revealed that the ligand anchored the protein via hydrogen bonds during first 2 ns of the simulation. The ligand presented significant displacement and there is a difference of 2.46 Å in the coordinates before and after simulation. Moreover, it was observed that the contacts were later stabilized by hydrophobic interactions displayed by ligand.

2.3. Antioxidant activity of RRE with in silico biopredictions

The free radical scavenging ability of RRE and its marker compounds was assessed by adding increasing volumes of RRE (10 to 25 μ L), RC (12 to 40 μ L), RD (50 to 350 μ L) and RN (20 to 200 μ L) solutions to react with the electrochemically generated superoxide (**Paper III**). RRE exhibited the highest superoxide scavenging activity with IC₅₀ values of 8.0 μ g/mL. These results are significantly higher than the marker naphthoquinone esters, RC (IC₅₀ value 9.6 μ g/mL) RD (IC₅₀ value 91.4 μ g/mL) and RN (IC₅₀ value 45.1 μ g/mL) (**Paper III**). These *in vitro* findings support a previous *in vivo* study on enhanced antioxidative enzymes in liver and pancreas of diabetic rats by *R. nasutus* leaf methanol extract and RC (Rao et al., 2012; Adam et al., 2016).

Various kinetic parameters such as antioxidant activity coefficient (Kao), binding constant (Kb) and spontaneity of the interaction (ΔG) were studied for RRE, RC, RD and RN (**Paper III**). Based on the irreversible scavenging of superoxide and the values of kinetic parameters, RRE may be classed as a potent superoxide scavenger, operating *via* E_rC_i mechanism and probably involving a synergistic effect due to the combination of rhinacanthins (**Paper III**). PASSonline was used to predict the potential targets and pharmacological effect of the marker compounds of RRE based on structural information. The analysis presents the ratio of probability of being active (Pa) or inactive (Pi) with regards to a particular biological effect (Kadir et al. 2013). The antioxidant potential and selection of predicted biological activities for the marker compounds of RRE presented (**Paper III**), provides additional strong support for the superoxide scavenging activity of RRE.

2.4. Antiglycation activity of RRE and interaction studies of rhinacanthins

The fructose mediated HSA glycation inhibitory activity of RRE and its marker compounds was evaluated to explore their potential role in treating diabetic complications. Previous reports rationalized the anti-AGEPs activity of RRE, RC, RD and RN on the basis of their 1,4-naphthoquinone skeletal structure (Sompong and Adisakwattana, 2015; Jung et al. 2005). In the present study, both RRE and RC were found to exhibit significant glycation inhibitory activity with IC₅₀ values of 39.7 and 37.3 μ g/mL, respectively that were slightly higher than that of the positive control, rutin (41.5 µg/mL) (Paper III). RRE and RC showed nearly equal antiglycation activity, similar to previously reported anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activities (Bhusal et al. 2014; Puttarak et al. 2010). Furthermore, the antiglycation activity of RC supports the findings of a study by Adam et al. (2016) in which RC caused a reduction of glycated hemoglobin levels in diabetic rats. RD and RN, the minor naphthoquinone compounds of RRE also showed impressive antiglycation activity with IC₅₀ values of 50.4 and 89.5 µg/mL, respectively (**Paper III**). Diabetes and agerelated diseases including neurotoxic disorders are mainly caused by the unusual protein aggregation (Li et al. 2012). Thus, the potent anti-AGEPs activity of RRE, measured in this study recommends further evaluation of RRE as a therapeutic agent for treatment of a range of conditions of major clinical and global significance.

We applied molecular docking protocols to explore binding between human serum albumin (HSA), the major transport protein in the circulatory and lymphatic system (Nicholson et al. 2000) and RRE and its marker compounds (RC, RN and RD) and thereby help to explain their observed anti-glycation activity. The non-enzymatic glycation of lysine and arginine residues in HSA; in the case of diabetes, impairs the transport of several moieties leading to detrimental physiological effects (Iqbal et al. 2016). Masking of the lysine and arginine residues has therefore been proposed as an effective strategy to inhibit non-enzymatic glycation of HSA. There are two main sites in the HSA structure which offer opportunities for drug action; Sudlow's site I and site II. Docking simulations were performed using both sites to investigate ligand binding. Sudlow's site I was identified using the coordinates of warfarin from the PDB: 2BXD while, ibuprofen from PDB: 2BXG identified Sudlow's site II (Ghuman et al. 2005). The docking scores of each compound calculated for the Sudlow's site I and II of HSA are presented in **Paper III**.

The binding mode of RC, RD and RN in each site is presented in **Paper III**. The compounds establish polar contacts with surrounding arginine and lysine residues. In Sudlow's site I, RC forms hydrogen bonds with Lys195, and Arg222, RD binds to Lys199 and Arg257 and RN interacts with Lys195, Lys199, Arg218 and Arg222. The rhinacanthins are also involved in the formation of salt bridges. In the case of Sudlow's site II, RC, RD and RN were found to interact with Arg410 and Lys 414. The complexes are also stabilized by Van der Waal's forces between the ligands and other amino acid residues at Sudlow's site I, namely Tyr150, Leu238, and Leu260. Residues Ile388, Asn391 and Phe403 lining Sudlow's site II provided anchorage for the ligands *via* formation of hydrophobic and aromatic contacts. Interestingly, the binding pattern of RC, RD an RN in this analysis is consistent with docking studies of cinnamic acid reported earlier (Qais et al. 2016).

2.5. Glucose uptake stimulatory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells

Insulin resistance is the major cause of T2DM, the search of small molecules with insulin like glucose uptake stimulation potential is an effective approach in diabetic treatment. Based on the previous glucose uptake report of RC (Adam et al. 2016), RRE and its naphthoquinone constituents, RC, RD and RN were evaluated for their glucose uptake stimulation effect in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes using glucose oxidase method. The results showed that RRE and RN exhibited higher glucose uptake stimulation effect than RC and RD, and in a dose dependent manner (5, 10 and 20 μ g/mL). The activity at concentration of 20 μ g/mL was nearly equal to the positive control, insulin (0.58 μ g/mL) (**Paper IV**). The mechanism of glucose uptake enhancement by 1,4-naphthoquinones of RRE may be *via* an insulin independent tyrosine kinase pathway, which is previously reported for

shikonin, a 1,4-naphthoquinone of *Lithospermum erythrorhizon* (Kamei et al. 2002). This is a preliminary study (**Paper IV**); however it provides an interesting research insight to elucidate in depth and exact glucose enhancement mechanism of rhinacanthins in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Furthermore, the glucose uptake stimulation along with adipogenic inhibitory potential of RRE provides an interesting strategy to control obesity associated T2DM and other related complications.

Regarding the body mass, skeletal muscles are the major body part which utilizes 80% of blood glucose, presenting a prominent therapeutic target for diabetic treatment. Based on the previous reports on muscular glucose uptake stimulatory potential of 1,4 naphthoquinone (Oberg et al. 2011; Sunil 2012), RRE and its naphthoquinone compounds (RC, RD and RN) were determined for their glucose uptake enhancement potential in L6 myotubes. RRE possessed higher glucose uptake enhancing activity than RC, RD and RN in a dose dependent manner (0.63, 1.25 and 2.5 μ g/mL) (**Paper IV**). RRE at a dose of 2.5 μ g/mL showed nearly equal glucose uptake stimulating activity (>80%) to insulin (2.90 µg/mL) and almost 87-folds higher than that of metformin (219.5 μ g/mL). The strong glucose uptake stimulatory potential of RRE might be due to the possible synergism among the component rhinacanthins as previously reported in antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activities (Bhusal et al. 2014; Puttarak et al. 2010). These results provide a strong base for further detail mechanistic study of glucose uptake stimulation by rhinacanthins in L6 myotubes that could be insulin dependent via glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) or insulin independent calcium dependent pathway, as previously reported for other natural 1,4 naphthoquinones (Oberg et al. 2011; Sunil et al. 2012).

2.6. Adipogenic inhibitory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Adipogenesis or excess intracellular lipid accumulation is the main factor behind obesity and insulin resistance that leads to T2DM. Adipogenic inhibitory property is therefore an effective strategy to control these pathological disorders (Zeng et al. 2012). RRE and its naphthoquinone compounds (RC, RD and RN) showed potent and comparable dose dependent adipogenic inhibitory activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (**Paper IV**). At the highest effective dose (20 μ g/mL), the antiadipogenic activity of RRE (<20% intracellular lipids) was significantly equal to RC but higher than RD (20.5% intracellular lipids) and RN (39% intracellular lipids). The microscopic images of stained lipid droplets in various treated cells further confirmed the consistent dose dependent adipogenic inhibition by RRE and its marker compounds (Paper IV). The antiadipogenic potential of RRE correlated with the previous report of shikonin that inhibited adipogenesis via inhibiting FABP4 and LPL genes expression (Le et al. 2010). 1,4-Naphthoquinones exert their antiadipogenic activity by both upstream (SREBP1C) and downstream (PPAR γ and C/EBP α) regulations (Lee et al. 2010). Rhinacanthins should be therefore subjected to further study on antiadipogenic molecular mechanism. Apart from diabetes, obesity has been reported to be linked with atheromas, cardiovascular disorders and malignant tumors (Park et al. 2007). The epidemiological reports interlinked obesity with metabolic disorders which is further associated with the increased circulation of inflammatory adipocytokines such as leptin, interleukin-6 and tumor necrotic factor, which resulting in malignant growth enhancement (Hsing et al. 2007). Adipocytes are supposed to be responsible for the release of tumor enhancing adipocytokines (Percik et al. 2009). The antiadipogenic effect of rhinacanthins could protect against malignancy via reduction in tumor enhancing and inflammatory adipocytokines, which can be correlated with the previous anti-inflammatory activity of rhinacanthins (Bhusal et al. 2014).

2.7. Effect of RRE on different parameters in diabetic rats

In the present study (**Paper V**), oral administration of RRE (24.11 mg/kg equivalent to 15 mg/kg RC content), RC (15 mg/kg) and the standard drug glibenclamide (600 μ g/kg) were comparatively evaluated for their hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic activities in NA-STZ induced diabetic rats for 28 days. Diabetes was confirmed by hyperglycemia along with characteristic symptoms i.e. polydipsia (thirst), hyperphagia (appetite) and weight loss in NA-STZ induced diabetic rats. The initial water and food intake and body weight of nondiabetic and diabetic rats were comparable. After four weeks, a significant rise in water and food intake with reduction in body weight was observed in diabetic rats in comparison with the normal rats. Oral administration of RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and RC (15 mg/kg) significantly normalized the water and food intake, and body weight of diabetic rats without any significant effect on the normal rats (**Paper V**).

In the current study, NA along with STZ has been used for partial destruction of pancreas to develop T2DM model which was confirmed by higher fasting blood glucose (FBG) and lower serum insulin levels in the diabetic rats (Paper V). In normal control and nondiabetic rats receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE and 15 mg/kg of RC, the FBG and insulin levels were consistently normal throughout the 28 days (Paper V). Diabetic rats treated with RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) or the standard drug Glb (600 µg/kg) gradually decreased the hyperglycemia and markedly increased the serum insulin throughout the experimental period of 28 days (**Paper V**). Furthermore, it is evident from the histopathological images of pancreas (Paper V) that RRE markedly decreased beta cells destruction in diabetic rats. Pancreatic protective effect of RRE can be correlated to the previous study on its marker compound RC (Adam et al. 2016). During hyperglycemia, the excess sugar reacts with the protien resulting in glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) which is a laboratory marker of diabetes and the associated risk of diabetic complications due to the formation of advanced glycation products (Paper III). In the present study, the increased HbA1c level in diabetic rats was significantly reduced by RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and RC (15 mg/kg) comparatively with the standard drug Glb at a dose of 600 $\mu g/kg$ (**Paper V**). However, there was no significant effect on the HbA1c level of normal treated rats. The results can be correlated with our previous *in vitro* study on the antiglycation potential of RRE and RC (Paper III).

Insulin deficiency instigates the hormone sensitive lipase which stimulates fatty acid release from adipocytes (Al-Shamaony et al. 1994). The extra fatty acid enhances the production of phospholipids and cholesterol in hepatocytes. The elevated levels of phospholipids and cholesterol along with triglycerides in serum are the biomarkers of hyperlipidemia (Rajasekaran et al. 2006). In the present study, the serum levels of TC, TG, HDL and LDL were significantly normalized by RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and Glb (600 μ g/kg) (**Paper V**). However, there was no significant lipid profile alteration of normal rats treated with RRE and RC at same dose. The hypolipidemic results of RRE are consistent with previous report on hypolipidemic activity of crude methanol extract (Rao et al. 2010) and RC (Adam et al. 2016).

Liver is the insulin dependent organ for production of carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes essential for accumulation and consumption of glycogen. Low insulin level particularly in DM markedly reduced the expression of these enzymes and other important proteins (Hikino et al. 1989). Further, the insulin deficiency severely disturbs the carbohydrate and fat metabolism (Rao et al. 2013b). Aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) are the key enzymes which are known to be the liver function marker (Williams et al. 1988). It is indicated (**Paper V**) that diabetic rats have elevated level of AST and ALT which is significantly reduced by RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and Glb (600 μ g/kg). However, there is no effect of RRE and RC administration on liver markers of normal control rats (**Paper V**). These results show the hepatic safety of RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and RC (15 mg/kg).

DM is a metabolic disorder which affects all the vital organs including kidney, diabetic nephropathy is a one of the major diabetic complication. Oxidative stress, protien glycation and hyperlipidemia are the prominent diabetic factors which are responsible in the occurrence of diabetic nephropathy (El Barky et al. 2016). The serum BUN and creatinine levels are the important markers to evaluate the kidney function in nephropathic condition (Ronco et al. 2010). In the current study, the elevated level of BUN and creatinine were markedly reduced by RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and the standard drug Glb (600 μ g/kg) in diabetic rats (**Paper V**). However, there was no significant effect of RRE and RC administration on BUN and creatinine level of normal rats which indicate the renal safety of the selected dose of RRE and RC. The results can be correlated with previous *in vitro* reports on the antioxidant and antiglycation potential of RRE and RC (**Paper III**).

2.8. Pharmacokinetic and toxicity properties of RC

In order to identify the pharmacokinetic and toxicity properties of RC, various *in silico* calculations were performed. The RC complies well with the Lipinski's rule of drug-likeliness with a violation count value of 0 (**Paper V**). RC was found to be BBB+ (0.44) that suggesting that it can penetrate in the blood brain barrier which can be correlated with a recent report on the modulatory effect of RC through high-mobility group box 1 related pathway to attenuate brain apoptosis in the pathogenesis of subarachnoid hemorrhage (Chang et al. 2016). In this study (**Paper**

V), ADMET profile of RC is presented as established by using admetSAR, a free web based tool for evaluation of ADMET properties.

As mentioned in **Paper V**, RC can be absorbed by both human intestine and brain. It was also predicted to display Caco-2 monolayer permeability. The Caco-2 serves as *in vitro* model of human intestinal mucosa for prediction of the oral bioavailability of a drug (Fricker and Millar, 2002). The observation is consistent with the fact that the compound was found to comply with Lipinksii rules which define properties of orally available drugs (Leeson, 2012). Though, the drug was found to be both substrate and inhibitor of P-glycoprotein (**Paper V**), the probability of being an inhibitor is greater. The P-glycoprotein plays a significant role in drug absorption and deposition by actively transporting a drug from cell cytoplasm to the intestine, thus limiting the oral bioavailability of the drug (Fricker et al. 2002; Fromm, 2000). As an inhibitor of P-glycoprotein, RC may present good bioavailability and the drug concentration shall remain stable.

Human Ether-A-Go-Go-Related gene (hERG) has emerged as an important anti-target in the drug development. Therefore, the hERG inhibitory potential of a drug is assessed at the preclinical stages during pharmaceutical testing (Nogawa and Kawai 2014). The hERG inhibitory potential of the RC was evaluated using Pre-ADMET and admetSAR web servers. RC presented medium to low risk of being hERG inhibitor. The compounds having LD_{50} between 500-5000 mg/kg are included in category III of acute oral toxins. However, as suggested by the experimental results, RC was found to be effective at a dose of 15 mg/kg which suggest the therapeutic window of the drug dose is many folds lower than the lower LD_{50} .

Cytochrome P450 is a family of isozymes responsible for the biotransformation of several drugs (Ogu and Maxa 2000). This study (**Paper V**) shows the tendency of RC as CYP450 3A4 substrate. The presence of this isoform in liver and intestine pronounce these organs as sites of clearance of RC. Server Xenosite was used to identify the potential sites of metabolic-oxidation carried out by CYP450 3A4 (**Paper V**). The terminal methyl group seems to be most vulnerable to oxidation based degradation followed by the benzene ring.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

This thesis was focused to investigate the antidiabetic potential of RRE from *R. nasutus* leaves using a green extraction method in comparison to its marker compounds and standard antidiabetic drugs. For this purpose, various antidiabetic experimental models such as *in vitro* enzyme (α -glucosidase) inhibition and non-enzyme inhibition (antioxidant and antiglycation) assays, cell-based (glucose uptake and antiadipogenic) assays and *in vivo* study were used. Moreover, *in silico* studies were also performed to predict the structure activity relationship, pharmacokinetic and toxicity profiles. From the results of undertaken study the following conclusions can be drawn;

- 1. RRE containing RC at a level of 62.2% w/w was obtained from *R. nasutus* leaves using a green extraction method. RRE exhibited a non-competitive inhibitory effect against α -glucosidase. RRE displayed synergistic inhibition of α glucosidase in combination with acarbose, suggesting its clinical use to reduce the dose and adverse effects related to acarbose and may be considered as an alternative natural antidiabetic agent to control postprandial blood glucose levels. This is the first report on α -glucosidase inhibitory activity of *R. nasutus* leaf extract and its marker compounds.
- 2. RRE and its marker compounds showed potent superoxide scavenging and antiglycation effects. The docking studies determined the binding mode of rhinacanthins with respect to human serum albumin. Rhinacanthins exhibited antiglycation activity by masking different residues of albumin. This is the first report on antioxidant and antiglycation potential of RRE and its marker compounds. The potent superoxide scavenging and remarkable protein glycation inhibitory effects of RRE further rationalized its therapeutic application in various chronic diseases especially in the complications of diabetes.
- 3. RRE showed potent glucose uptake stimulatory and antiadipogenic effects in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. These results provide a strong base for further detail mechanistic study of glucose uptake stimulation by rhinacanthins in L6 myotubes that could be insulin dependent via GLUT4 or insulin independent calcium dependent pathway, as previously reported for other natural 1,4 naphthoquinones. RRE may be used as a potential candidate for antidiabetic and

antiobesity drug development. Further mechanistic *in vivo* antiobesity studies of RRE and safety assessment are recommended.

4. RRE showed significant hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects comparable to RC. In term of green processing, low production cost and remarkable antidiabetic potential, RRE is more suitable candidate for antidiabetic drug development.
REFERENCES

- Abdallah HM, El-Bassossy HM, Mohamed GA, El-Halawany AM, Alshali KZ, Banjar ZM (2017) Mangostanaxanthones III and IV: advanced glycation end-product inhibitors from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana*. J Nat Med 71:216-226.
- Adam SH, Giribabu N, Rao PV, Sayem ASM, Arya A, Panichayupakaranant P, Korla PK, Salleh N (2016) Rhinacanthin C ameliorates hyperglycaemia, hyperlipidemia and pancreatic destruction in streptozotocin–nicotinamide induced adult male diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol 771:173-190.
- Ag H (1994) Pharmacology of α-glucosidase inhibition. Eur J Clin Invest 24:3-10.
- Al-Shamaony L, Al-Khazraji SM, Twaij HAA (1994) Hypoglycemic effect of Artemisia herba alba. II. Effect of a valuable extract on some blood parameters in diabetic animals. J Ethnopharmacol 43:167–171.
- Arulselvan P, Ghofar HA, Karthivashan G, Halim MF, Ghafar MS, Fakurazi S (2014)Antidiabetic therapeutics from natural source: A systematic review.Biomedicine Prev Nutr 4:607-617.
- Asmat U, Abad K, Ismail K (2016) Diabetes mellitus and oxidative stress-a concise review. Saudi Pharm J 24:547-553.
- Barakat A, Islam MS, Al-Majid AM, Ghabbour HA, Yousuf S, Ashraf M, Shaikh NN, Choudhary MI, Khalil R, Ul-Haq Z (2016) Synthesis of pyrimidine-2, 4, 6trione derivatives: Anti-oxidant, anti-cancer, α-glucosidase, β-glucuronidase inhibition and their molecular docking studies. Bioorg Chem 68:72-79.
- Bhusal N, Panichayupakaranant P, Reanmongkol W (2014) In vivo analgesic and anti-inflammatory activities of a standardized *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in comparison with its major active constituent rhinacanthin-C. Songklanakarin J Sci Technol 36:326-331.
- Brimson JM, Tencomnao T (2014) Medicinal herbs and antioxidants: Potential of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* for disease treatment? Phytochem Rev 13:643-651.
- Carver C (2006) Insulin treatment and the problem of weight gain in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 32:910-917.
- Chang CZ, Wu SC, Kwan AL, Lin CL (2016) Rhinacanthin-C, a fat-soluble extract from Rhinacanthus nasutus, modulates high-mobility group box 1-related

neuro-inflammation and subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced brain apoptosis in a rat model. World Neurosurg 86:349-360.

- Chinchansure AA, Korwar AM, Kulkarni MJ, Joshi SP (2015) Recent development of plant products with anti-glycation activity. a review. RSC Adv 5:31113-31138.
- Convention on Biological Diversity. "Thailand national report on the implementation of the convention on biological diversity" Available from <u>https://www.cbd.int/countries/?country=th</u>. Accessed on 20 September, 2016.
- El Barky AR, Hussein SA, Alm-Eldeen AA, Hafez YA, Mohamed TM (2016) Antidiabetic activity of Holothuria thomasi saponin. Biomed Pharmacother 84:1472-1487.
- Farnsworth NR, Bunyapraphatsara N (1992) "Thai medicinal plants: recommended for primary health care system." Medicinal Plant Information Center, Prachachon Company, Bangkok.
- Fisman EZ, Michael M, Tenenbaum A (2008) Non-Insulin antidiabetic therapy in cardiac patients: Current problems and future prospects. In: Fisman, E.Z, A. Tenenbaum (Ed) Cardiovascular Diabetology: Clinical, Metabolic and Inflammatory Facets. Basel: S. Karger AG Publishing Advances Cardiology pp.154-170.
- Fricker G, Miller D (2002) Relevance of multidrug resistance proteins for intestinal drug absorption in vitro and in vivo. Basic. Clin. Pharmacol 90:5-13.
- Fromm M (2000) P-glycoprotein: a defense mechanism limiting oral bioavailability and CNS accumulation of drugs. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol 38:69-74.
- Ghuman J, Zunszain PA, Petitpas I, Bhattacharya AA, Otagiri M, Curry S (2005) Structural basis of the drug-binding specificity of human serum albumin. J Mol Biol 353:38-52.
- Gupta P, Bala M, Gupta S, Dua A, Dabur R, Injeti E, Mittal A (2016) Efficacy and risk profile of anti-diabetic therapies. Conventional vs traditional drugs—A mechanistic revisit to understand their mode of action. Pharmacol Res 113:636-674.

- Hikino H, Ishiyama M, Suzuki Y, Konno C (1989) Mechanisms of hypoglycemic activity of ganoderan B: a glycan of *Ganoderma lucidum* fruit bodies. Planta. Med 55:423-428.
- Hsing AW, Sakoda LC, Chua Jr S (2007) Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and prostate cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 86:843-857.
- Huang RT, Lu YF, Inbaraj BS, Chen BH (2015) Determination of phenolic acids and flavonoids in *Rhinacanthus nasutus* L. kurz by high-performance-liquidchromatography with photodiode-array detection and tandem mass spectrometry. J Func Foods 12:498-508.
- International Diabetes Federation. "Diabetes in Thailand" Available from http://www.idf.org/membership/wp/thailand. Accessed on 20 September, 2016.
- Iqbal S, Alam M, Naseem I (2016) Vitamin D prevents glycation of proteins: an *in vitro* study. FEBS Lett 590:2725-2736.
- Jung YS, Joe BY, Cho SJ, Konishi Y (2005) 2, 3-Dimethoxy-5-methyl-1, 4benzoquinones and 2-methyl-1, 4-naphthoquinones: glycation inhibitors with lipid peroxidation activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 15:1125-1129.
- Kadir FA, Kassim NM, Abdulla MA, Yehye WA (2013) PASS-predicted Vitex negundo activity: antioxidant and antiproliferative properties on human hepatoma cells-an *in vitro* study. BMC Complement Altern Med 13:1-13.
- Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM (2006) Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 444:840-846.
- Kamei R, Kitagawa Y, Kadokura M, Hattori F, Hazeki O, Ebina Y, Nishihara T, Oikawa S (2002) Shikonin stimulates glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes via an insulin-independent tyrosine kinase pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 292:642-651.
- Kumar S, Narwal S, Kumar V, Prakash O (2011) α-Glucosidase inhibitors from plants: A natural approach to treat diabetes. Phcog Rev 5:19-29.
- Klein G, Kim J, Himmeldirk K, Cao Y, Chen X (2007) Antidiabetes and anti-obesity activity of Lagerstroemia speciosa. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 4:401-407.

- Lee H, Kang R, Yoon Y (2010) Shikonin inhibits fat accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Phytother Res 24:344-351.
- Leeson P (2012) Drug discovery: Chemical beauty contest. Nature 481:455-456.
- Li DL, Zheng XL, Duan L, Deng SW, Ye W, Wang AH, Xing FW (2017) Ethnobotanical survey of herbal tea plants from the traditional markets in Chaoshan, China. J Ethnopharmacol 205:195-206.
- Li J, Liu D, Sun L, Lu Y, Zhang Z (2012) Advanced glycation end products and neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and perspective. J Neurol Sci 317:1-5.
- Maritim AC, Sanders A, Watkins J (2003) Diabetes, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: a review. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 1:24-38.
- Nicholson JP, Wolmarans MR, Park GR (2000) The role of albumin in critical illness. Br J Anaesth 85:599-610.
- Nogawa H, Kawai T (2014) hERG trafficking inhibition in drug-induced lethal cardiac arrhythmia. Eur J Pharmacol 741:336-339.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM (2006) Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. Jama 295:1549-1555.
- Ogu CC, Maxa JL (2000) Drug interactions due to cytochrome P450, Proceedings: Bayl Univ Med Cent 13:421-423.
- Olokoba AB, Obateru OA, Olokoba LB (2012) Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of current trends. Oman Med J 27:269-273.
- Öberg AI, Yassin K, Csikasz RI, Dehvari N, Shabalina IG, Hutchinson DS (2011) Shikonin increases glucose uptake in skeletal muscle cells and improves plasma glucose levels in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. PLoS One 6:1-10.
- Panichayupakaranant P, Charoonratana T, Sirikatitham A (2009) RP-HPLC analysis of rhinacanthins in *Rhinacanthus nasutus*: validation and application for the preparation of rhinacanthin high-yielding extract. J Chromatogr Sci 47:705-708.
- Park SM, Kyung LM, Won JK, Ae SS, Y KY, Ho YY, Yul HB (2007) Prediagnosis smoking, obesity, insulin resistance, and second primary cancer risk in male

cancer survivors: National Health Insurance Corporation Study. J Clin Oncol 25:4835-4843.

- Peng X, Zheng Z, Cheng KW, Shan F, Ren GX, Chen F, Wang M (2008) Inhibitory effect of mung bean extract and its constituents vitexin and isovitexin on the formation of advanced glycation endproducts. Food Chem 106:475-481.
- Percik R, Stumvoll M (2009) Obesity and cancer. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 117:563-566.
- Perez GRM, Zavala SMA, Perez GS, Perez GC (1998) Antidiabetic effect of compounds isolated from plants. Phytomedicine 5:55-75.
- Phung OJ, Scholle JM, Talwar M, Coleman CI (2010) Effect of noninsulin antidiabetic drugs added to metformin therapy on glycemic control, weight gain, and hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetes. Jama 303:1410-1418.
- Prabhakar PK, Doble MA (2008) target based therapeutic approach towards diabetes mellitus using medicinal plants. Curr Diabetes Rev 4:291-308.
- Puttarak P, Charoonratana T, Panichayupakaranant P (2010) Antimicrobial activity and stability of rhinacanthins-rich *Rhinacanthus nasutus* extract. Phytomedicine 17:323-327.
- Qais FA, Alam MM, Naseem I, Ahmad I (2016) Understanding the mechanism of non-enzymatic glycation inhibition by cinnamic acid: an *in vitro* interaction and molecular modelling study. RSC Adv 6:65322-65337.
- Rajasekaran S, Ravi K, Sivagnanam K, Subramanian S (2006) Beneficial effects of *Aloe vera* leaf gel extract on lipid profile status in rats with streptozotocin diabetes. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 33:232-237.
- Rao PV, Naidu MD (2010) Antidiabetic effect of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Libyan Agri Res Center J Int 1:310-312.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu, MD (2011) Hypolipidemic properties of *Rhinacanthus* nasutus in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. J Pharmacol Toxicol 6:589-595.
- Rao PV, Sujana P, Vijayakanth T, Naidu MD (2012) *Rhinacanthus nasutus*-its protective role in oxidative stress and antioxidant status in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Asian Pac J Trop Dis 2:327-330.

- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Dhananjaya NM, Gan SH (2013a) *Rhinacanthus nasutus* ameliorates cytosolic and mitochondrial enzyme levels in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 1-6.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Dhananjaya NM, Gan SH (2013b) *Rhinacanthus nasutus* improves the levels of liver carbohydrate, protein, glycogen, and liver markers in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 1-7.
- Ronco C, Grammaticopoulos S, Rosner M, De Cal M, Soni S, Lentini P, Piccinni P. Oliguria (2010) creatinine and other biomarkers of acute kidney injury. In Fluid Overload Karger Publishers 164:118-127.
- Salentin S, Schreiber S, Haupt VJ, Adasme MF, Schroeder M (2015) PLIP: Fully automated protein–ligand interaction profiler. Nucleic Acids Res 43:443-447.
- Sompong W, Adisakwattana S (2015) Inhibitory effect of herbal medicines and their trapping abilities against methylglyoxal-derived advanced glycation end-products. BMC Complement Altern Med 15:1-8.
- Sompong W, Muangngam N, Kongpatpharnich A, Manacharoenlarp C, Amorworasin C, Suantawee T, Thilavech T, Adisakwattana S (2016) The inhibitory activity of herbal medicines on the keys enzymes and steps related to carbohydrate and lipid digestion. BMC Complement Altern Med 16:1-9.
- Suantawee T, Cheng H, Adisakwattana S (2016) Protective effect of cyanidin against glucose-and methylglyoxal-induced protein glycation and oxidative DNA damage. Int J Bio Macromol 93:814-21.
- Sunil C, Duraipandiyan V, Agastian P, Ignacimuthu S (2012) Antidiabetic effect of plumbagin isolated from *Plumbago zeylanica* L. root and its effect on GLUT4 translocation in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Food Chem Toxicol 50:4356-4363.
- Thephinlap C, Pangjit K, Suttajit M, Srichairatanakool S (2013) Anti-oxidant properties and anti-hemolytic activity of *Psidium guajava*. *Pandanous odorus* and *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. J Med Plants Res 7:2001-2009.

- Wannasiri S, Piyabhan P, Naowaboot J (2016) *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf improves metabolic abnormalities in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 6:1-7.
- World Health Organization. "Obesity and overweight fact sheet, 2016" Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u>. Accessed on 8 June 2017.
- Williams ALB, Hoofnagle JH (1988) Ratio of serum aspartate to alanine aminotransferase in chronic hepatitis. Relationship to cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 95:734-739.
- Xi M, Hai C, Tang H, Chen M, Fang K, Liang X (2008) Antioxidant and antiglycation properties of total saponins extracted from traditional Chinese medicine used to treat diabetes mellitus. Phytother Res 22:228-37.
- Yamagishi SI, Maeda S, Matsui T, Ueda S, Fukami K, Okuda S (2012) Role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress in vascular complications in diabetes. BBA General Subjects 1820:663-671.
- Yun JW (2010) Possible anti-obesity therapeutics from nature-A review. Phytochemistry 71:1625-1641.
- Zeng XY, Zhou X, Xu J, Chan SM, Xue CL, Molero JC, Ye JM (2012) Screening for the efficacy on lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells is an effective tool for the identification of new anti-diabetic compounds. Biochem Pharmacol 84:830-837.

PAPER I

Review: Antidiabetic naphthoquinones and their plant resources in Thailand

Muhammad Ajmal Shah^a, James Keach^b, Pharkphoom Panichyupakaranant^{a, c,*}

^aDepartment of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

^bResearch and Horticulture Department, Gardens by the Bay, 018953, Singapore

^cPhytomedicine and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology Excellence Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

*Corresponding author. Pharkphoom Panichyupakaranant. Tel. /fax: +66 74 428220. E-mail address: pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th (P. Panichayupakaranant).

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus is the seventh leading cause of death globally. Ninety percent of the diabetic population suffers from type-2 diabetes, which still needs an effective, safe and economical oral hypoglycemic therapy. Plants are rich sources of various therapeutic molecules. More than 400 medicinal plants that contain interesting phytochemical diversity have been reported for their antidiabetic potential. Naphthoquinones are a group of phytochemicals which have a wide range of pharmacological potential, including antidiabetic activity. Naphthoquinones exert their antidiabetic effects through various mechanisms such as inhibition of α glucosidase and protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B, increased glucose uptake in myocytes and adipocytes via GLUT4 and GLUT2 translocations, enhanced PPARy ligand activity, and normalizing carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes in the liver. Moreover, naphthoquinones inhibit adipogenesis by both upstream and downstream regulation to control obesity, which is one of the important risk factors for diabetes. Naturally occurring naphthoquinones, as well as their plant sources, are therefore of interest for exploring their antidiabetic potential. The present review aims to overview the antidiabetic potential of naphthoquinones and their plant resources in Thailand.

Key words: hypoglycemic, medicinal plant, naphthoquinone, adipogenesis, obesity

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic hyperglycemic disease, characterized by altered metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins due to a defect of insulin secretion or body tissue resistance to insulin. Two forms of diabetes (type-1 and type-2) differ in their pathogenesis, but both have hyperglycemia as a common symptom.¹⁾ Type-1 DM is due to loss of the insulin-secreting beta cells whereas type-2 DM is due to impairment in insulin secretion combined with or without impairment of insulin action. In 2015, more than 4 million cases of DM have been reported in Thailand, while DM prevalence was 8% for people between the ages of 20 and 79 years old.²⁾ The only treatment for type-1 DM is insulin administration whereas type-2 DM can be treated with commercially available oral antidiabetic drugs. However, many problems are associated with the long-term use of the currently available hypoglycemic drugs, such as their cost and cardiac hazards. It is therefore a challenging task to search a molecule which is devoid of the undesirable adverse effects in existing drugs.³⁾

Plants are rich sources of various therapeutic molecules. More than 400 medicinal plants have been reported for their antidiabetic potential but the mechanisms of action are known for only 109 of these plants.⁴⁾ In addition, particular phytochemicals have been identified from plants having antidiabetic potential, i.e. alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids, polysaccharides, and naphthoquinones. Thailand is among one of the world's top countries in terms of natural biodiversity resources, due to its unique geographical location.⁵⁾ Thai traditional medicines are obtained from natural biological resources, especially medicinal plants, and play an important role in

public health as well as the economy of the country. In 2013, the export value of Thai traditional medicines and herbs was \$8.06 million USD. Thai flora consist of almost 10,250 described species, which makes up approximately 5% of the diversity in the entire world.⁵⁾ Many plants containing naphthoquinone compounds are found in Thailand and have been used both as single ingredient preparations or in polyherbal formulations for the treatment of various disorders including DM.⁶⁾ In this paper, the authors put emphasis on summarizing the antidiabetic potential of naphthoquinones in diabetes amelioration.

Naphthoquinones containing plants in Thailand

Naphthoquinones are biologically active naturally occurring compounds found in various plant families, including Avicenniaceae,⁷⁾ Acanthaceae,^{8,9,10,11)} Balsaminaceae, Bignoniaceae,^{12,13)} Boraginaceae,¹⁴⁾ Droseraceae,^{15,16)} Ebenaceae,^{17,18)} Juglandaceae,¹⁹⁾ Lythraceae, Nepenthaceae²⁰⁾ and Plumbagnaceae.^{21,22)} The common naphthoquinones found in these plant families are shown in Figures 1-6. They are biosynthesized via various biosynthetic pathways, such as the acetate and malonovate pathways for plumbagin and the shikimate pathway for lawsone.²³⁾ Known naphthoquinone-containing plants are summarized in Table 1. Some of these exhibited antidiabetic activity in previous studies. In addition, they have also been reported to possess other medicinal applications, such as antimicrobial,^{24,25)} antiviral,²⁶⁾ anticancer,²⁷⁾ anti-inflammatory,^{28,29)} antipyretic,²⁹⁾ 29) analgesic. antihemolytic,³¹⁾ immunomodulatory,³²⁾ antiallergic.³³⁾ antioxidant,³⁰⁾ neuroprotective,^{34,35)} antiglycation,³⁶⁾ and antiobesity³⁷⁾ activities (Table 2).

Table 1

Table 2

Antidiabetic potential of naphthoquinone containing plants in Thailand

Due to their unique phytochemical diversity, plants or natural medicines are considered to be more effective in treating chronic diseases, including DM. Rhinacanthus nasutus (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae), a medicinal plant native to Thailand, has been traditionally used in the cure of several disorders including DM.³⁰⁾ R. nasutus has been reported to express various biological activities, as shown in Table 2. Rao et al. (2010) extensively studied a methanol extract of R. nasutus leaf (200 mg/kg) for various antidiabetic parameters in a streptozotocin (STZ) induced diabetic rat model. The leaf extract markedly reduced the fasting sugar level and normalized the altered lipid profile and the level of antioxidant enzymes, i.e. superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase in diabetic rats.^{125,126)} The methanol extract (200 mg/kg) was also effective for normalizing the levels of mitochondrial (succinate dehydrogenase, glutamate dehydrogenase and glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase) and liver (glucokinase, phosphofructokinase, and pyruvate kinase) enzymes, as well as glycogen level in diabetic rats.^{127,128)} Moreover, the same dose of methanol extract significantly normalized the level of liver function markers and protein contents in the liver tissue of diabetic rats.¹²⁸⁾

The major phytoconstituents in *R. nasutus* are 1,4-naphthoquinone esters (Fig 1), namely rhinacanthin-C (**3**), rhinacanthin-D (**4**) and rhinacanthin-N (**12**). These compounds are the marker naphthoquinones in *R. nasutus* leaves.²⁴⁾ Rhinacanthin-C is a reddish-yellow, oily 1,4-naphthoquinone found as a major

naphthoquinone in leaves and roots of R. nasutus. Recently, rhinacanthin-C (5 mg/kg/day and 20 mg/kg/day) has been reported for its hypoglycemic, hypolipidemic, and pancreatic protective effects in STZ nicotinamide induced diabetic rats.¹²⁹⁾ Rhinacanthin-C normalized the blood glucose level and lipid profile as well as exerting a pancreatic protective effect by reducing the level of inflammatory and apoptosis mediators i.e. TNFa, Ikkβ, and caspase-3 in diabetic rats. An increased insulin level was also observed due to higher GLUT2 levels in the pancreas. It has been concluded that rhinacanthin-C exerts its antidiabetic activity by different mechanisms, i.e. an increased glucose uptake in adipocytes, pancreatic protection by enhanced antioxidative enzymes, and cellular apoptotic mediators. Currently, our group is working on the antidiabetic potential of a rhinacanthin-rich extract and its marker compounds, i.e. rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D and rhinacanthin-N.²⁴⁾ The rhinacanthins-rich extract exhibited α -glucosidase inhibitory activity (IC₅₀ value of 25.0 µg/mL) almost equivalent to that of purified rhinacanthin-C (IC₅₀ value of 22.6 μ g/mL) but stronger than that of the standard drug, acarbose (IC₅₀ value of 395.4 µg/mL). Furthermore, the rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C, being noncompetitive α -glucosidase inhibitors, showed synergistic activity with acarbose (competitive inhibitor).¹³⁰⁾ In an antiglycation assay, the rhinacanthins-rich extract (IC₅₀ value of 39.7 μ g/mL) and rhinacanthin-C (IC₅₀ value of 37.3 μ g/mL) showed a higher inhibitory effect than that of the positive control, rutin (IC50 value of 41.5 μ g/mL).¹³¹⁾ Furthermore, the rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C were also studied for their glucose uptake stimulatory effect in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells.¹³²⁾ The results indicated that the rhinacanthins-rich extract (20 µg/mL) and rhinacanthin-C (20 µg/mL) enhanced glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, which was comparable to

the standard drug treatment with insulin (0.58 μ g/mL).¹³²⁾ In contrast, rhinacanthinsrich extract (2.5 μ g/mL) and rhinacanthin-C (2.5 μ g/mL) exhibited stronger activity for enhanced glucose uptake in L6 myotubes than that induced by the standard drugs insulin (2.9 μ g/mL) and metformin (219.5 μ g/mL).¹³²⁾ Moreover, the rhinacanthinsrich extract and rhinacanthin-C were also evaluated for adipogenic inhibition in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.¹³²⁾ The results indicated that both the rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C at 5, 10 and 20 μ g/mL showed satisfactory dose dependent adipogenic inhibition.¹³²⁾

Kigelia africana (Lam.) Benth. (Family Bignoniaceae), a medicinal and ornamental tree native to Thailand and Africa, has been traditionally used in the treatment of several disorders, including DM.⁵⁵⁾ The phytochemical profile of *K. africana* contains over 145 phytochemicals, which have been purified from its various parts. One of the major chemical constituent groups of *K. africana* are naphthoquinones, which are shown in Figure 2. Due to its unique phytochemical diversity, *K. africana* has been reported to possess various biological activities (Table 2). A methanol extract (250 and 500 mg/kg) of *K. africana* flower has been reported as showing antidiabetic potential in STZ induced diabetic rats.¹³³⁾ During an experimental period of 21 days *K. africana* extract successfully normalized the glycemic level and lipid profile of the test subjects. In addition, *K. africana* leaf extract (100-400 mg/kg) has been tested for its antidiabetic potential in an alloxan induced diabetic rat model. The results indicated that the extract markedly reduced the blood glucose level in diabetic rats.¹³⁴⁾ In a separate study, extracts of *K. africana* and severe tested for a-amylase

inhibition;¹³⁵⁾ the ethanol extract (500 μ g/mL) showed the highest α -amylase inhibition.

Diospyros kaki L. (Ebenaceae), a popular, fruit-producing plant native to China, has traditionally been used for the treatment of various diseases in many regions of the world, including Thailand.⁶⁵⁾ Various biological activities have been reported for D. kaki, as shown in Table 2. Its phytochemical profile contains a number of naphthoquinones, which have been isolated from different parts of the plant (Fig. 3). Deng et al. (2011) investigated the antidiabetic activity of various extracts (ethanol, ethyl acetate, butanol and water) of D. kaki and found that the extracts markedly reduced hyperglycemia and increased insulin sensitivity index in STZ induced diabetic rats.¹³⁶⁾ Jung et al. (2012) studied the effect of 5% w/w D. kaki leaf powder in mice for a period of 35 days and found that the leaf powder normalized the blood sugar and lipid profile of the mice. The hypoglycemic effect was additionally related to reducing the level of gluconeogenesis enzymes and increasing the level of glycogen. It also decreased lipogenesis by decreasing peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPAR γ): inhibiting the gene expression and reducing the lipogenic enzymes activity. These experiments show that D. kaki leaf powder can successfully reduce the risk of obesity-associated type 2 DM.¹³⁷⁾

Plumbagnaceae is a diverse family of 24 genera and 775 species, many of which are naphthoquinone containing.²³⁾ *Plumbago zeylanica* L. and *Plumbago indica* L. are two well-known species found in Thailand. Naphthoquinones (Fig. 4) are the principal chemical constituents responsible for the pharmaceutical potential of *P. zeylanica* and *P. indica* (Table 1). Plumbago extracts and purified naphthoquinones

have been reported to exhibit various pharmacological activities (Table 2), including against DM. Published reports evaluating antidiabetic effects are available only for P. zeylanica. Olagunju et al. (1999) demonstrated the antidiabetic activity of an ethanol extract of *P. zeylanica* root (400 mg/kg) in STZ induced diabetic rats. This extract controlled the glycemia by reducing glycolytic enzyme levels (hexokinase, phosphofructokinase, pyruvate kinase and lactate dehydrogenase) and increasing the synthesis of muscular protein.¹³⁸⁾ Zarmouh et al. (2010) studied the effect of an ethanol extract of P. zeylanica root (100, 200 mg/kg) on hyperglycemia and liver enzyme levels in STZ induced diabetic rats.¹³⁹⁾ Their results indicated that the ethanol extract normalized the levels of liver enzymes (hexokinase, decreased hepatic glucose-6-phosphatase, serum acid phosphatase, alkaline phosphatase and lactate dehydrogenase) in diabetic rats.¹³⁹⁾ Furthermore, it was confirmed that the antidiabetic potential of extracts from P. zeylanica roots is due to their principal naphthoquinone i.e. plumbagin (26).¹⁴⁰⁾ The study supporting this was performed in STZ induced diabetic rats. Plumbagin (15 and 30 mg/kg) exerted antidiabetic effects by enhancing insulin secretion from β -cells. Along with alteration of other biochemical parameters, plumbagin significantly normalized the levels of carbohydrate metabolism enzymes i.e. glucose-6-phosphatase, fructose-1, 6-bisphosphatase, and hexokinase. The strong antidiabetic mechanism of plumbagin was explained by restoring the expression and translocations of GLUT4 in the skeletal muscle of plumbagin treated diabetic rats.¹⁴⁰⁾ Plumbagin (2 mg/kg) also markedly improved diabetic nephropathy in STZ induced diabetic mice by inhibiting the TGFβ1via Nox4 pathway.¹⁴¹⁾

Impatiens balsamina L. (Family Balsaminaceae) is a naphthoquinone containing plant native to Thailand. In Thai traditional medicine, *I. balsamina* is

commonly used as a topical remedy for wound healing, antimicrobial, and antiallergic purposes.⁶⁾ Naphthoquinones are the major identified medicinal constituents of *I. balsamina* (Table 1). *I. balsamina* extracts and isolated naphthoquinones (Fig. 5) have been reported to exhibit various pharmacological activities, as shown in Table 2. In terms of antidiabetic potential, there has been one report demonstrating α -amylase inhibitory activity. An ethanol extract (200-400 µg/mL) of *I. balsamina* seed was tested for *in vitro* α -amylase inhibitory activity. The extract showed moderate α -amylase inhibitory activity in comparison to the standard drug acarbose.¹⁴²⁾

Lawsonia inermis L. (Family Lythraceae), commonly known as henna, has tremendous pharmaceutical and cosmeceutical applications, which are associated with its historical folk uses in various traditions, including those in Thailand.¹⁴³⁾ L. inermis possesses multiple forms of biological activity (Table 2) due to the presence of a number of naphthoquinones (Table 1) (Fig. 5). In the context of antidiabetic potential, L. inermis leaf extracts have been studied extensively for different diabetic parameters. Neeli et al. (2007) and Syamsudin et al. (2008) evaluated a methanol extract of L. inermis leaves in diabetic rats (200 mg/kg) and mice (800 mg/kg), respectively. The results of both experiments showed that the extracts markedly decreased blood sugar levels and normalized the lipid profile in the diabetic animals.^{144,145} Another *in vivo* experiment was performed by Chauhan et al. (2011) in alloxan induced diabetic rats to study the effect of a methanol leaf extract (600 mg/kg) of L. inermis.¹⁴⁶⁾ The results demonstrated that the methanol extract markedly normalized blood sugar levels and the lipid profile in diabetic rats. Furthermore, an in vitro a-amylase inhibition study indicated that a methanol extract of L. inermis had equivalent inhibitory activity to a standard drug, acarbose.¹⁴⁷⁾

Antidiabetic mechanisms of naphthoquinones

DM is a multifactorial chronic disease which needs multidimensional therapeutic strategies. Therefore a molecule which can act on more than one mechanism is considered to be an ideal candidate when being considered in antidiabetic drug development. Naphthoquinone containing extracts and purified naphthoquinones exert their antidiabetic activity through several mechanisms of action, as summarized in Figure 7. Rhinacanthin-C expresses antidiabetic activity by inhibition of intestinal a-glucosidase, stimulating glucose uptake in muscles and adipocytes, probably via GLUT4 translocation.^{130,132)} TNFa, Ikk β , and caspase-3 reduction in the pancreas of diabetic rats interlink anti-inflammatory activity to antidiabetic potential, while antioxidant and GLUT2 enhancement in the pancreas sensitize insulin secretion to control glycemia.¹²⁹⁾ Plumbagin exerts an antidiabetic effect via GLUT4 translocation and normalizing serum and hepatic carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes.¹⁴¹⁾ Shikonin (47) is a naturally occurring 1,4-naphthoquinone which contributes to the purple color of *Lithospermum erythrorhizon* Siebold & Zucc. (Family Boraginaceae), a native plant of China. This compound is a potent antidiabetic molecule which has been investigated by different researchers for a range of antidiabetic mechanisms. Kamei et al. (2002) studied the glucose uptake enhancing effects of shikonin in adipocytes and cardiomyocytes. Their results indicated that shikonin (60 µM) significantly stimulated glucose uptake in adipocytes and cardiomyocytes through a tyrosine kinase-dependent pathway by inducing Thr-308 and Ser-473 phosphorylation of Akt.¹⁴⁸⁾ Oberg et al. (2011) studied the glucose uptake stimulation potential of shikonin in L6 myotubes and also its hypoglycemic activity in diabetic rats. Shikonin (1 µM) enhanced glucose uptake in L6 myotubes via calcium influx and a GLUT4 translocation mechanism. Furthermore, in the same study shikonin (10 mg/kg intraperitoneally for 4 days) markedly normalized blood sugar level in diabetic rats.¹⁴⁹⁾ Another interesting antidiabetic mechanism reported for shikonin is its insulin-like action through inhibition of the phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (Pt-3,4,5-P3) phosphatase pathway, which involved deletion of a tensin homolog on chromosome 10. It also caused accumulation of Pt-3, 4, and 5-P3, activation of protein kinase B, and inhibited several protein phosphatases in different cell systems.¹⁵⁰⁾

Hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia are prime identifying characteristics in the progression of type-2 DM and chronic cardiovascular disorders.¹³²⁾ Insulin resistance, the main cause of type-2 DM, is linked with the release of free fatty acids and proinflammatory cytokines from adipose tissues in subjects with obesity or excessive adiposity, which stimulates beta cells to over-secrete insulin and reduce its receptors.¹³²⁾ Rhinacanthin-C was recently reported to inhibit adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.¹³²⁾ Shikonin (IC₅₀ value of 1.1 mM) has been documented as having an anti-obesity effect in 3T3-L1 by inhibiting accumulation of triglycerides *via* inhibition of the FABP4 and LPL genes expression, both of which are involved in lipid metabolism. It has also been reported that shikonin inhibits adipogenesis by both up-(SREBP1C) and downstream regulation (PPAR γ and C/EBP α).¹⁵¹⁾

Various synthetic naphthoquinones have also been reported upon due to their antidiabetic potential. For example, 5,8-diacetyloxy-2,3-dichloro-1,4naphthoquinone (**48**) was obtained through a screening of numerous chemical libraries, consisting of almost 4500 natural and synthetic molecules.¹⁵²⁾ This compound (10 μ M) was found to be a potent insulin receptor activator and glucose uptake enhancer in adipocytes. It has a strong affinity to bind with a receptor kinase and trigger its activity by Akt and ERK phosphorylations.¹⁵²⁾ The hypoglycemic mechanisms were further validated through an *in vivo* experiment in the same study.

Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B) is an important enzyme in insulin signaling and resistance, which relates to type-2 diabetes. 1,2-Naphthoquinone (IC₅₀ of 1.64 mM) was identified in the course of a high throughput screening, and a group of 1,2-naphthoquinone (**49**) derivatives were synthesized from 1,2-naphthoquinone, and were found to be potential inhibitors of PTPB1 at very low concentrations.¹⁵³⁾ Later derivatization of the molecule showed that molecules having phenyl or indole functional groups were more potent as compared to those having nitrogen or oxygen functional groups.¹⁵³⁾

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) ligand activity also provides an interesting target for metabolic disorders such as diabetes, obesity, inflammatory diseases, and cancer. Recently, a series of compounds with 2hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone (**50**) as an acidic group were predicted to express PPAR γ ligand activity; a hypothesis which was later validated experimentally.¹⁵⁴ Furthermore, it was concluded that the hydrogen bonding of the compound with the receptor is important for its activation.¹⁵⁴

Future prospects

The current literature review has summarized that most naphthoquinonecontaining plant extracts have been reported to exhibit antidiabetic effects. However, many plants with these compounds need to be explored further. In this context, there are some reports on antidiabetic activity from two plant species in the family *Nepenthaceae*, i.e. *Nepenthes bicalcarata* and *N. khasiana*, which are not available in Thailand. Thai native species of *Nepenthes*, including, *N. ampullaria*, *N. gracilis*, *N. mirabilis*, *N. smilessi*, and *N. thorelii*, currently lack investigation into their potential antidiabetic activity. There is therefore a need to determine the possible naphthoquinone-based antidiabetic and antiobesity activity of these species. Previously isolated naphthoquinones, such as the major naphthoquinones from *I. balsamina* and *L. inermis*, would also be good targets to evaluate for their mechanism of antidiabetic action. In conclusion, naphthoquinones are ideal candidates for antidiabetic drug development due to their diverse therapeutic potential and multimechanism antidiabetic activity.

References

- Perez G. R., Zavala S. M., Perez G. S., Perez G. C., *Phytomedicine* 5, 55-75 (1998).
- International Diabetes Federation. "Diabetes in Thailand" http://www.idf.org/membership/wp/thailand. Accessed on 20 September, 2016.
- Hung H.Y., Qian K., Morris-Natschke S. L., Hsu C. S., Lee K. H., *Nat. Prod. Rep.*, 29, 580-606 (2012).
- 4) Prabhakar P. K., Doble M., Curr. Diab. Rev., 4(4), 291-308 (2008).
- 5) Convention on Biological Diversity. "Thailand national report on the implementation of the convention on biological diversity" <<u>https://www.cbd.int/countries/?country=th</u>> cited 20 September, 2016.
- Farnsworth N. R., Bunyapraphatsara N., "Thai medicinal plants: recommended for primary health care system." Medicinal Plant Information Center, Prachachon Company, Bangkok, (1992).

- Itoigawa M., Ito C., Tan H. T. W., Okuda M., Tokuda H., Nishino N., Furukawa H., *Canc. Lett.*, **174**, 135-39 (2001).
- Wu T. S., Hsu H. C., Wu P. L., Leu Y. L., Chan Y. Y., Chern C. Y., Yeh M. Y., Tien H. J., *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 46, 413-418 (1998a).
- Wu T. S., Hsu H. C., Wu P. L., Teng C. M., Wu Y. C., *Phytochemistry* 49, 2001-2003 (1998b).
- 10) Wu T. S., Tien H. J., Yeh M. Y., Lee K. H., *Phytochemistry* **27**, 3787-3788 (1988).
- 11) Wu T. S., Yang C. C., Wu P. L., Liu L. K., *Phytochemistry* **40**, 1247-1249 (1995).
- 12) Itokawa H., Matsumoto K., Morita H., *Phytochemistry* **31**, 1061-62 (1992).
- De Moura K. C. G., Emery F.S., Neves-Pinto C., DoCarmo M., Pinto F.R., Dantas A.P., Salomao K., DeCastro S. L., Pinto A. V., *J. Braz. Chem. Soc.*, 12, 325-38 (2001).
- 14) Brigham L. A., Michaels P. J., Flores H. E., *Plant. Physiol.*, **119**, 417-28 (1999).
- 15) Zenk M. H., Furbringer M., Steglich W., *Phytochemistry* **8**, 2199-220 (1969).
- 16) Culham A., Gornall R. J., Biochem. Syst. Ecol., 22, 507-15(1994).
- 17) Zhong S. M., Waterman P. G., Jeffreys J. A. D., *Phytochemistry* 23, 1067-72 (1984).
- 18) Zakaria M. B., Jeffreys J. A. D., Waterman P. G., Zhong S. M., *Phytochemistry* 23, 1481-84 (1984).
- Binder R. G., Benson M. E., Flath R. A., *Phytochemistry* 28, 2799-801 (1989).
- Likhitwitayaawud K., Kaewamatawong R., Ruandgungsi N., Krungkrai J., Planta. Med., 64, 237-41 (1998).
- 21) Dinda B., Das S. K., Hajra A. K., Indian J. Chem. B., 34, 525-28 (1995).
- 22) Dinda B., Das S. K., Hajra A. K., Indian J. Chem. B., 37, 672-75 (1998).
- 23) Babula P., Adam V., Havel L., Kizek R., Curr. Pharma. Ana., 5, 47-68 (2009).
- Panichayupakaranant P., Charoonratana T., Sirikatitham A., J. Chromatogr. Sci., 47, 705-708 (2009).

- Puttarak P., Charoonratana T., Panichayupakaranant P., *Phytomedicine* 17, 323-327 (2010).
- Sendl A., Chen J. L., Jolad S. D., Stoddart C., Rozhon E., Kernan M., Kernan M., Nanakorn W., Balick M., *J. Nat. Prod.*, **59**, 808-811(1996).
- Siripong P., Kanokmedakul K., Piyaviriyagul S., Yahuafai J., Chanpai R., Ruchirawat S., Oku N., *J. Trad. Med.*, 23, 166-172 (2006).
- 28) Tewtrakul S., Tansakul P., Panichayupakaranant P., *Phytomedicine* 16, 581-585 (2009a).
- Bhusal N., Panichayupakaranant P., Reanmongkol W., Songklanakarin J. Sci. Technol., 36, 326-331(2014).
- 30) Brimson J. M., Tencomnao T., Phytochem. Rev., 13, 643-651(2014).
- Thephinlap C., Pangjit K., Suttajit M., Srichairatanakool S., J. Med. Plants. Res., 7, 1849-1857 (2013).
- Punturee K., Wild C. P., Kasinrerk W., Vinitketkumnuen U., Asian Pac. J. Canc. Prev., 6, 396-400 (2005).
- 33) Tewtrakul S., Tansakul P., Panichayupakaranant P., *Phytomedicine* 16, 929-934 (2009b).
- 34) Brimson J. M., Brimson S. J., Brimson C. A., Rakkhitawatthana V., Tencomnao T. Int. J. Mol. Sc., 13, 5074-5097 (2012).
- 35) Brimson J. M., Tencomnao T., *Molecules* 16, 6322-6338 (2011).
- 36) Sompong W., Adisakwattana S., *BMC. Complement. Altern. Med.*, **15**, 1-8 (2015).
- Wannasiri S., Piyabhan P., Naowaboot J., Asian. Pac. J. Trop. Biomed., 6, 1-7 (2016).
- 38) Sendl A., Chen J. L., Jolad S. D., Stoddart C., Rozhon E., Kernan M., J. Nat. Prod., 59, 808-811 (1996).
- Govindachari T. R., Patankar S. J., Viswanathan N., *Phytochemistry* 10, 1603-1606 (1971).
- 40) Inoue K., Inouye H., Chen C. C., *Phytochemistry* **20**, 2271-2276 (1981).
- 41) Joshi K., Singh P., Taneja S., *Indian. Chem. Soc.*, **58**, 825-826 (1981).
- 42) Joshi K., Singh P., Taneja S., Cox P., Allan H. R., Thomson R., *Tetrahedron.*,
 38, 2703-2708 (1982).

- 43) Arkhipov A., Sirdaarta J., Matthews B., Cock I. E., Ighere D. A., *Pharmacogn. Commun.*, 4, 1-10 (2014).
- Higgins C., Bell T., Delbederi Z., Feutren-Burton S., McClean B., O'Dowd C., Watters W., Armstrong P., Waugh D., Van den Berg H., *Planta Med.*, 76, 1840-1846 (2010).
- 45) Moideen S. V., Houghton P. J., Rock P., Croft S. L., Aboagye-Nyame F., *Planta. Med.*, **65**, 536-540 (1999).
- 46) Lee C. H., Lee H. S., J. Microbiol. Biotechn., 18, 314-321 (2008).
- 47) Teuzeka M., Kuroyanagi M., Yoshihira K., Natori S., *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 20, 2029-2035 (1972).
- 48) Van-der V. L. M., *Phytochemistry* **11**, 3247-3248 (1974).
- 49) Dinda B., Chel G., *Phytochemistry* **31**, 3652-3653 (1992).
- 50) Siddhu G. S., Sankarram, A. V. B., Tetrahedron. Lett., 26, 2385-2388 (1971).
- Tezuka M., Takahashi C., Kuroyanagi M., Satake M., Yoshihira K., Natori S., *Phytochemistry.*, 12, 175-183 (1973).
- 52) Gupta A., Gupta A., Singh J., Pharm. Bio., 37, 321-323 (1999).
- 53) Panjchayupakaranant P., Noguchi H., De-Eknamkul W., Sankawa U., *Phytochemistry* **40**, 1141-1143 (1995).
- 54) Semwal R. B., Semwal D. K., Combrinck S., Cartwright-Jones C., Viljoen A., *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, 155, 80-103 (2014).
- 55) Bello I., Shehu M. W., Musa M., Asmawi M. Z., Mahmud R., J. *Ethnopharmacol.*, **2**, 189:253-276 (2016).
- 56) Khan M. F., Dixit P., Jaiswal N., Tamrakar A. K., Srivastava A. K., Maurya R., *Fitoterapia* 83, 125-129 (2012).
- 57) Dhriti V., Chowdary P. V., Rahul J., Vishank G., Shivaji B. B., *World. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci.* **3**, 1249-126 (2014).
- 58) Hassan S. W., Mshelia P. Y., Abubakar M. G., Adamu Y. A., Yakubu A. S., Basic. Appl. Res., 19, 251-268 (2015).
- 59) Chinsembu K., Hijarunguru A., Mbangu A., South. Afr. J. Bot., 100, 33-42 (2015).
- 60) Oketch-Rabah H. A., Dossaji S. F., Mberu E. K., *Pharm. Biol.* **37**, 329-334 (1999).

- 61) Shama I. Y., Marwa I. A., Asian. Pac. J. Trop. Med. 5, 26-32 (2013).
- Fredrick A. C., Ebele O. P., ObiChioma B., Utoh–Nedosa U. A., J. Pharm. Biomed. Sci., 4, 588-595 (2014).
- 63) Hemamalini K., Suvidha S., Bhargav A., Vasireddy U., *Int. J. Curr. Pharm. Res.*, 4, 61-66 (2012).
- 64) So O. T., Uzochukwu D. C., Asian. J. Pharm. Clin. Res., 3, 11-14 (2010).
- 65) Xie C., Xie Z., Xu X., Yang D., J. Ethnopharmacol., 163, 229-240 (2015).
- 66) Butt M. S., Sultan M. T., Aziz M., Naz A., Ahmed W., Kumar N., Imran M., EXCLI. J., 14, 542-561 (2015).
- 67) Yaqub S., Farooq U., Shafi A., Akram K., Murtaza M. A., Kausar T., Siddique F., J. Chemistry., 2016, 1-13 (2016).
- 68) Vijver L. M., *Planta Med.*, **20**, 8-13 (1971).
- 69) Aditi G., Anjali G., Singh J., Pharm. Biol., 37, 321-323 (1999).
- 70) Vishnukanta R. A., Rana A. C., Asian J. Pharm. Clin. Res., 3, 76-78 (2010).
- Kofi A., Dickson R., Mensah A., Fleischer T. C., *Pharmacog. J.*, 1, 190-194 (2009).
- Poosarla A., Kumar B. V., Rao T. R., Rao D. N., Athota R. R., *Pharm. Bio.*, 45, 54-59 (2007).
- 73) Mehmood Z., Ahmad I., Mohammad F., Ahmad S., *Pharm. Bio.*, **37**, 237-242 (1999).
- 74) Lubaina A. S., Nair G. M., Murugan K., J. Res. Bio., 6, 424-428 (2011).
- Dai Y., Hou L. F., Chan Y. P., Cheng L., But P. P. H., *Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, 27, 429-432 (2004).
- 76) Abdul K. M., Ramchender R. P., *Immunopharmacol.*, **30**, 231-236 (1995).
- Jeyachandran R., Mahesh A., Cindrella L., Sudhakar S., Pazhanichamy K., Acta. Biologia. Cracoviensa. Series. Botanica., 51, 17-22 (2009).
- 78) Devarshi P., Patil S., Kanase A., *Indian J. Exp. Biol.*, **29**, 521-522 (1991).
- 79) Edwin S., Joshi S. B., Jain D. C., *Eur. J. Contracept. Reprod. Health. Care.*, 4, 233-239 (2009).
- 80) Bhargava S. K., Indian. J. Exp. Biol., 22, 153-156 (1984).
- Gebre-Mariam T., Neubert R., Schmidt P. C., Wutzler P., Schmidtke M., J. *Ethnopharmacol.*, **104**, 182-187 (2006).

- 82) Alpana R., Indian J. Pharmacol., 28, 161-166 (1996).
- Simonsen H. T., Nordskjold J. B., Smitt U. W., Nyman U., Palpu P., Joshi P.,
 Varughese G., J. Ethnopharmacol., 74, 195-200 (2001).
- 84) Tilak J.C., Adhikari S., Devasagayam T. P., *Redox. Rep.*, 9, 219-227 (2004).
- 85) Nile S. H., Khobragade C. N., J. Nat. Prod., 5, 130-133 (2010).
- Kundu S., Dubey S., Vedamurthy A. B., World J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci., 2, 5363-5376 (2013).
- 87) Ishiguro K., Oku H., Phytother. Res., 11, 343-347 (1997).
- Fukumoto H., Yamaki M., Isoi K., Ishiguro K., *Phytother. Res.*, 10, 202-206 (1996).
- Su B. L., Zeng R., Chen J. Y., Chen C. Y., Guo J. H., Huang, C. G., J. Food.
 Sci., 77, C614-C619 (2012).
- 90) Sakunphueak A., Panichayupakaranant, P., *Nat. Prod. Res.*, **26**, 1119-1124 (2012).
- 91) Wang Y.C., Lin Y.H., Fitoterapia 83, 1336-1344 (2012).
- 92) Choubey A., Ojha M., Mishra A., Mishra S., Patil U. K., Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Rev. Res., 1, 74-77 (2010).
- 93) Singh S., Verma N., Karwasra R., Kalra P., Kumar R., Gupta Y. K., *Ayu.*, 36, 107 (2015).
- Dasgupta T., Rao A. R., Yadava P. K., Mol. Cellul. Biochem., 245, 11-22 (2003).
- 95) Endrini S., Rahmat A., Ismail P., Taufiq-Yap Y. H., J. Med. Sci., 7, 1098-1102 (2007).
- 96) Prakash D., Suri S., Upadhyay G., Singh B. N., Int. J. Food. Sci. Nutr., 58, 18-28 (2007).
- 97) Omar M. A., J. Med. Sci., 5, 163-168 (2005).
- 98) Mikhaeil B. R., Badria F. A., Maatooq G. T., Amer M. M. A., J. Bioscience.,
 59, 468-476 (2004).
- 99) Dikshit V., Dikshit J., Saraf M., Thakur V., Sainis K., *Phytomedicine* 7, 102-103 (2000).
- 100) Ahmed S., Rahman A., Alam A., Saleem M., Athar M., Sultana S., J. Ethnopharmacol., 69, 157-164 (2000).

- 101) Anand K. K., Singh B., Chand D., Chandan B. K., *Planta Med.*, **58**, 22-25 (1992).
- 102) Bhandarkar M., Khan A., Indian. J. Exp. Biol., 41, 85-87 (2003).
- 103) Hemalatha K., Natraj H. N., Kiran A. S., *Indian. J. Nat. Prod.*, **20**, 14-17 (2004).
- 104) Latha P. G., Suja S. R., Shyamal S., Rajasekharan S., *Nat. Prod. Rad.*, 4, 278-279 (2005).
- 105) Chaudhary G., Goyal S., Poonia P., Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Drug. Res., 2, 91-98 (2010).
- 106) Wurochekke A. U., Chechet G., Nok A. J., J. Med. Sci., 4, 236-239 (2004).
- 107) Okpekon T., Yolou S., Gleye C., Roblot F., Loiseau P., Bories C., Grelllier P., Frappier F., Laurens A., Hocquemiller R., *J. Ethanopharmacol.*, **90**, 91-97 (2004).
- 108) Singh A., Singh D. K., Indian. J. Exp. Biol., 39, 263-268 (2001).
- 109) Natarajan V., Mahendraraja S., Menon T., Biomed., 20, 243-245 (2000).
- 110) Munshi S. R., Shetye T. A., Nair R. K., Planta Med., 31, 73-75 (1977).
- 111) Mohsin A., Shah A. H., Al-Yahya M. A., Tariq M., Tanira M. O. M., Ageel A. A., *Fitoterapia.*, **60**, 174-177 (1989).
- 112) Bagi M. K., Kakrani H. K., Kalyani G. A., Dennis T. J., Jagdale M. H., *Fitoterapia* 59, 39-42 (1988).
- 113) Gupta S., Ali M., Pillai K. K., Alam M. S., Fitoterapia 64, 365-366 (1993).
- 114) Alia B. H., Bashir A. K., Tanira M. O. M., *Pharmacol.*, **51**, 356-363 (1995).
- 115) Gupta A., Saifi A. Q., Modi N. T., Mishra N., *Indian J. Pharmacol.*, 18, 113-114 (1986).
- 116) Singh S., Shrivastava N. M., Modi N. T., Saifi A. Q., *Curr. Sci.*, **51**, 470-471 (1982).
- 117) Chang H., Suzuka S. E., Bio-Chem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 107, 602-608 (1982).
- 118) Aguwa C. N., Int. J. Crude. Drug. Res., 25, 241-245 (1987).
- 119) Yogisha S., Samiulla D. S., Prashanth D., Padmaja R., Amit A., *Fitoterapia*73, 690- 691 (2002).

- 120) Korayem A. M., Osman H. A., Anzeiger. Fuer. Schaedlingskunde. Pflanzenschutz. Umweltschutz., 65, 14-16 (1992).
- 121) Muhammad H. S., Muhammad S., Afr. J. Biotechnol., 4, 934-937 (2005).
- 122) Hamdi Y. P., Benazzouz M., Belkhiri H., Chari Z., Serakta M., Bensgni L., *Revue. De. Medecines. Pharmacopees. Africaines.*, **11**, 151-156 (1997).
- 123) Nayak B. S., Isitor G., Davis E. M., Pillai G. K., *Phytother. Res.*, 21, 827-831 (2007).
- 124) Sultana N., Choudhary M. I., Khan A. J., *Enzym. Inhib. Med. Chem.*, 24, 257-261 (2009).
- 125) Rao P. V., Naidu M. D., Libyan. Agri. Res. Center. J. Int., 1, 310-312 (2010).
- 126) Rao P. V., Sujana P., Vijayakanth T., Naidu M. D., Asian Pac. J. Trop. Dis., 2, 327-330 (2012).
- 127) Rao P. V., Madhavi K., Dhananjaya N. M., Gan S. H., *Evid. Comp. Alt. Med.*, 2013, 1-6 (2013a).
- 128) Rao P.V., Madhavi K., Dhananjaya N. M., Gan, S.H., *Evid. Comp. Alt. Med.*, 2013, 1-7 (2013b).
- 129) Adam S. H., Giribabu N., Rao P. V., Sayem A. S. M., Arya A., Panichayupakaranant P., Korla, P. K., Salleh N., *Eur. J. Pharmacology.*, 771,173-190 (2016).
- 130) Shah M. A., Khalil R., Haq Z. U., Panichyupakaranant P., J. Func Foods., (submitted)
- 131) Shah M. A., Muhammad H., Mehmood Y., Khalil R., Haq Z. U., Panichyupakaranant P., *Pharmacogn. Mag.*, (accepted)
- 132) Shah M. A., Jakkawanpitak C., Decha S., Panichyupakaranant P., *Pharmacogn. Mag.*, (accepted)
- 133) Kumar S., Kumar V., Prakash, O. M., Asian. Pac. J. Trop. Biomed., 2, 543-546 (2012).
- 134) Priya B., Gahlot M., Joshi P., Indian. J. Appl. Res., 4, 448-451 (2014).
- 135) Dhriti V., Chowdary P. V., Rahul J., Vishank G., Shivaji B. B., World. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 3, 1249-126 (2014).

- 136) Deng H., He M., Li J., Luo X.Y., Huang R. B., Chinese. J. Exp. Trad. Med. Formulae., 17, 114-117 (2011).
- 137) Jung U. J., Park Y. B., Kim S. R., Choi M. S., *PloS ONE.*, 7, e49030 (2012).
- 138) Olagunju J. A., Jobi A. A., Oyedapo O. O., *Phytother. Res.*, **13**, 346-348 (1999).
- 139) Zarmouh M. M., Subramaniyam K., Viswanathan S., Kumar P. G., Afr. J. Micro. Res., 4, 2674-2677 (1999).
- 140) Sunil C., Duraipandiyan V., Agastian P., Ignacimuthu S., *Food. Chem. Tox.*, 50, 4356-4363 (2012).
- 141) Yong R., Chen X. M., Shen S., Vijayaraj S., Ma Q., Pollock C. A., *PLoS. ONE.*, 8, e73428 (2013).
- 142) Kundu S., Dubey S., Vedamurthy A. B., *World. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sc.*, **2**, 5363-5376 (2013)
- 143) Semwal R. B., Semwal D. K., Combrinck S., Cartwright-Jones C., Viljoen A., J. Ethnopharmacol., 155, 80-103 (2014).
- 144) Neeli G. S., Kute S. H., Girase G. S., Karki S. S., Shaikh M.I., *Indian Drugs.*,
 44, 561-563 (2007).
- 145) Syamsudin I., Winarno H., Res. J. Pharmacol., 2, 20-23 (2008).
- 146) Chauhan H.V., Res. J. Pharm. Technol., 4, 764-767 (2011).
- 147) Imam H., Mahbub N. U., Khan M. F., Hana H. K. Sarker M. M. R., *Pakistan*. *J. Biol. Sci.*, 16, 1796-1800 (2013).
- 148) Kamei R., Kitagawa Y., Kadokura M., Hattori F., Hazeki O., Ebina Y., Nishihara T., Oikawa, S., *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.*, **292**, 642-651 (2002).
- 149) Öberg A. I., Yassin K., Csikasz R. I., Dehvari N., Shabalina I. G., Hutchinson D. S., Wilcke M., Östenson C. G., Bengtsson T., *PLoS ONE.*, 6, e22510 (2011).
- Nigorikawa K., Yoshikawa K., Sasaki T., Iida E., Tsukamoto M., Murakami H., Maehama T., Hazeki K., Hazeki O., *Mol. Pharmacology.*, **70**, 1143-1149 (2006).
- 151) Lee H., Kang R., Yoon Y., *Phytother. Res.*, **24**, 344-351 (2010).

- 152) He K., Chan C.B., Liu X., Jia Y., Luo H. R., France S. A., Liu Y., Wilson W. D., Ye K., *J. Biol. Chem.*, 286, 37379-37388 (2011).
- 153) Ahn J. H., Cho S. Y., Du Ha J., Chu S. Y., Jung S. H., Jung Y. S., Baek J. Y., Choi I. K., Shin E. Y., Kang S. K., Kim S. S., *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, **12**, 1941-1946 (2002).
- 154) Sundriyal S., Viswanad B., Bharathy E., Ramarao P., Chakraborti A. K., Bharatam, P. V., *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 18, 3192-3195 (2008).

Plant name	Part(s)	Naphthoquinone(s)
		·
Rhinacanthus nasutus (L.) Kurz. (syn. R. communis Nees) Thai name: Thong phan chang Family Acanthaceae	root, leaf	rhinacanthin-A (1), rhinacanthin-B (2), rhinacanthin-C (3), rhinacanthin-D (4), rhinacanthin-G (5), rhinacanthin-H (6), rhinacanthin-I (7), rhinacanthin-J (8), rhinacanthin-K (9), rhinacanthin-L (10), rhinacanthin-M (11), rhinacanthin-N (12), rhinacanthin-O (13), rhinacanthin-P (14), rhinacanthin-Q (15) ^{8-11, 38)}
Kigelia africana (Lam.) Benth. (syn. K. pinnata DC.) Thai name: Sai krok apfrika Family Bignoniaceae	root, wood, fruit	kigelinol (16), isokigelinol (17), kigelinone (18), 2-(1- hydroxyethyl)naphtho(2, 3-b) furan- 4,9-dione (19), pinnatal (20), isopinnatal (21), lapachol (22), dehydro- α -lapachone (23) and 2- acetylnaptho [2, 3-b] furan-4,9- quinone (24), tecomaquinone (25) ³⁹⁻ 45)
<i>Diospyros kaki</i> L. Thai name: Phlap chin Family Ebenaceae	root and wood	plumbagin (26), naphthazarin (27), dichlon (28), 2-bromo-1,4- naphthoquinone (29), 2,3-dibromo- 1,4-naphthoquinone (30), methyl juglone (31), isodiospyrin (32), mamegakinone (33), shinanolone $(34)^{46,47)}$
 Plumbago zeylanica L. Thai name: Chettamun phloeng khao <i>P. indica</i> L. (syn. <i>P. rosea</i> L.) Thai name: Chettamun phloeng daeng Family Plumbagnaceae 	whole plant	plumbagin (26), 6-hydroxyplumbagin (35), 3,3-biplumbagin (36), elliptinone (37), 3,8-dihydroxy-6- methoxy-2-isopropyl-1,4- naphthoquinone (38), 5,7-dihydroxy- 8-methoxy-2-methyl-1,4- naphthoquinone (39) ⁴⁸⁻⁵²⁾
Impatiens balsamina L. Thai name: Thain-dok Family Balsaminaceae	root	lawsone (40), methylene-3,3'- bilawsone (41), 2-methoxy-l,4 naphthoquinone (42), impatienol $(43)^{53}$
Lawsonia inermis L. Thai name: Thian king Family Lythraceae	leaf, seed, fruit	lawsone (40), 2-methoxy-l,4 naphthoquinone (42), isoplumbagin (44), lawsonadeem (45), 3-amino-2- methoxycarbonyl-1,4- naphthoquinone (46) ⁵⁴⁾

Table 1 Plants containing naphthoquinones in Thailand

Plant name	Part(s)	Biological activities
R. nasutus	root, leaf whole plant	antimicrobial, antiviral, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, antipyretic, analgesic, antioxidant, anti- hemolytic, immunomodulatory, anti-allergic, neuroprotective, antiglycation, antiobesity activities ²⁴⁻³⁷⁾
K. africana	root, wood, fruit	antioxidant, wound healing, antimicrobial activity, antiviral, antimalarial, anti-inflammatory, hepatoprotective, analgesic, anti- ulcerogenic, anti-diarrheal, anticancer activities ⁵⁵⁻⁶⁴⁾
D. kaki	root, fruit, wood	cardiopretotective, antioxidant, anti-anaphylactic, antimicrobial, anticancer, immunological, neuroprotective, thrombolytic, and tyrosinase inhibitory, antihypertensive activities ⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷⁾
P. zeylanica P. indica	root, leaf, whole plant	anticancer, acaricidal, anti-arthritic, anti-candidal, anti-convulsant, anti- allergic, antimicrobial, antifertility, antiviral, hyperlipidaemic, anti- plasmodial, cardiotonic activities ⁶⁸⁻ ⁸⁵⁾
I. balsamina	root, leaf, seed, hole plant	antipruritic, anti-anaphylactic, antioxidant, antimicrobial, anticancer activities ⁸⁶⁻⁹¹⁾
L. inermis	leaf, seed, fruit	antioxidant, immunomodulatory, hepatoprotective, antimicrobial, anti-trypanosomal, anti-parasitic, molluscicidal, anti-dermatophytic, antifertility, analgesic, anti- inflammatory, anti-sickling, abortifacient, antitrypsin, nematicidal, wound healing, anti- glycation activities ⁹²⁻¹²⁴⁾

Table 2 Biological activities of plants containing naphthoquinones in Thailand



Figure 1 Naphthoquinones in Rhinacanthus nasutus





Figure 3 Naphthoquinones in Diospyros kaki



Figure 4 Naphthoquinones in Plumbago zeylanica and P. indica





Figure 5 Naphthoquinones in Impatiens balsamina and Lawsonia inermis

Figure 6 Miscellaneous antidiabetic naphthoquinones


Figure 7 Mechanistic picture of diabetes amelioration by naphthoquinones in various target organs.



PAPER II

 α -Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf and synergistic effect in combination with acarbose

Shah MA, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P

Reprinted from *Journal of Functional Foods*, (2017) 36, 325–331 with permission of Elsevier

Journal of Functional Foods 36 (2017) 325-331

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Functional Foods

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jff



α-Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf and synergistic effect in combination with acarbose



Muhammad Ajmal Shah^a, Ruqaiya Khalil^b, Zaheer Ul-Haq^b, Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant^{a,c,*}

^aDepartment of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkha 90112, Thailand ^bDr. Panjwani Center for Molecular Medicine and Drug Research, International Center for Chemical and Biological Sciences, University of Karachi, Karachi 75270, Pakiston ^cPhytomedicine and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology Excellence Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhia 90112, Thailand

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 January 2017 Accepted 8 July 2017

Reywords: a-Glucosidase Diabetes mellitus Rhinacanthins-rich extract Rhinacanthins-C Molecular docking

ABSTRACT

Rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) from Rhinacanthus nasutus leaf and its marker compounds namely rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D and rhinacanthin-N were evaluated for α -glucosidase inhibitory activity, RRE (IC₅₀ value of 25.0 µg/mL) exhibited α -glucosidase inhibitory activity almost equivalent to that of rhinacanthin-C (IC₅₀ value of 22.6 µg/mL) but stronger than that of rhinacanthin-D (IC₅₀ value of 27.6 µg/mL) and the standard drug, acarbose (IC₅₀ value of 395.4 µg/mL), while rhinacanthin-N was inactive. Kinetic studies revealed that both RRE and rhinacanthin-C exhibited noncompetitive α -glucosidase inhibitory activity, while combinations of either RRE or rhinacanthin-C with acarbose at low concentrations (ViC₅₀, value ₅₀) showed a synergistic inhibitory effect. In silco studies identified the binding mode of rhinacanthin-C highlighting the formation of both polar and apolar contacts of ligand with α -glucosidase. The present study provides the first evidence that RRE containing rhinacanthin-C as the major compound, could find application as an α -glucosidase inhibitor.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The number of diabetic patients was reported to be around 382 million globally in 2013 and this number was predicted to rise to 592 million within the next two decades (Guariguata et al., 2014). Around 90% of diabetic patients suffer from type-2 diabetes mellitus (DM), a major type of DM that caused by impaired insulin secretion combined with either a reduction of insulin activity or maintained activity. Excess body weight and physical inactivity are the main causes of type-2 DM (Olokoba, Obateru, & Olokoba, 2012; Sui, Zhang, & Zhou, 2016). Clinically available oral antidiabetic drugs exert their therapeutic effect by various mechanisms including elevation of insulin secretion, and glucose absorption and metabolism. α -Glucosidase is a key enzyme that converts disaccharides into simple absorbable monosaccharides within the gastrointestinal tract and α -glucosidase inhibition is therefore a prominent therapeutic strategy to control postprandial hyperglycemia in type-2 DM. The clinically available α-glucosidase inhi-

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2017.07.021 1756-4646/@ 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. bitors including acarbose, voglibose and miglitol are currently administered orally as monotherapeutics or in combination with other oral antidiabetic drugs. However, these compounds are high cost and are known to cause gastrointestinal side effects. In addition, long term use of the commercially available α -glucosidase inhibitors is also associated with cardiac hazards (Fisman, Michael, & Tenenbaum, 2008).

A number of plant extracts and isolated phytochemicals have been reported to exhibit α -glucosidase inhibitory activity as their main antidiabetic mechanism (Kumar, Narwal, Kumar, & Prakash, 2011). Rhinacanthus nasutus (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae) is a medicinal plant native to Thailand and Southeast Asia. R. nasutus is a well-known source of traditional medicines for the treatment of various diseases including DM (Brimson & Tencomnao, 2014). In China and Taiwan, it is often taken as an herbal tea (Huang, Lu, Inbaraj, & Chen, 2015). Rhinacanthin-C (RC), a major active constituent of R. nasutus leaf has recently been reported for to exhibit hypoglycemic, hypolipidemic and pancreatic protective effects in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabetic rats (Adam et al., 2016). However, RC is not available commercially and its isolation involves a time-consuming, energy-intensive, multi-stage process that requires a large amount of toxic organic solvents, ultimately increase its production costs. An alternative approach that presents

Corresponding author at: Department of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand.

E-mail address: pharkphoom piPpso.ac.th (P. Panichayupakaranant).

the possibility of synergistic effect is to utilize rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE), a semi purified *R. nasutus* leaf extract that features a total rhinacanthins content of not less than 70% w/w, with 60–70% w/w comprising RC as the major component (Panichayupakaranant, Charoonratana, & Sirikatitham, 2009). In the present study, RRE was obtained using a simple environmentally friendly, 'green' extraction and fractionation method, and used to investigate α-glucosidase inhibitory activity *in vitro* as well as in combination with acarbose, an antidiabetic drug. *In silico* studies were also performed to determine the binding mechanism of RC with the target enzyme, and to explain the structure activity relationship of RC.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Chemicals

α-Glucosidase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae (EC 3.2.1.20), p-nitrophenyl-α-o-glucopyranoside (pNPG) and acarbose were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). All others chemicals used were of analytical grade.

2.2. Plant material, extraction and isolation

The fresh leaves of *R. nasutus* were collected from the Botanical Garden of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai Campus, Thailand, an a voucher specimen (No. 0011814) was kept at the herbarium of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand, Leaves were washed with tap water and dried at 60 °C for 24 h in a hot air oven and reduced to powders using a grinder, and the powders were passed through sieve No. 45.

RRE was prepared using ethanol by previously described methods (Panichayupakaranant et al., 2009) with some modifications. The present method used a microwave assisted extraction followed by a simple step of fractionation with Amberlite[®] column. Moreover, only the green solvents, ethanol and water, were used in the extraction and fractionation processes. Rhinacanthin-C (RC), rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN) were isolated from the RRE using a silica gel column eluted by hexane and ethyl acetate (99:1, v/v). The structures of all three compounds (Fig. 1) were confirmed by comparing the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectral data with those from the literature (Sendl et al., 1996; Wu et al., 1998).

2.3. HPLC analysis of RRE

HPLC analysis of RRE was performed as previously reported (Panichayupakaranant et al., 2009) using a UFLC Shimadzu system incorporating a Discovery[®] C18 (5 μm, 4.6 × 150 mm) column (Supelco, PA, USA) equipped with a photodiode-array detector and autosampler (Shimadzu Corp. Kyoto, Japan).

2.4. a-Glucosidase inhibition assay

The α -glucosidase inhibitory activity was determined using the method described by Rengasamy, Aderogba, Amoo, Stirk, and Van Staden (2013). In samples preparation, the final concentration of DMSO was not more than 7%. The percentage inhibition was calculated by using the following equation.

% Inhibition = (Ac - As)/Ac

Whereas; Ac = Absorbance of control, As = Absorbance of sample.

2.5. Determination of the mechanism of x-glucosidase inhibition

An enzyme kinetic analysis was performed based on the α -glucosidase inhibition assay described above. The concentration of α -glucosidase was kept constant at 0.1 unit/mL and the *pNPG* concentrations varied from 0.16 to 2.65 mM in the absence and presence of RRE and RC (12.5, 25 and 50 µg/mL). The type of inhibition was determined by Lineweaver-Burk plot obtained by plotting velocities of reaction (vertical axis) and substrate concentrations (horizontal axis) reciprocally (Gu et al., 2009).

2.6. α-Glucosidase inhibition of RRE and RC in combinations with acarbose

On the basis of IC_{50} data, a series of three concentrations ($\frac{1}{2}IC_{50}$, $\frac{1}{2}IC_{50}$ and IC_{50}) of RRE and RC as well as their combined mixtures with acarbose were prepared to investigate the combined



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of rhinacanthin-C (1), rhinacanthin-D (2) and rhinacanthin-N (3).

able 1	E .			

7	fotal rhinacanthins	content in	1 crude	ethanol a	and th	inacanthins-rich	n extract.

Compounds	Rhinacanthin content (% w/w; Mean ± SD)				
	Crude ethanol extract	Rhinacanthins-rich extract			
Rhinacanthin-C	5.5±0.10	622±23			
Rhinacanthin-D	1.1 ± 0.02	7.9±0.1			
Rhinacanthin-N	0.5 ± 0.01	3.6±0.2			
Total rhinacanthins	8.2	73.7			

Table 2

p-Glucosidase inhibitory activity of thinacanthins-rich extract and thinacanthinat

a-Glucosidase inhibitory activity of minacanthins-rich extract and minacanthin-C.					
Compound	K _{at} (µg/mL)				
RRE Rhinacanthin-C Rhinacanthin-D Rhinacanthin-N Acarbone	25.0±0.8 ⁴ 22.6±0.8 ⁴ 71.5±1.0 ^b n.a ³ 395.4±12.1 ^c				

Inhibitions concentrations are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 3). Mean values followed by different letters are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).

Not active.

inhibitory effect of the samples with the control drug on α -glucosidase (Gao, Xu, Wang, Wang, & Hochstetter, 2013). Reaction was performed according to above α -glucosidase inhibition assay.

2.7. In silico studies

Molecular modeling studies were carried out to investigate the α-glucosidase inhibitory mechanism of RC. The FASTA sequence for S. cerevisiae α-glucosidase was retrieved from Uniprot (accession code P53051.1). The model was developed using SWISS MODEL (Schwede, Kopp, Guex, & Peitsch, 2003). The MOE 2015.1001 software suite (Wagner, Inceoglu, Gill, & Hammock, 2010) was used to construct Ramachandran and rotamer energy plots (threshold = -1 kcal/mol). The developed model was subjected to energy minimization by using default AMBER10 force field in MOE.

The builder module in MOE-2015.1001 was used to generate the chemical structure of RC. Molecular docking studies were performed by using a protocol we developed earlier (Barakat



Fig. 2. Lineweaver-Burk plot of rhinacanthin-C [A] and rhinacanthins-rich extract (B) against x-glucosidase at different concentrations of pNPG.

et al., 2016). A 10 ns Molecular Dynamics (MD) Simulation was performed using AMBER14 (Case et al., 2014) to analyze the stability of protein-ligand complexes and the interactions observed during docking, Protein and ligand parameters were established using AMBER995B and generalized AMBER force field (GAFF), respectively. A 10 Å water box was generated under periodic boundary conditions, which was solvated using the "3-point water model' (TIP3 P). To neutralize the protein surface charges, 16 Na* ions were added, which replaced water molecules at potentially favorable positions. In order to remove any steric clashes, the systems were subjected to a brief minimization. A series of restrained minimization were performed by gradually decreasing the strain from 25 to 5 kcal/mol.Å². A comprehensive unrestrained minimization was then performed.

The temperature was increased gradually from 0 to 300 K over 500 ps and the system was further equilibrated for a further 500 ps at constant pressure (1 bar) and temperature (300 K). Bond lengths involving hydrogen atoms were constrained using SHAKE algorithm (Kräutler, Van Gunsteren, & Hünenberger, 2001) with harmonic restraints of 25 kcal/mol.Å. Finally, a production run of 10 ns was performed with a 2 fs time step at constant pressure (1 bar) and temperature of 300 K. The resulting trajectories were analyzed using the CPPTRAJ module (Roe & Cheatham, 2013) implemented in AMBERTOOLS15 and VMD (Humphrey, Dalke, & Schulten, 1996).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. RRE extraction and standardization

RRE was prepared by modification of our earlier approach (Panichayupakaranant et al., 2009). RRE contained a high content of rhinacanthins (73.7% w/w) equal to that previously reported (Table 1) and RC was found to be a major constituent (62.2% w/w). The developed green processes in preparation of RRE and the obtained RRE is highly suitable for nutraceutical and industrial applications in term of safety and low cost.

3.2. α-Glucosidase inhibition activity of RRE and its marker compounds

The inhibitory effect of RRE and its marker compounds RC, RD and RN against g-glucosidase was assessed in order to assess their antidiabetic potential. Both RC and RRE exhibited satisfactory inhibitory activity against α-glucosidase with IC30 values of 22.6 µg/mL and 25.0 µg/mL, that was much higher activity than acarbose (IC50 value of 395 µg/mL) (Table 2). RRE and RC display almost equal α-glucosidase inhibitory activity that similar to previously been reported to possess almost equivalent antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activity (Bhusal, Panichayupakaranant, & Reanmongkol, 2014; Panichayupakaranant et al., 2009; Puttarak, Charoonratana, & Panichayupakaranant, 2010). RD, a minor naphthoquinone ester of RRE, also showed good inhibitory activity, with an ICso value of 71.5 µg/mL, while RN was found to be inactive. This implies that an aromatic ring on substituted R group of rhinacanthins (Fig. 1) may reduce their α-glucosidase inhibitory effect by interference to the enzyme binding site. More recently, RC has been shown to exhibit antidiabetic potential in streptozotocin-ni cotinamide induced diabetic rats. Increased glucose uptake by adipocytes, expression of pancreatic GLUT2 and pancreatic protective effects due to lowering of inflammatory and cellular apoptosis mediators have been proposed to explain the antidiabetic activity of RC (Adam et al., 2016). The present study is the first report of α-glucosidase inhibition as an antidiabetic mechanism for RRE and its marker compounds.

3.3. Inhibitory mechanism of RRE and its synergistic activity with acarbose

To determine the mechanism of inhibition, RRE and RC were used in three different concentrations i.e. 12.5, 25 and 50 µg/mL as inhibitors in kinetic experiment to elucidate the type of inhibition. Possible interference by RRE and RC was examined at five different pNPG concentrations i.e. 0.16-2.65 mM. The absorbance was first plotted against time to obtain velocities of reactions and the velocities were subsequently plotted against the reciprocal of substrate concentration to construct Lineweaver-Burk plots. The Lineweaver-Burk plots for α-glucosidase inhibition by RC and RRE generated straight lines, which intersected at the same point on X-axis in the second quadrant, indicating noncompetitive inhibition (Fig. 2). Acarbose is a competitive α-glucosidase inhibitor (Ag, 1994), thus it was of interest to establish whether RRE and RC, as noncompetitive inhibitors, might interact synergistically with acarbose in inhibiting α-glucosidase. The experiment was performed at three different concentrations at 1/4IC50, 1/2IC50 and IC5p. It was found that lower concentrations of acarbose combined with RRE and RC at 1/4/C50 and 1/2/C50 resulted in significant inhibition compared with the individual compounds at the same concentration (Fig. 3) indicating synergistic inhibitory activity against α-glucosidase. These finding suggest that the combination of acarbose with RRE or RC having different inhibitory mechanisms could inhibit a-glucosidase activity more effectively at low doses compared with the single compounds, resulting in a reduction of postprandial blood glucose in type-2 DM and avoiding adverse effects due to acarbose.

3.4. In silico studies

The crystallographic structure of yeast α-glucosidase has not yet been fully resolved. The SWISS-MODEL (Schwede et al., 2003) was applied instead of a number of related studies (Imran et al., 2015, 2016; Xu, 2010) to obtain three dimensional coordinates of *S. cerevisiae* using the FASTA sequence of α-glucosidase, under the accession code P53051.1 as a query string in BLAST search. The crystal structure of oligo-1,6-glucosidase of yeast in complex with its competitive inhibitor maltose (PDB 3AJ7) (Yamamoto, Miyake, Kusunoki, & Osaki, 2010) was identified as the most suitable template with sequence identity and similarity values of 72.68



Fig. 3. Percentage inhibition of α -glucosidase by acarbose, RRE and RC, and combined acarbose with RRE (A+RRE) and RC (A+RC) at different concentration on the basis of (C₃₀ Results are expressed as mean ± SEM (n = 3). Mean values followed by different letter are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).



Fig. 4. The visuals showing the results of model assessment. The graph above shows the Ramachandran contours for newly developed model. Green dots donate the position of residues in core region. While, (+) sign highlights the outliers. The rotamer profile of the newly developed model highlights the side chain energy of each amino-acid. The energies are well below the threshold which pronounces the good quality of model. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

and 0.54, respectively. The Qmean score of the model was found to be 0.729, which signifies the reliability of model. The Root Mean Square Deviation (RMSD) between the model and template was 0.19 Å. The quality of model was assessed using Ramachandran and rotamer plots. As evident from Fig. 4, most of the residues lie in the core or allowed region except TYR286 and THR566; the outliers. Ramachandran contours are useful for evaluation of backbone dihedral angles (Fisinger, Serrano, & Lacroix, 2001), while Rotamer plots display discrete sets of favorable conformations adopted by amino acid side chains depending on the relative strain energy of the side chains (Renfrew, Butterfoss, & Kuhlman, 2008). The rotamer energy plot of the developed model (Fig. 4) shows rotamer energies are generally well below the threshold level of 5 kcal/mol, providing further support for the reliability of our model.

The mechanism of α -glucosidase inhibition by RC was elucidated by molecular docking studies according to the protocol applied described in our previous study (Barakat et al., 2016). MOE-dock was used to generate 100 conformations of RC. The resultant poses were clustered and the pose presenting the highest score for the largest cluster was selected for further analysis. The binding mode and interaction profile of RC with yeast α glucosidase is represented in Fig. 5. The MSMS surface model of the protein suggested that the presence of basic residues around the naphthoquinone ring of the ligand complements binding of the relatively more electronegative part of the ligand. The tail of the ligand containing an aliphatic chain has folded to accommodate itself in the hydrophobic groove of the protein.

Ligand-protein interaction profiling (Salentin, Schreiber, Haupt, Adasme, & Schroeder, 2015) confirmed the formation of various hydrogen and hydrophobic bonds between RC and α -glucosidase. As depicted in Fig. 5, the core of RC has anchored to the protein via special bidentate interactions with LY5232 and 414. Another hydrogen bond has also been observed between the backbone N atom of SER157 and RC. The hydrophobic core that surrounds the tail of the ligand includes residues LYS143, PRO144, THR160 and PHE161. The observed affinity in molecular modeling studies between the ligand and enzyme helps explains the experimental findings of high inhibition of α -glucosidase activity by RC.

In order to investigate the stability of the proposed ligandprotein model, a short production run (10 ns) of all atom MD simulation was performed using AMBER14. MD simulation has emerged as a major technique in the array of tools to design bioactive molecule and investigate their mode of action. Apart from extraction of information regarding the distances and interactions between ligand and residues of interest, MD trajectories allow estimation of overall stability of complex. We have measured different characteristics of the system to measure the dynamic differences induced in system upon ligand binding, Root Mean Square



Fig. 5. The MSMS model of the S. creevisine x-glucosidase as rendered by columbic distribution. The electronegativity is depicted by Red, hydrophobicity is depicted by white while blue color highlight electropositive regions. The boxed picture depicts the interactions mediated by RC with protein. Also notable in the picture as residues lining the hydrophobic groove in cavity which help in establishment of apolar contacts with the tail of ligand. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

M. Aimal Shah et al. / Journal of Functional Foods 36 (2017) 325-331



Fig. 6. The graphs showing root mean square fluctuation as function of residue number (A) and root mean square deviation as a function of time (B) of protein backbor

Deviation (RMSD) is a measure of stability of complex, the lower the RMSD the higher the stability. The average RMSD values of the two systems; apo and complex, were 1.5 and 2.0 Å, respectively. The plot shows more fluctuation in complex as compared to apo-structure, though the overall system remains unstable (Fig. 6A). Further, to investigate the exact nature of this deviation, Root Mean Square Fluctuation (RMSF) was calculated (Fig. 6B). We have observed higher fluctuations in case of α -glucosidase-RC complex with notably higher deviations in case of residues LYS229, ASP278, and GLU548. Visual inspection of these residues annotated by secondary structure suggests that these residues are present in exposed loops which are highly dynamic in nature. The visual analysis of MD trajectories revealed that the ligand anchored the protein via hydrogen bonds during first 2 ns of the simulation. The ligand presented significant displacement and there is a difference of 2.46 Å in the coordinates before and after simulation. Moreover, it was observed that the contacts were later stabilized by hydrophobic interactions displayed by ligand.

4. Conclusion

RRE containing RC at a level of 62.2% was obtained from R. nasutus leaves using a green extraction method. RRE exhibited a noncompetitive inhibitory effect against α-glucosidase and may be considered as an alternative natural antidiabetic agent to control postprandial blood glucose levels. RRE displayed synergistic inhibition of α -glucosidase in combination with acarbose, suggesting its clinical use to reduce the dose and adverse effects related to acarbose.

Author contribution

MAS and PP conceived and designed the research study. MAS conducted the experiments. RK and ZU designed and carried out in silico calculations. MAS, RK, ZU and PP analyzed the data, discussed the findings and prepared the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award 2014 and Thesis Support Grant 2016, granted by Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla, Thailand. The authors wish to thank Mr. John Constable for assistance with the English.

References

- Adam, S. H., Giribabu, N., Rao, P. V., Sayem, A. S. M., Arya, A., Panichayupakaranant, P., ... Salleh, N. (2016). Rhinacanthin C ameliorates hyperglycaemia, hyperlipidemia and pancreatic destruction in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced adult male diabetic rats. European Journal of Pharmacology, 771, 129. 2003. 173-190.
- Ag, H. (1994). Pharmacology of o-glucosidase inhibition. European Journal of Clinical Investigation, 24, 3-10.
- Barakat, A., Islam, M. S., Al-Majid, A. M., Ghabbour, H. A., Yousuf, S., Ashraf, M., ... Ul-Baraadi, A., Istam, M. S., Al-Majio, P. M., Goanobur, H. A., Toukur, S., Aunza, M., Ji-Hau, X. (2016). Synthesis of pyrimidine-2, 4, 6-triuoe derivatives: Anti-oxidant, anti-cancer, a sglucosidase, Ji-glucuronidase inhibition and their molecular docking studies. Bioorganic Chemistry, 68, 72–79.
 Bhusal, N., Panichayupakaranant, P., & Reanmongkol, W. (2014). In vivo analgesic
- and anti-inflammatory activities of a standardized Rhinaconthus neutral leaf extract in comparison with its major active constituent rhinacanthin-C.
- Songklanskorin Journal of Science & Technology, 36, 326–331. nson, J. M., & Tencomnao, T. (2014). Medicinal herbs and antioxidants: Potential thus number for disease treatment? Phytochemistry Reviews, 13, of RI 643-651
- Case, D. A., Babin, V., Berryman, J., Betz, R. M., Cai, Q., Cerutti, D. S., ... Goetz, A. W. (2014). Amber 14. Fisinger, S., Serrano, L., & Lacroix, E. (2001). Computational estimation of specific
- side chain interaction energies in a helices. Protein Science, 10, 809–818.
 Fisman, E. Z., Michael, M., & Tenenbaum, A. (2008). Non-insulin antidiabetic therapy in cardiac patients: Current problems and future prospects. In E. Z. Fisman, & A. Tenenbaum (Eds.), Cardiovacular diabetrology: Cimical, metabolic and inflummatory facets. Advances cardiology (pp. 154–170). Basel: S. Karger AG Publishing.
- Gao, J., Xu, P., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., & Hochstetter, D. (2013). Combined effects of green tea extracts, green tea polyphenois or epigallocatechin gallate with acarbose on inhibition against α -amylase and α -glucosidase in vitro. Molecules, 18, 11614-11623.
- 18, 11614–11623, Gu, H. J., Lv, J. C., Yong, K. L., Chen, X., Liu, P. P., & Zhang, X. B. (2009). Antidiabetic effect of an active fraction extracted from dragon's blood (Drocurve rochinchinensis). Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry, 24, 136–139. Guarignata, L., Whiting, D. R., Hambleton, I., Beagley, J., Linnenkamp, U., & Shaw, J. E. (2014). Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 103, 137–149. Huang, R. T., Lu, Y. F., Inbaraj, B. S., & Chen, B. H. (2015). Determination of phenolic acide and Buennick in Philosenthy academic (L.) hure: by high-approximation of phenolic
- Huang, K. T., Lu, Y. F., Inbaraj, B. S., & Chen, B. H. (2015). Determination of phenotic acids and flavonoids in Rhinaconthus nosutus (L.) kurz by high-performance-liquid-chromatography with photodiode-array detection and tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Functional Foods, 12, 458–508, Humphrey, W., Dalke, A., & Schulten, K. (1996); VMD: Visual molecular dynamics. Journal of Molecular Graphics, 14, 33–38.
 Imran, S., Taba, M., Ismail, N. H., Kashif, S. M., Rahim, F., Jamil, W., ... Wahab, H. (2015). Synthesis of novel flavone hydrarones: In-vitro evaluation of a-glucosidase inhibition, QSAR analysis and docking studies. European Journal of Modeling Committee, 105, 156–170.
- Medicinal Chemintry, 105, 156-170. Imran, S., Taha, M., Ismail, N. H., Kashif, S. M., Rahim, F., Jamil, W., ..., Khan, K. M.
- (2016). Synthesis, in vitro and docking studies of new flavone ethers as or-glucosidase inhibitors. Chemical Biology & Drug Design, 87, 361–373.
- Kräutler, V., Van Gunsteren, W. F., & Hünenberger, P. H. (2001). A fast SHAKE algorithm to solve distance constraint equations for small molecules in molecular dynamics simulations. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 22, 1997. 501-508.

- Kumar, S., Narwal, S., Kumar, V., & Prakash, O. (2011). A glucosidase inhibitors from plants: A natural approach to treat diabetes. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, 5, 19–29.
 Olokoba, A. B., Obateru, O. A., & Olokoba, L. B. (2012). Type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review of current trends. *Oman Medical Journal*, 27, 269–273.
 Panichayupakaranant, P., Charoonratana, T., & Sirikatitham, A. (2009). RP-HPLC analysis of rhinacanthins in *Rhinoconthus nosulus*. Validation and application for the preparation of rhinacanthin high-yielding extract. Journal of *Chromotographic Science*, 47, 705–708.
 Puttarak, P., Charoonratana, T., & Parichayupakaranant, P. (2010). Antimicrobial activity and stability of rhinacanthins-rich *Rhinoconthus nosulus* extract. *Phytomedicine*, 17, 123–327.
- Phytometricine, 17, 525–527.
 Reinfrew, P. D., Butterfoss, G. L., & Kuhlman, B. (2008). Using quantum mechanics to improve estimates of amino acid side chain rotamer energies. Protrins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics, 71, 1637–1646.
 Rengasamy, K. R., Aderogba, M. A., Amoo, S. O., Stifk, W. A., & Van Staden, J. (2013).
- Kenganany, K. Y., Anerogoa, M. P., Junos, O., Sudi, Y. A., & Van Sabert, J. (2015). Potential antiradical and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors from Ecklonic maxima (Osbeck) Papenfuss. Food Chemistry, 141, 1412–1415.
 Roe, D. R., & Cheatham, T. E. III, (2013). PTRAJ and CPPTRAJ: Software for processing and analysis of molecular dynamics trajectory data. Journal of Chemical Theory and Computation, 9, 3084–3095.
- Balentin, S., Scheriber, S., Maupt, V. J., Adasme, M. F., & Schroeder, M. (2015). PUP: Fully automated protein-ligand interaction profiler. Nucleic Acids Research, 43, 443-447.

- Schwede, T., Kopp, J., Guex, N., & Peitsch, M. C. (2003). SWISS-MODEL: An autoenated protein homology-modeling server. Nucleic Acids Research, 31, 2013. 3381-3385.
- dl, A., Chen, J. L., Jolad, S. D., Stoddart, C., Rozhun, E., Kernan, M., ., Balick, M. (1995). Two new naphthoquinones with antiviral activity from Rhindcanthus nusatus. Journal of Natural Products, 59, 808–811.
- Sui, X., Zhang, Y., & Zhou, W. (2016). In vitro and in silico studies of the inhibition activity of anthocyanins against porcine pancreatic n-amylase. Journal of Functional Foods, 21, 50-57.
- Wagner, K., Inceoglu, B., Gill, S. S., & Hammock, B. D. (2010). Epoxygenated fatty acids and soluble epoxide hydrolase inhibition: Novel mediators of pain reduction. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 59, 2816–2824.Wu, T. S., Hsu, H. C., Wu, P. L., Leu, Y. L., Chan, Y. Y., Chem, C. Y., ... Tien, H. J. (1998).
- Naphthoquinooe esters from the root of Rhinacanthus nasutas. Chemical and Pharmaceutical Balletin, 46, 413–418.
- Phormacentical Baldetini, 46, 413–418.
 Xu, H. (2010). Inhibition linetics of flavonoids on yeast α-glucosidase merged with docking simulations. Protein and Peptide Letters, 17, 1270–1279.
 Yamamoto, K., Miyake, H., Kusanoki, M., & Osaki, S. (2010). Crystal structures of Isomalase from Saccheromyces crevisine and in complex with its competitive inhibitor maltose. FEBS Journol, 277, 4205–4214.

PAPER III

Superoxide Scavenging and Antiglycation Activity of Rhinacanthins-rich Extract Obtained from the Leaves of *Rhinacanthus nasutus*

Muhammad Ajmal Shah¹, Haji Muhammad², Yasir Mehmood³, Ruqaiya Khalil⁴, Zaheer Ul-Haq⁴, Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant^{1, 5*}

¹Department of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

²Department of Chemistry, Federal Urdu University of Arts, Science & Technology, Gulshan-e- Iqbal, Campus, Karachi-75300, Pakistan

³Department of Chemistry, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

⁴Dr. Panjwani Center for Molecular Medicine and Drug Research, International Center for Chemical and Biological Sciences, University of Karachi, Karachi 75270, Pakistan

⁵Phytomedicine and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology Excellence Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

*Corresponding author: Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant Tel. /fax: +66 74 428220. E-mail address: pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th (P. Panichayupakaranant)

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



ABSTRACT

Background: Oxidative stress and non-enzymatic protein glycation lead to serious diabetic complications that increase the risk of mortality. Rhinacanthus nasutus leaf crude extracts are previously reported for their antidiabetic, antiglycation and antioxidant potential. Objective: The present study was performed to prepare a standardized rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) and evaluate its superoxide scavenging and antiglycation effects compared to its marker compounds namely rhinacanthin-C (RC), rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN). Materials and methods: RRE was obtained by microwave assisted green extraction along with a simple step of fractionation using Amberlite[®] column. RC, RD and RN were isolated from the RRE using silica gel column chromatography. Superoxide scavenging activity was performed by cyclic voltammetry and fructose mediated human serum albumin glycation model was used for antiglycation activity. In silico studies were conducted to identify the structure activity relationships of rhinacanthins. Results: On the basis of kinetic measurements, RRE exhibited the most potent antioxidant activity via ErCi mechanism, with an IC_{50} value of 8.0 $\mu g/mL$, antioxidant capacity of 39439 $M^{\text{-1}}$ and binding constant of 45709 M⁻¹. Antiglycation assay showed that RRE exhibited almost equivalent glycation inhibitory effect to that of RC, with IC₅₀ values of 39.7, and 37.3 μ g/mL, respectively, but higher than that of RD (IC₅₀ of 50.4 μ g/mL), RN (IC₅₀ of 89.5 μ g/mL) as well as the positive control, rutin (IC₅₀ of 41.5 μ g/mL). Conclusion: The potent superoxide scavenging and albumin glycation inhibitory effect of RRE rationalized its therapeutic application in various chronic diseases especially in the complications of diabetes.

KEYWORDS: Antiglycation, antioxidant, rhinacanthins-rich extract, *Rhinacanthus nasutus*

ABBREVIATIONS USED: RRE: rhinacanthins-rich extract; RC: rhinacanthin-C; RD: rhinacanthin-D; RN: rhinacanthin-N; IC₅₀: 50% inhibitory concentration; Kao: antioxidant activity coefficient; Kb: binding constant; E_rC_i : reversible electron transfer followed by an irreversible chemical reaction; DM: diabetes mellitus; AGEPs: advanced glycation end products; NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance; HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography; CV: cyclic voltammetry; DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide; Ipa: anodic peak current; Ipc: cathodic peak current; HSA: human serum albumin; MOE: molecular operating environment; PASSonline: online prediction of activity spectra for substances

SUMMARY

- Rhinacanthins-rich extract exhibited potent superoxide scavenging activity.
- RRE and rhinacanthin-C showed remarkable and comparable antiglycating effect.
- Rhinacanthins exhibited antiglycation activity by masking specific residues of albumin.

INTRODUCTION

Type-2 diabetes mellitus (DM) is a serious global health concern. The international prevalence of DM increased from 4.7-8.5% during the last three decades, and the number of diabetic patients was estimated as 422 million in 2014.^[1] Oxidative stress caused by an imbalance of free radicals, is implicated in various chronic disease conditions including DM. Chronic DM leads to serious complications including nephropathy, neuropathy, retinopathy and cardiovascular problems and increase the risk of mortality. The overproduction of free radicals can be attenuated by intake of antioxidants.^[2] Diabetic complications are instigated by 'macromolecule aging' phenomena involving non-enzymatic glycation reactions such as nucleophilic addition reactions between the amino groups of proteins and the carbonyl groups of reducing sugars in chronic hyperglycemic conditions.^[3-5] Hyperglycemia and oxidative stress are the major factors in accelerating the formation of early glycation products that

subsequently rearrange and dehydrate into more stable compounds known as advanced glycation end products (AGEPs).^[3,6] Formation of AGEPs acts as positive feedback for oxidative stress that further damages cells and intensifies diabetic complications.^[7]

A number of compounds have been used to inhibit AGEPs formation such as aminoguanidine but toxicity and adverse effects limit use of these agents.^[8] Plant extracts and isolated phytochemicals are recognized as highly valuable sources of novel therapeutic molecules which offer a potential alternative to currently used drugs which may be associated with side effects. Various plant extracts and phytochemicals have been reported to offer potential as antidiabetic drugs, which function via antioxidant and anti-AGEPs mechanisms.^[9,10] In particular, *Rhinacanthus nasutus* (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae), a medicinal herb native to Thailand and Southeast Asia, has traditionally been used in the treatment of various disorders including DM.^[11] In China and Taiwan, *R. nasutus* has been consumed as an herbal drink.^[12,13] Methanol extracts of R. nasutus leaf have been investigated extensively for antidiabetic activity.^[14-18] Ethanol and aqueous extracts of *R. nasutus* leaves have also been reported to exhibit antioxidant and antiglycation activities.^[19,20] Rhinacanthin-C (RC), a major phytochemical of R. nasutus leaf has recently been shown to elicit antidiabetic, hyperlipidemic and pancreatic protection effects in diabetic rats.^[21] However, the multi-stage and high cost purification process of RC hinders drug development. Rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) is a semi-purified extract obtained from R. nasutus leaf that contains almost 70% w/w rhinacanthins in total, with 60% w/w of RC as the major constituent.^[22] In the present study, RRE was obtained using a simple, environment-friendly, 'green' extraction method to investigate its superoxide scavenging and AGEPs inhibitory activity. RRE offers significant advantages as an alternative to RC in term of lower production cost and potentially equivalent or higher bioactivity due to synergism between RRE components.^[23,24] In silico studies were conducted to identify the relationships between rhinacanthins structure and antiglycating activity and to predict their antioxidant potential.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

Tetrabutylammonium perchlorate was obtained from TCI, Japan and DMSO of HPLC grade was obtained from Merck, Germany. Human serum albumin (HSA), fraction V was purchased from Advent Bio, USA. Rutin was obtained from Alfa Aesar, Germany. All other chemicals used were of analytical grade.

Plant material source, extraction and isolation

The fresh leaves of *R. nasutus* were collected from the Botanical Garden of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai Campus, Thailand and the voucher specimen (No. 0011814) was field in the herbarium of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand. Leaves were washed with tap water and dried at 60°C for 24 h in a hot air oven and reduced to powders using a grinder, which were passed through a No. 45 sieve.

RRE was prepared using ethanol by previously described method^[22] with some modifications using green extraction process. RC, RD and RN were purified form the RRE using a silica gel column eluted by hexane and ethyl acetate (99:1, v/v). The structures of all three compounds [Figure 1] were confirmed by comparing the ¹H and ¹³C-NMR spectral data with those from the literature.^[25,26]

HPLC analysis of RRE

HPLC analysis of RRE was performed as previously described^[22] using a UFLC Shimadzu system incorporating a Discovery[®] C18 (5 μ m, 4.6 \times 150 mm) column (Supelco, PA, USA) equipped with a photodiode-array detector and autosampler (Shimadzu Corp. Kyoto, Japan).

Assay for antioxidant activity using cyclic voltammetry

Cyclic voltammograms were obtained using an Autolab PGSTAT 302 Potentiostat in combination with software GPES 4.9 (Eco Chemie, Utrecht, Netherland). The electrochemical experiments were carried out in a conventional three electrodes

comprising glassy carbon as the working electrode, saturated calomel as the reference electrode, and platinum wire as the counter electrode. The working electrode was polished with alumina prior to making cyclic voltammetry (CV) measurements. All CV runs were carried out at 25 ± 1 °C at 25 mV/s sweep rate.^[27]

To assess the antioxidant capacity of the target compounds, CV was performed in 0.1M tetrabutylammonium perchlorate in DMSO.^[27] CV was first carried out at 25 mV/s scan rate without any sample or blank solution (0.1 M Tetrabutylammonium perchlorate in DMSO) to produce the superoxide. Aliquots (μ L) of samples (4 mg/mL) were then added to DMSO and CV measurements were recorded together with the response of anodic and cathodic peaks. An addition of further aliquots of sample was terminated when the anodic peak was diminished. The percent superoxide scavenging effect was calculated as follows:

% Inhibition = $Ip^{o} - Ip \times 100/Ip^{o}$

Where, Ip and Ip° are the anodic peak currents of superoxide with and without sample.

Kinetic parameters were also measured, namely the antioxidant activity coefficient (Kao), binding constant (Kb) and spontaneity of the interaction $(-\Delta G)$ of RRE and its marker compounds.^[28,29]

Antiglycation assay

Fructose mediated HSA glycation inhibitory activity of REE, RC, RD and RN was performed as previously described.^[30] Rutin was used as a positive control. The percent protein glycation inhibition of the test compounds and positive control was calculated as follows:

% Inhibition = (1- fluorescence of test sample/ fluorescence of the control) x 100

Molecular docking simulations

Molecular docking simulations of RC, RD and RN were carried out to help rationalize the observed antiglycation activity of the REE and its marker compounds. RC, RD and RN were docked against HSA, which contains multiple binding sites having preference for specific chemotypes. Molecular docking simulations focused on two sites having significant correlation with drug activity. Site I was identified using the coordinates of warfarin (PDB 2BXD) while site II was characterized by ibuprofen binding (PDB 2BXG). Both the structures were subjected to protein correction module in MOE2015.10 prior to docking. Protonate 3D was used to add missing hydrogen atoms. Docking was carried out using the default rigid receptor protocol. The interaction pattern was observed by PLIP; a web server for automatic detection of protein-ligand interactions.^[31] All the visuals were rendered using Chimera^[32] and MOE.^[33]

In silico bioprediction

In silico bioactivity screening of RC, RD and RN was performed using the Prediction of Activity Spectra for Substances (PASSonline) webserver based on their chemical structure.^[34]

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Determination of rhinacanthins contents in RRE

On the basis of HPLC analysis, RRE used in this study contained RC as a major constituent (62.2% w/w), while rhinacanthin-D (7.9 % w/w) and rhinacanthin-N (3.6 % w/w) were present as minor components.

Antioxidant activity of RRE and its marker compounds

A reversible cyclic voltammogram was obtained with cathodic peak current (Ipc) 4.69 μ A and anodic peak current (Ipa) 4.59 μ A [Figure 2A]. The forward to reverse peak current ratio of almost unity confirmed the generation of superoxide free radical which is decreased in the presence of scavenging agents resulting in a reduction of anodic peak current.^[27] The scavenging ability of RRE and its marker compounds was assessed by adding increasing volumes of RRE (10 to 25 μ L), RC (12 to 40 μ L), RD (50 to 350 μ L) and RN (20 to 200 μ L) solutions to react with the electrochemically

generated superoxide [Figure 2B-2E]. RRE and RC exhibited the highest and almost equivalent superoxide scavenging activity with IC₅₀ values of 8.0 µg/mL and 9.6 µg/mL, respectively. These results are significantly higher than the minor naphthoquinone esters, RD (IC₅₀ value 91.4 µg/mL) and RN (IC₅₀ value 45.1 µg/mL) [Table 1]. In the present study, the added volume of the different compounds reflected their scavenging impact. RRE was found to be the most powerful scavenger and interestingly, the data revealed that the scavenging potency of RRE is identical to the combined activity of its specific chemical composition. These *in vitro* findings support a previous *in vivo* study on enhanced antioxidative enzymes in liver and pancreas of diabetic rats by *R. nasutus* leaf methanol extract and RC.^[16,21]

The relative superoxide scavenging capacity of the test compounds was expressed as the antioxidant activity coefficient $(Kao)^{[29]}$, which is the ratio of current density, in the presence and absence of substrate to the electrochemically generated superoxide free radicals. The relative antioxidant activity of each compound was quantified using the following equation:

 $Kao = \Delta J / ((J_o - J_{res}) \Delta c)$

Where, ΔJ is the change in oxygen current density in the presence of analyte, J_o is the limiting current density of oxygen in the absence of analyte, J_{res} is the residual current density of dissolved oxygen and ΔC is the change in the concentration of the analyte in mol/L. The equation is valid only for the region in which there is a linear change in the value i.e. at low sample concentration. The antioxidant activity of the compounds was determined using a modified expression where ΔC is replaced by ΔV_{ext} . The tabulated data showed that the antioxidant activity of the samples is; RRE>RC>RN>RD [Table 1].

The degree of interaction between the superoxide anionic radical and each test compound was expressed in terms of the binding constant 'Kb'^[28,29] derived from the reduction in peak current and determined using the following equation:

 $log [1/(AO)] = log Kb + log [Ip/Ip^o - Ip]$

Where Ip and Ip^{o} are the peak currents of electrochemically generated superoxide anion radical in the presence or absence of the test compound respectively, [AO] is the compound concentration which was replaced by the volume of the compound (ΔV_{ext}) . Since the volume of the solution containing (O_2^{\bullet}) is fixed, volumetric addition of the samples is proportional to their number of moles i.e. concentration. Compounds resulting in higher *Kb* values show enhanced interaction with the free radical. From [Table 2] it is evident that the *Kb* values follow the order: RRE>RC>RN>RD. Moreover, the *Kb* values reveal strong interaction even at very low concentration. The ΔG values calculated using the following equation and displayed in Table 1 indicate the degree of spontaneity of the interaction between the superoxide free radicals and the test compounds and support the scavenging capacity as measured by *Kao*. Together with the *Kb* value, a threshold ' ΔG ' value may provide a useful factor to classify sample scavenging ability.

$\Delta G = -RT \ln Kb$

Based on the irreversible scavenging of superoxide (Fig. 2B) and the values of kinetic parameters [Table 1], RRE may be classed as a potent superoxide scavenger, operating *via* E_rC_i mechanism and probably involving a synergistic effect due to the combination of rhinacanthins.

Antiglycation activity of RRE and its marker compounds

The fructose mediated HSA glycation inhibitory activity of RRE and its marker compounds was evaluated to explore their potential role in treating diabetic complications. Previous reports rationalized the anti-AGEPs activity of RRE, RC, RD and RN on the basis of their 1, 4-naphthoquinone skeletal structure.^[20,35] In the present study, both RRE and RC were found to exhibit significant glycation inhibitory activity with IC₅₀ values of 39.7 and 37.3 µg/mL, respectively that were slightly higher than that of the positive control, rutin (41.5 µg/mL) [Table 2]. RRE and RC showed almost equivalent antiglycation activity, similar to previously reported anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activities.^[23,24] Furthermore, the antiglycation activity of RC supports the findings of a study by Adam et al^[21] in which RC caused a reduction of glycated hemoglobin levels in diabetic rats. RD and RN, the minor

naphthoquinone compounds of RRE also showed impressive antiglycation activity with IC_{50} values of 50.4 and 89.5 µg/mL, respectively [Table 2]. Diabetes and agerelated diseases including neurotoxic disorders are mainly caused by the unusual protein aggregation.^[7] Thus, the potent anti-AGEPs activity of RRE, measured in this study recommends further evaluation of these compounds as therapeutics for treatment of a range of conditions of major clinical and global significance.

Molecular interaction studies

Molecular docking studies are commonly performed in the process of drug discovery to predict the occurrence of protein-ligand-binding and its possible lead to therapeutic effect. We applied molecular docking protocols to explore binding between HSA, the major transport protein in the circulatory and lymphatic system^[36] and RRE and its marker compounds (RC, RN and RD) and thereby help explain their observed anti-glycation activity. The non-enzymatic glycation of lysine and arginine residues in HSA; in the case of diabetes, impairs the transport of several moieties leading to detrimental physiological effects.^[37] Masking of the lysine and arginine residues has therefore been proposed as an effective strategy to inhibit non-enzymatic glycation of HSA. There are two main sites in the HSA structure which offer opportunities for drug action; Sudlow's site I and site II. Docking simulations were performed using both sites to investigate ligand binding. Sudlow's site I was identified using the coordinates of warfarin from the PDB: 2BXD while, ibuprofen from PDB: 2BXG identified Sudlow's site I and II of HSA are presented in [Table 3].

The binding mode of RC, RD and RN in each site is presented in [Figure 3]. The compounds establish polar contacts with surrounding arginine and lysine residues. In Sudlow's site I, RC forms hydrogen bonds with Lys195, and Arg222, RD binds to Lys199 and Arg257 and RN interacts with Lys195, Lys199, Arg218 and Arg222. The rhinacanthins are also involved in the formation of salt bridges. In the case of Sudlow's site II, RC, RD and RN were found to interact with Arg410 and Lys 414. The complexes are also stabilized by Van der Waal's forces between the ligands and other amino acid residues at Sudlow's site I, namely Tyr150, Leu238, and Leu260.

Residues Ile388, Asn391 and Phe403 lining Sudlow's site II provided anchorage for the ligands via formation of hydrophobic and aromatic contacts. Interestingly, the binding pattern of RC, RD an RN in this analysis is consistent with docking studies of cinnamic acid reported earlier.^[39]

In silico predictions of bioactivity

PASSonline as used to predict the potential targets and pharmacological effect of the marker compounds of RRE based on structural information. The analysis presents the ratio of probability of being active (Pa) or inactive (Pi) with regards to a particular biological effect.^[40] The antioxidant potential and selection of predicted biological activities for the marker compounds of RRE presented in [Table 4], provides additional, strong support for the superoxide scavenging activity of RRE.

CONCLUSIONS

This is the first report on antioxidant and antiglycation potential of RRE and its marker compounds, rhinacanthin-C, -D and -N. The docking studies determined the binding mode of rhinacanthins with respect to human serum albumin. Rhinacanthins exhibited antiglycation activity by masking different residues of albumin. The potent superoxide scavenging and remarkable protein glycation inhibitory effects of RRE further rationalized its therapeutic application in various chronic diseases especially in the complications of diabetes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

MAS and PP conceived and designed the research study. MAS, HM and YM conducted the experiments. RK and ZU designed and carried out *in silico* calculations. MAS, HM, YM, RK, ZU and PP analyzed the data, discussed the findings and prepared the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDMENTS

This research was financially supported by Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award (2014) and Thesis Support Grant (2016) from the Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla, Thailand. The

authors wish to thank Mr. John Constable and Prof. Allan Coombes for assistance with English editing of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- WHO. [Global report on diabetes, 2016]. Geneva: World Health Organisation [cited 2017 March 08] Available from: http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/grd-2016/en/.
- Asmat U, Abad K, Ismail K. Diabetes mellitus and oxidative stress-a concise review. Saudi Pharm J 2016;24:547-53.
- Xi M, Hai C, Tang H, Chen M, Fang K, Liang X. Antioxidant and antiglycation properties of total saponins extracted from traditional Chinese medicine used to treat diabetes mellitus. Phytother Res 2008;22:228-37.
- 4. Singh VP, Bali A, Singh N, Jaggi AS. Advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 2014;18:1-14.
- Abdallah HM, El-Bassossy HM, Mohamed GA, El-Halawany AM, Alshali KZ, Banjar ZM. Mangostanaxanthones III and IV: advanced glycation end-product inhibitors from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana*. J Nat Med 2017;71:216-26.
- Yamagishi SI, Maeda S, Matsui T, Ueda S, Fukami K, Okuda S. Role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress in vascular complications in diabetes. BBA General Subjects 2012;1820:663-71.
- Li J, Liu D, Sun L, Lu Y, Zhang Z. Advanced glycation end products and neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and perspective. J Neurol Sci 2012;317:1-5.
- Peng X, Zheng Z, Cheng KW, Shan F, Ren GX, Chen F, et al. Inhibitory effect of mung bean extract and its constituents vitexin and isovitexin on the formation of advanced glycation endproducts. Food Chem 2008;106:475-81.
- 9. Chinchansure AA, Korwar AM, Kulkarni MJ, Joshi SP. Recent development of plant products with anti-glycation activity: a review. RSC Adv 2015;5: 31113-38.
- Suantawee T, Cheng H, Adisakwattana S. Protective effect of cyanidin against glucose-and methylglyoxal-induced protein glycation and oxidative DNA damage. Int J Bio Macromol 2016;93:814-21.

- 11. Brimson JM, Tencomnao T. Medicinal herbs and antioxidants: Potential of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* for disease treatment? Phytochem Rev 2014;13:643-51.
- 12. Huang RT, Lu YF, Inbaraj BS, Chen BH. Determination of phenolic acids and flavonoids in *Rhinacanthus nasutus* (L.) kurz by high-performance-liquidchromatography with photodiode-array detection and tandem mass spectrometry. J Func Foods 2015;12:498-508.
- Li DL, Zheng XL, Duan L, Deng SW, Ye W, Wang AH, et al. Ethnobotanical survey of herbal tea plants from the traditional markets in Chaoshan, China. J Ethnopharmacol. 2017 27 Feb [cited 2017 April 20]. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.02.040.
- 14. Rao PV, Naidu MD. Antidiabetic effect of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Libyan Agr Res Center J Int 2010;1:310-12.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD. Hypolipidemic properties of *Rhinacanthus* nasutus in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. J Pharmacol Toxicol 2011;6:589-95.
- Rao PV, Sujana P, Vijayakanth T, Naidu MD. *Rhinacanthus nasutus*-its protective role in oxidative stress and antioxidant status in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Asian Pac J Trop Dis 2012;2:327-30.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD, Gan SH. *Rhinacanthus nasutus* ameliorates cytosolic and mitochondrial enzyme levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013a;2013:1-6.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD, Gan SH. *Rhinacanthus nasutus* improves the levels of liver carbohydrate, protein, glycogen, and liver markers in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013b;2013:1-7.
- 19. Thephinlap C, Pangjit K, Suttajit M, Srichairatanakool S. Anti-oxidant properties and anti-hemolytic activity of *Psidium guajava*, *Pandanous odorus* and *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. J Med Plants Res 2013;7:2001-9.
- 20. Sompong W, Adisakwattana S. Inhibitory effect of herbal medicines and their trapping abilities against methylglyoxal-derived advanced glycation end-products. BMC Complement Altern Med 2015;15:1-8.

- 21. Adam SH, Giribabu N, Rao PV, Sayem AS, Arya A, Panichayupakaranant P, et al. Rhinacanthin C ameliorates hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and pancreatic destruction in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced adult male diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2016;771:173-90.
- Panichayupakaranant P, Charoonratana T, Sirikatitham A. RP-HPLC analysis of rhinacanthins in *Rhinacanthus nasutus*: Validation and application for the preparation of rhinacanthin high-yielding extract. J Chromatogr Sci 2009;47:705-8.
- 23. Bhusal N, Panichayupakaranant P, Reanmongkol W. *In vivo* analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of a standardized *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in comparison with its major active constituent rhinacanthin-C. Songklanakarin J Sci Tech 2014;36:326-31.
- 24. Puttarak P, Charoonratana T, Panichayupakaranant P. Antimicrobial activity and stability of rhinacanthins-rich *Rhinacanthus nasutus* extract. Phytomedicine 2010;17:323-7.
- 25. Sendl A, Chen JL, Jolad SD, Stoddart C, Rozhon E, Kernan M, et al. Two new naphthoquinones with antiviral activity from *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. J Nat Prod 1996;59:808-11.
- 26. Tian-Shung WU, Hua-Chun HS, Pei-Lin WU, Yann-Lii LE, Yu-Yi CH, Chern CY, et al. Naphthoquinone esters from the root of *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. Chem Pharm Bull 1998;46:413-8.
- 27. Muhammad H, Tahiri IA, Muhammad M, Masood Z, Versiani MA, Khaliq O, et al. A comprehensive heterogeneous electron transfer rate constant evaluation of dissolved oxygen in DMSO at glassy carbon electrode measured by different electrochemical methods. J Electroanal Chem 2016;775:157-62.
- Korotkova EI, Avramchik OA, Kagiya TV, Karbainov YA, Tcherdyntseva NV. Study of antioxidant properties of a water-soluble vitamin E derivative-tocopherol monoglucoside (TMG) by differential pulse voltammetry. Talanta 2004;63:729-34.
- 29. Korotkova EI, Karbainov YA, Shevchuk AV. Study of antioxidant properties by voltammetry. J Electroanal Chem 2002;518:56-60.

- 30. Mohammed KK, Shah Z, Uddin AV, Khan M, Taha M, Rahim F, et al. Synthesis of 2, 4, 6-trichlorophenyl hydrazones and their inhibitory potential against glycation of protein. Med Chem 2011;7:572-80.
- 31. Salentin S, Schreiber S, Haupt VJ, Adasme MF, Schroeder M. PLIP: fully automated protein-ligand interaction profiler. Nucleic Acids Res 2015;43:443-7.
- 32. Pettersen EF, Goddard TD, Huang CC, Couch GS, Greenblatt DM, Meng EC, et al. UCSF Chimera-a visualization system for exploratory research and analysis. J Comput Chem 2004;25:1605-12.
- Molecular Operating Environment, Chemical computing group inc. 2016 [cited 2017 March 20]. Available from: <u>http://www.chemcomp.com/</u>.
- 34. Parasuraman S. Prediction of activity spectra for substances. J Pharmacol Pharmacother 2011;2:52-3.
- 35. Jung YS, Joe BY, Cho SJ, Konishi Y. 2, 3-Dimethoxy-5-methyl-1, 4benzoquinones and 2-methyl-1, 4-naphthoquinones: glycation inhibitors with lipid peroxidation activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2005;15:1125-29.
- Nicholson JP, Wolmarans MR, Park GR. The role of albumin in critical illness. Br J Anaesth 2000;85:599-610.
- Iqbal S, Alam M, Naseem I. Vitamin D prevents glycation of proteins: an *in vitro* study. FEBS Lett 2016;590:2725-36.
- 38. Ghuman J, Zunszain PA, Petitpas I, Bhattacharya AA, Otagiri M, Curry S. Structural basis of the drug-binding specificity of human serum albumin. J Mol Biol 2005;353:38-52.
- 39. Qais FA, Alam MM, Naseem I, Ahmad I. Understanding the mechanism of nonenzymatic glycation inhibition by cinnamic acid: an *in vitro* interaction and molecular modelling study. RSC Adv 2016;6:65322-37.
- 40. Kadir FA, Kassim NM, Abdulla MA, Yehye WA. PASS-predicted Vitex negundo activity: antioxidant and antiproliferative properties on human hepatoma cells-an *in vitro* study. BMC Complement Altern Med 2013;13:1-13.

Table 1 Super oxide scavenging effect and kinetic parameters of rhinacanthins-rich extract, rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D and rhinacanthin-N in cyclic voltammetry of 0.1 M tetrabutylammonium perchlorate in DMSO at glassy carbon electrode, at 25 mV/s scan rate.

Compounds	IC ₅₀ (µg/mL)	Kao (M ⁻¹)	$Kb(M^{-1})$	$-\Delta G (KJ/mole)$
Rhinacanthins-rich extract	8.0	39439	45709	2468
Rhinacanthin-C	9.6	38281	43199	2448
Rhinacanthin-D	91.4	30463	24769	2312
Rhinacanthin-N	45.1	35720	36529	2408

 Table 2
 Antiglycation activity of rhinacanthins-rich extract and its marker compounds.

Compounds	Antiglycation activity $IC_{50}(\mu g/mL)$
Rhinacanthins-rich extract	39.7 ± 2.90^{a}
Rhinacanthin-C	37.3 ± 2.59^{a}
Rhinacanthin-D	50.4 ± 2.67^{b}
Rhinacanthin-N	$89.5 \pm 3.73^{\circ}$
Rutin	41.5 ± 2.37^d

Inhibition concentrations are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n=3). Mean values followed by different letters are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).

Sudlow's site II
-7.93
-8.00
-8.12

Table 3 The docking scores of the top ranked pose of rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D and rhinacanthin-N with the druggable sites in human serum albumin.

Table 4 The pharmacological activities prediction of rhinacanthin-C (RC),rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN) by PASSonline.

	Predicted biological activity									
Compounds	Lipid peroxidase inhibition		Membrane integration agonist		Free radical scavenger		Reductant		Antioxidant	
	Pa	Pi	Pa	Pi	Ра	Pi	Pa	Pi	Ра	Pi
RC	0.713	0.005	0.306	0.191	0.537	0.008	0.681	0.007	0.451	0.009
RN	0.508	0.016	0.698	0.055	0.460	0.017	0.543	0.017	0.336	0.018
RD	0.609	0.009	0.899	0.011	0.349	0.022	0.605	0.011	0.298	0.023

Figure 1 Chemical structures of rhinacanthin-C (1), rhinacanthin-D (2) and rhinacanthin-N (3).



Figure 2 Cyclic voltammogram of 0.1M tetrabutylammonium perchlorate in DMSO (A) with different concentration of RRE (B), RC (C), RD (D) and RN (E) at the glassy carbon electrode (25 mV/s scan rate).



Figure 3 Visualization of the binding mode of rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D and rhinacanthin-N in the Sudlow's sites of human serum albumin.



PAPER IV

Rhinacanthins-rich Extract Enhance Glucose Uptake and Inhibit Adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes and L6 Myotubes

Muhammad Ajmal Shah¹, Chanawee Jakkawanpitak², Decha Sermwittayawong², Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant¹, ^{3*}

¹Department of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

²Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

³Phytomedicine and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology Excellence Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

Abbreviated running title: Antiadipogenic and glucose uptake activity of rhinacanthins-rich extract

*Corresponding author: Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant. Tel. /fax: +66 74 428220. E-mail address: pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th (P. Panichayupakaranant).

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



ABSTRACT

Background: Obesity is one of the imperative dynamic in the incidence and intensification of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Rhinacanthus nasutus leaf extracts are previously reported for their antidiabetic and antiobesity potential. **Objective:** The present study was performed to evaluate glucose uptake stimulatory and antiadipogenic activities of a standardized rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) and its marker compounds namely rhinacanthin-C (RC), rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN) in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells. Materials and methods: RRE was prepared by a green extraction process and the marker compounds (RC, RD and RN) were isolated from the RRE using a silica gel column chromatography. Glucose uptake stimulation in both 3T3-L1 and L6 cells was performed by quantification of residual glucose in the media using glucose oxidase kit. Antiadipogenic activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes was performed by intracellular lipids quantification using oil red O dye. **Results:** At the highest effective dose, RRE (20 μ g/mL) exhibited satisfactory glucose uptake stimulatory effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes that equivalent to RN (20 $\mu g/mL$) and the positive control insulin (0.58 $\mu g/mL$), but higher than RC (20 $\mu g/mL$) and RD (20 μ g/mL). In addition, treatments of L6 myotubes showed that RRE (2.5 μ g/mL) exhibited potent and equivalent glucose uptake stimulation (>80%) to RC $(2.5 \ \mu\text{g/mL})$ and the standard drugs, insulin $(2.90 \ \mu\text{g/mL})$ and metformin $(219.5 \ \mu\text{g/mL})$ μ g/mL), but higher than RD (2.5 μ g/mL) and RN (2.5 μ g/mL). Furthermore, RRE (20 µg/mL) exhibited potent antiadipogenic effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, which equivalent to RC (20 μ g/mL) but higher than RD (20 μ g/mL) and RN (20 μ g/mL). Conclusion: The undertaken study suggests that RRE could be used as an effective remedy in the treatment of obesity associated T2DM.

KEYWORDS: antidiabetic, antiobesity, rhinacanthin-C, rhinacanthin-D, rhinacanthin-N

ABBREVIATION USED: T2DM: type-2 diabetes mellitus; RRE: rhinacanthins-rich extract; RC: rhinacanthin-C; RD: rhinacanthin-D; RN: rhinacanthin-N; WHO: world health organization; α-MEM: α-minimum essential medium; DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium; HS: horse serum; FBS: fetal bovine serum; BSA: bovine serum albumin; IBMX: 3-isobutyl-1-methyl-xanthine; MTT: 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; GO: glucose oxidase; NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance; HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography;

SUMMARY

- Rhinacanthins-rich extract and its marker compounds showed potent glucose uptake stimulatory activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes.
- Rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C showed comparable antiadipogenic effect in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.
- RRE could be used as an effective remedy in the treatment of obesity associated T2DM.

INTRODUCTION

According to WHO, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a major type of diabetes comprising 90% of total diabetic cases.^[1] Hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia are prime characteristics in the progression of T2DM and chronic cardiovascular disorders.^[2,3] Insulin resistance, the main cause of T2DM is linked with the release of free fatty acids and proinflammatory cytokines from adipose tissues in obesity or excessive adiposity, which stimulate beta cells for over secretion of insulin and its receptors reduction.^[4,5] The global prevalence of obesity and overweight raised to almost double with the reported 600 million obese adults and 41 million obese children having high mortality than underweight.^[6] Along with other adverse effects, both insulin and non-insulin therapy in T2DM promote weight gain probably via adipogenesis, the foremost cause of T2DM.^[7,8] The therapeutic molecule that can effectively control hyperglycemia with antiadipogenic potential would be an ideal antidiabetic agent. Therefore, adipogenic inhibition and glucose uptake stimulation in adipose and muscle tissue present the prominent strategies to control obesity associated T2DM.^[9]

Plant extracts and purified phytochemicals are known as highly valuable sources of novel therapeutic molecules that offer a potential alternative to currently used drugs, which may be associated with side effects. Various plant extracts and phytochemicals have been reported to offer potential as antidiabetic and antiobesity drugs.^[10,11] Rhinacanthus nasutus (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae), a medicinal herb native to Thailand and Southeast Asia, has traditionally been used in the treatment of various disorders including DM.^[12] In China and Taiwan, *R. nasutus* has been consumed as an herbal drink.^[13,14] Methanol extracts of *R. nasutus* leaf have been investigated extensively for antidiabetic and hypolipidemic activity.^[15-19] R. nasutus leaf extracts have also been reported for antiobesity effect.^[20,21] Rhinacanthin-C (RC), a major phytochemical of R. nasutus leaf has been recently reported for antidiabetic, hyperlipidemic and pancreatic protection effects in diabetic rats.^[22] However, the multi-stage and high cost purification process of RC hinders drug development. Standardized rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) is a semi-purified extract obtained from R. nasutus leaf that contains almost 70% w/w rhinacanthins in total, with 60% w/w of RC as the major constituent.^[23] RRE offers significant advantages as an alternative to RC in term of lower production cost and potentially equivalent or higher bioactivity due to synergism among RRE components.^[23-25] In the present study, RRE was obtained using a simple, environment friendly, green extraction process to investigate its glucose uptake stimulatory and antiadipogenic effects in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

 α -Minimum essential medium (α -MEM), Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), horse serum (HS), fetal bovine serum (FBS) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) were obtained from Gibco, Canada. Dexamethasone, 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX), oil red O dye, 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), penicillin, streptomycin, metformin, insulin and glucose oxidase (GO) kit were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA. All others chemicals used were of analytical grade.

Cell lines

The 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes and L6 myocytes were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, USA).

Plant material, extraction and isolation

The fresh leaves of *R. nasutus* were collected from the Botanical Garden of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai Campus, Thailand, and a voucher specimen (No. 0011814) was kept at the herbarium of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand. The leaves were washed with tap water and dried at 60°C for 24 h in a hot air oven and reduced to powders using a grinder, and the powders were passed through a sieve No. 45. RRE was prepared using ethanol by previously described method^[23] with some modifications using green extraction process. RC, RD and RN were purified form the RRE using a silica gel column eluted by hexane and ethyl acetate (99:1, v/v). The structures of all three rhinacanthins [Figure 1] were confirmed by comparing the ¹H and ¹³C-NMR spectral data with those from the literature.^[26,27]

HPLC analysis of RRE

HPLC analysis of RRE was performed as previously described method^[23] using a UFLC Shimadzu system incorporating a Discovery[®] C18 (5 μ m, 4.6 × 150 mm) column (Supelco, PA, USA) equipped with a photodiode-array detector and autosampler (Shimadzu Corp. Kyoto, Japan). HPLC analysis showed that RRE contained RC (62.2% w/w) as a major compound, and RD (7.9 % w/w) and RN (3.6 % w/w) were the minor compounds.

Determination of cell viability

Cell viability of both 3T3-L1 and L6 cells was determined using MTT reduction assay. After treatment with various concentrations of RRE and its maker compounds, the supernatant was removed, and the cells were incubated with 200 μ L MTT solution (0.5 mg/mL) for 4 h at 37°C under 5% CO₂. The supernatant was carefully removed and 200 μ L of DMSO was added to dissolve the formazan. Absorbance was measured with a microplate reader at 570 nm. Cell viability was expressed as a percentage of control.
Glucose uptake stimulation assay in 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Glucose uptake stimulatory effect of RRE and its marker compounds was evaluated in 3T3-L1 adipocytes by previously described methods.^[28,29] Briefly the cells were grown in 48 well plates with serum-free DMEM containing 0.2% BSA for 12 h. The cells were washed and incubated with different concentrations of samples in low glucose medium supplemented with 10% FBS for 24 h. Insulin was used as a standard drug. The medium was collected in 96-well plate and glucose uptake assay was performed by the glucose oxidase method using commercial GO kit.

Glucose uptake stimulation assay in L6 myotubes

Glucose uptake stimulatory effect of RRE and its marker compounds was determined in L6 myotubes by previously reported method.^[30] Briefly, L6 myocytes were grown in α -MEM with 10% FBS at 37°C under 5% CO₂. Differentiation to L6 myotubes was performed by 2% HS containing medium in 48-well culture plates. The various amounts of samples were incubated with the cells for 24 h. Insulin and metformin were used as positive controls. After incubation, the media was collected in 96 well plate and the glucose contents were measured by glucose oxidase method using commercial GO kit.

Antiadipogenic assay in 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Antiadipogenic effect of RRE and its marker compounds was determined by previously described method.^[31] Briefly, the 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes were cultured in high glucose DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS at 37°C under an atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂. 2 days post-confluent the cells were incubated in differentiation medium (1 μ M dexamethasone, 10 μ g/mL of insulin and 0.5 mM IBMX in DMEM) along with various concentrations of samples. The level of differentiation or adipogenesis was determined using oil red O staining.^[31]

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Glucose uptake stimulatory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 and L6 cells

On the basis of MTT assay, RRE, RC, RD and RN at various concentrations (0.63-20 μ g/mL) showed low cytotoxicity on both 3T3-L1 and L6 cells with cell viability of 80-100% [Figure 2]. Insulin resistance is the major cause of T2DM, the search of small molecules with insulin like glucose uptake stimulation potential is an effective

approach in diabetic treatment. Based on the previous glucose uptake report of RC^[22], RRE and its naphthoquinone constituents, RC, RD and RN were evaluated for their glucose uptake stimulation effect in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes by glucose oxidase method. The results showed that RRE and RN exhibited higher glucose uptake stimulation effect than RC and RD, and in a dose dependent manner (5, 10 and 20 μ g/mL). The activity at concentration of 20 μ g/mL was almost equivalent to the positive control, insulin (0.58 μ g/mL) [Figure 3]. The mechanism of glucose uptake enhancement by 1,4-naphthoquinones of RRE may be *via* an insulin independent tyrosine kinase pathway, which is previously reported for shikonin, a 1,4-naphthoquinone of *Lithospermum erythrorhizon*.^[32] This is a preliminary study; however it provides an interesting research insight to elucidate in depth and exact glucose uptake stimulation along with adipogenic inhibitory potential of REE provides an interesting strategy to control obesity associated T2DM and other related complications.

Regarding the body mass, skeletal muscles are the major body part which utilizes 80 % of blood glucose, presenting a prominent therapeutic target for diabetic treatment.^[29] Based on the previous reports on muscular glucose uptake stimulatory potential of 1,4 naphthoquinone^[33,34], RRE and its naphthoquinone compounds (RC, RD and RN) were determined for their glucose uptake enhancement potential in L6 myotubes. RRE possessed higher glucose uptake enhancing activity than RC, RD and RN in a dose dependent manner (0.63, 1.25 and 2.5 μ g/mL) [Figure 4]. RRE at a dose of 2.5 µg/mL showed potent glucose uptake stimulating activity (>80%) that equivalent to insulin (2.90 μ g/mL) and almost 87-folds higher than that of metformin (219.5 μ g/mL). The strong glucose uptake stimulatory potential of RRE might be due to the possible synergism among the component rhinacanthins as previously reported in antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activities.^[24,25] These results provide a strong base for further detail mechanistic study of glucose uptake stimulation by rhinacanthins in L6 myotubes that could be insulin dependent via GLUT4 or insulin independent calcium dependent pathway, as previously reported for other natural 1,4 naphthoquinones.[33,34]

Adipogenic inhibitory effect of RRE in 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Adipogenesis or excess intracellular lipid accumulation is the main factor behind obesity and insulin resistance that leads to T2DM. Adipogenic inhibitory property is therefore an effective strategy to control these pathological disorders.^[35] RRE and its naphthoquinone compounds (RC, RD and RN) showed potent and comparable dose dependent adipogenic inhibitory activity in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [Figure 5A]. At the highest effective dose (20 µg/mL), the antiadipogenic activity of RRE (<20% intracellular lipids) was significantly equivalent to RC but higher than RD (20.5 % intracellular lipids) and RN (39 % intracellular lipids). The microscopic images of stained lipid droplets in various treated cells further confirmed the consistent dose dependent adipogenic inhibition by RRE and its marker compounds [Figure 5B]. The antiadipogenic potential of RRE correlated with the previous report of shikonin that inhibited adipogenesis via inhibiting FABP4 and LPL genes expression.^[36] 1,4-Naphthoquinones exert their antiadipogenic activity by both upstream (SREBP1C) and downstream (PPAR γ and C/EBP α) regulations. ^[36] Rhinacanthins should be therefore subjected to further studies on antiadipogenic molecular mechanism. Apart from diabetes, obesity has been reported to be linked with atheromas, cardiovascular disorders and malignant tumors.^[37] The epidemiological reports interlinked obesity with metabolic disorders which is further associated with the increased circulation of inflammatory adipocytokines such as leptin, interleukin-6 and tumor necrotic factor, which resulting in malignant growth enhancement.^[38] Adipocytes are supposed to be responsible for the release of tumor enhancing adipocytokines.^[39] The antiadipogenic effect of rhinacanthins could protect against malignancy via reduction in tumor enhancing and inflammatory adipocytokines, which can be correlated with the previous anti-inflammatory and anticancer activity of rhinacanthins.^[24]

CONCLUSIONS

This is the first report on the glucose uptake enhancer and antiadipogenic constituents from *R. nasutus* leaf extracts. RRE obtained by green extraction method with 62.2% w/w of RC showed potent glucose uptake stimulatory and antiadipogenic effects in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. RRE may be used as a potential candidate for

antidiabetic and antiobesity drug development. Further mechanistic *in vivo* studies of RRE and safety assessment are recommended.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

MAS, DS and PP conceived and designed the research study. MAS and CJ conducted the experiments. MAS, CJ, DS and PP analyzed the data, discussed the findings and prepared the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was financially supported by Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award 2014 and Thesis Support Grant 2016, granted by Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla, Thailand. The authors wish to thank Miss. Kulwanit Patninan for technical assistance and Mr. John Constable for assistance with the English.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Guariguata L, Whiting DR, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw JE. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014;103:137-49.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. Jama 2006;295:1549-55.
- Sompong W, Muangngam N, Kongpatpharnich A, Manacharoenlarp C, Amorworasin C, Suantawee T, et al. The inhibitory activity of herbal medicines on the keys enzymes and steps related to carbohydrate and lipid digestion. BMC Complement Altern Med 2016;16:2-9.
- 4. Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 2006;444:840-46.
- 5. Dandona P, Aljada A, Bandyopadhyay A. Inflammation: the link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes. Trends Immunol 2004;25:4-7.

- WHO. [Obesity and overweight fact sheet, 2016] Geneva: World Health Organization [updated June 2016; cited 2017 March 08] Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/
- Carver C. Insulin treatment and the problem of weight gain in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 2006;32:910-7.
- 8. Phung OJ, Scholle JM, Talwar M, Coleman CI. Effect of noninsulin antidiabetic drugs added to metformin therapy on glycemic control, weight gain, and hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetes. Jama 2010;303:1410-18.
- Klein G, Kim J, Himmeldirk K, Cao Y, Chen X. Antidiabetes and anti-obesity activity of *Lagerstroemia speciosa*. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2007;4:401-7.
- 10. Yun JW. Possible anti-obesity therapeutics from nature-A review. Phytochem 2010;71:1625-41.
- Arulselvan P, Ghofar HA, Karthivashan G, Halim MF, Ghafar MS, Fakurazi S. Antidiabetic therapeutics from natural source: A systematic review. Biomedicine & Prev Nutr 2014;4:607-17.
- 12. Brimson JM, Tencomnao T. Medicinal herbs and antioxidants: Potential of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* for disease treatment? Phytochem Rev 2014;13:643-51.
- Huang RT, Lu YF, Inbaraj BS, Chen BH. Determination of phenolic acids and flavonoids in *Rhinacanthus nasutus* (L.) kurz by high-performance-liquidchromatography with photodiode-array detection and tandem mass spectrometry. J Func Foods 2015;12:498-508.
- Li DL, Zheng XL, Duan L, Deng SW, Ye W, Wang AH, et al. Ethnobotanical survey of herbal tea plants from the traditional markets in Chaoshan, China. J Ethnopharmacol. 2017 27 Feb [cited 2017 April 20]. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.02.040</u>
- 15. Rao PV, Naidu MD. Antidiabetic effect of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Libyan Agr Res Center J Int 2010;1:310-12
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD. Hypolipidemic properties of *Rhinacanthus* nasutus in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. J Pharmacol Toxicol 2011;6:589-95.

- Rao PV, Sujana P, Vijayakanth T, Naidu MD. *Rhinacanthus nasutus*-its protective role in oxidative stress and antioxidant status in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Asian Pac J Trop Dis 2012;2:327-30.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD, Gan SH. *Rhinacanthus nasutus* ameliorates cytosolic and mitochondrial enzyme levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013a;2013:1-6.
- Rao PV, Madhavi K, Naidu MD, Gan SH. *Rhinacanthus nasutus* improves the levels of liver carbohydrate, protein, glycogen, and liver markers in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013b;2013:1-7.
- 20. Sompong W, Muangngam N, Kongpatpharnich A, Manacharoenlarp C, Amorworasin C, Suantawee T, et al. The inhibitory activity of herbal medicines on the keys enzymes and steps related to carbohydrate and lipid digestion. BMC Complement Altern Med 2016;16:1-9.
- Wannasiri S, Piyabhan P, Naowaboot J. *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf improves metabolic abnormalities in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 2016;6:1-7.
- Adam SH, Giribabu N, Rao PV, Sayem AS, Arya A, Panichayupakaranant P, et al. Rhinacanthin C ameliorates hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and pancreatic destruction in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced adult male diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2016;771:173-90.
- Panichayupakaranant P, Charoonratana T, Sirikatitham A. RP-HPLC analysis of rhinacanthins in *Rhinacanthus nasutus*: Validation and application for the preparation of rhinacanthin high-yielding extract. J Chromatogr Sci 2009;47:705-8.
- 24. Bhusal N, Panichayupakaranant P, Reanmongkol W. *In vivo* analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of a standardized *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in comparison with its major active constituent rhinacanthin-C. Songklanakarin J Sci Tech 2014;36:326-31.
- 25. Puttarak P, Charoonratana T, Panichayupakaranant P. Antimicrobial activity and stability of rhinacanthins-rich *Rhinacanthus nasutus* extract. Phytomedicine 2010;17:323-7.

- 26. Sendl A, Chen JL, Jolad SD, Stoddart C, Rozhon E, Kernan M, et al. Two new naphthoquinones with antiviral activity from *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. J Nat Prod 1996;59:808-11.
- 27. Tian-Shung WU, Hua-Chun HS, Pei-Lin WU, Yann-Lii LE, Yu-Yi CH, Chern CY, et al. Naphthoquinone esters from the root of *Rhinacanthus nasutus*. Chem Pharm Bull 1998;46:413-8.
- Zhou L, Yang Y, Wang X, Liu S, Shang W, Yuan G, et al. Berberine stimulates glucose transport through a mechanism distinct from insulin. Metabolism 2007;56:405-12.
- 29. Vishwanath D, Srinivasan H, Patil MS, Seetarama S, Agrawal SK, Dixit MN, et al. Novel method to differentiate 3T3 L1 cells *in vitro* to produce highly sensitive adipocytes for a GLUT4 mediated glucose uptake using fluorescent glucose analog. J Cell Commun Signal 2013;7:129-40.
- 30. Jantaramanant P, Sermwittayawong D, Noipha K, Hutadilok-Towatana N, Wititsuwannakul R. β-glucan-containing polysaccharide extract from the grey oyster mushroom [*Pleurotus sajor-caju* (Fr.) Sing.] stimulates glucose uptake by the L6 myotubes. Int Food Res J 2014;21:779-784.
- Bunkrongcheap R, Hutadilok-Towatana N, Noipha K, Wattanapiromsakul C, Inafuku M, Oku H. Ivy gourd (*Coccinia grandis* L. Voigt) root suppresses adipocyte differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells. Lipids Health Dis 2014;13:1-10.
- 32. Kamei R, Kitagawa Y, Kadokura M, Hattori F, Hazeki O, Ebina Y, et al. Shikonin stimulates glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes *via* an insulinindependent tyrosine kinase pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;292:642-51.
- 33. Sunil C, Duraipandiyan V, Agastian P, Ignacimuthu S. Antidiabetic effect of plumbagin isolated from *Plumbago zeylanica* L. root and its effect on GLUT4 translocation in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Food Chem Toxicol 2012;50:4356-63.
- 34. Öberg AI, Yassin K, Csikasz RI, Dehvari N, Shabalina IG, Hutchinson DS, et al. Shikonin increases glucose uptake in skeletal muscle cells and improves plasma glucose levels in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. PLoS One 201;6:1-10.

- Zeng XY, Zhou X, Xu J, Chan SM, Xue CL, Molero JC, et al. Screening for the efficacy on lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells is an effective tool for the identification of new anti-diabetic compounds. Biochem Pharmacol 2012;84:830-37.
- 36. Lee H, Kang R, Yoon Y. Shikonin inhibits fat accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Phytother Res 2010;24:344-51.
- 37. Park SM, Lim MK, Jung KW, Shin SA, Yoo KY, Yun YH, et al. Prediagnosis smoking, obesity, insulin resistance, and second primary cancer risk in male cancer survivors: National Health Insurance Corporation Study. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:4835-43.
- 38. Hsing AW, Sakoda LC, Chua Jr S. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and prostate cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86:843-57.
- 39. Percik R, Stumvoll M. Obesity and cancer. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2009;117:563-6.

Figure 1 Chemical structures of rhinacanthin-C (1), rhinacanthin-D (2) and rhinacanthin-N (3).



Figure 2 Percentage cell viability of 3T3-L1 (**A**) and L6 (**B**) cells after treatment with various concentrations of RRE (rhinacanthins-rich extract), RC (rhinacanthin-C), RD (rhinacanthin-D) and RN (rhinacanthin-N). Results are expressed as mean \pm SD (n=3).



Figure 3 Dose dependent glucose uptake stimulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes by RRE (rhinacanthins-rich extract), RC (rhinacanthin-C), RD (rhinacanthin-D) and RN (rhinacanthin-N) in comparison with positive control (Insulin= 0.58 μ g/mL). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n=3). Mean values followed by different letters are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 4 Dose dependent glucose uptake stimulation in L6 muscle cells by RRE (rhinacanthins-rich extract), RC (rhinacanthin-C), RD (rhinacanthin-D) and RN (rhinacanthin-N), in comparison with positive controls (Metformin= 219.5 μ g/mL; Insulin= 2.90 μ g/mL). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n=3). Mean values followed by different letters are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 5 Dose dependent adipogenic inhibition (A) by RRE (rhinacanthins-rich extract), RC (rhinacanthin-C), RD (rhinacanthin-D) and RN (rhinacanthin-N) in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and microscopic images (B) of treated and untreated cells. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n=3). Mean values followed by different letters are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).



PAPER V

Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaves in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats

Muhammad Ajmal Shah¹, Wantana Reanmongkol², Nisaudah Radenahmad⁴, Ruqaiya Khalil⁵, Zaheer Ul-Haq⁵, Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant^{1, 3*}

¹Department of Pharmacognosy and Pharmaceutical Botany, ²Department of Clinical Pharmacy, ³Phytomedicine and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology Excellence Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

⁴Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Science, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

⁵Dr. Panjwani Center for Molecular Medicine and Drug Research, International Center for Chemical and Biological Sciences, University of Karachi, Karachi 75270, Pakistan

Abbreviated running title: Antidiabetic and hypolipidemic effects of rhinacanthinsrich extract

* Corresponding author. Pharkphoom Panichayupakaranant Tel. /fax: +66 74 428220. E-mail address: pharkphoom.p@psu.ac.th (P. Panichayupakaranant).

ABSTRACT

Rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) is a semipurified Rhinacanthus nasutus leaf extract that contains 60 % w/w of rhinacanthin-C (RC) with not less than 70 % w/w of total rhinacanthins content obtained by green extract process using ethanol. In the present study, oral administration of RRE (24.11 mg/kg equivalent to 15 mg/kg RC content), RC (15 mg/kg) and the standard drug glibenclamide (600 μ g/kg) were comparatively assessed for their hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic activity in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats for 28 days. Various parameters including body weight, daily food and water intake, fasting blood glucose (FBG), insulin level, HbA1c level, lipid profile (TC, TG, HDL and LDL), liver (AST and ALT) and kidney function markers (creatinine and BUN), and histopathology of pancreas were studied in both diabetic and normal rats. In silico study was also performed to predict the pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile of RC. RRE and RC significantly reduced the FBG, HbA1c and food/water intake, while increased the insulin level and body weight in diabetic rats without affecting the normal rats. The serum lipid, liver and kidney biomarkers were markedly normalized by both RRE and RC in diabetic rats without affecting the normal rats. Moreover, the histopathology of pancreas revealed that RRE and RC evidently restored the islets of Langerhans in diabetic rats. The overall results indicated that RRE has significantly equivalent antidiabetic potential to that of RC. Furthermore, the in silico pharmacokinetic and toxicity analysis predicts that RC is orally non-toxic, non-carcinogenic and nonmutagenic with a decent bioavailability. The undertaken study suggests that RRE could be used as an effective natural remedy in the treatment of diabetes.

Keywords: Diabetes, dyslipidemia, Rhinacanthus nasutus, rhinacanthins-rich extract

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a multifactorial disorder that needs effective multidimensional therapeutic approaches for glycemic control. The number of diabetic patients was dramatically increased in the last three decades from 108 to 422 million globally, with rising prevalence of 3.8 % [1]. According to WHO, 90% of diabetic patients are suffering from type-2 DM (T2DM) [2]. T2DM is mainly associated with insulin resistance, which is related with the release of free fatty acids and proinflammatory cytokines from adipose tissues in obesity, which stimulates beta cells for over secretion of insulin and its receptors reduction [3-5]. Clinically available oral antidiabetic drugs which exert their hypoglycemic effect by different mechanisms are still associated with certain health hazards such as diarrhea, lactic acidosis, weight gain and cardiovascular problems [6,7]. The rising diabetic prevalence and adverse effects of currently used antidiabetic drugs necessitate the investigation of potent, effective and safe, novel antidiabetic remedies preferably from natural resources.

Natural resources in general and plants in particular provide high value source of novel therapeutic moieties which offer a potential alternative to currently used drugs which may be associated with side effects. Numerous phytochemicals and active constituents enriched plant extracts have been reported for their antidiabetic and hypolipidemic potential [8-12]. Rhinacanthus nasutus (L.) Kurz (Family Acanthaceae), a medicinal herb native to Thailand and Southeast Asia, has traditionally been used in the treatment of various disorders including DM [13]. In China and Taiwan, *R. nasutus* has been consumed as an herbal drink [14,15]. Methanol extracts of *R. nasutus* leaf have been explored extensively for antidiabetic and hypolipidemic activity [16-20]. Rhinacanthin-C (RC), a major constituent of R. nasutus leaf has been recently reported for antidiabetic, antihyperlipidemic and pancreatic protective effects in diabetic rats [21]. However, the commercial unavailability, multi-stage and high cost purification process with the consumption of large amount of toxic organic solvents in the purification of RC obstructs its application in drug development process. Rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) is a semipurified extract obtained from R. nasutus leaf that contains not less than 70% w/w rhinacanthins in total, with 60% w/w of RC as the major constituent [22]. RRE offers

remarkable benefits as a substitute to RC in term of lower production cost, green extraction process and potentially equivalent or higher bioactivity due to synergism among RRE components [23, 24]. In the present study, RRE was prepared by simple, environment-friendly, green extraction process to investigate its hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced type-2 diabetic rats. *In silico* studies were also conducted to predict pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile of RC.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Drugs and chemicals

Streptozotocin (STZ), nicotinamide and glibenclamide (Glb) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). All other chemicals were of analytical grade.

2.2. Plant material, extraction and isolation

The fresh leaves of *R. nasutus* were collected from the Botanical Garden of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai Campus, Thailand, a voucher specimen (No. 0011814) was kept at the herbarium of the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand. Leaves were washed with tap water and dried at 60°C for 24 h in a hot air oven and reduced to powders using a grinder, and the powders were passed through sieve No. 45.

RRE was prepared using ethanol as previously described methods [22] with some modifications. The present method used a microwave assisted extraction followed by a simple step of fractionation with Amberlite[®] column. Moreover, only the green solvents, ethanol and water, were used in the extraction and fractionation processes. RC, rhinacanthin-D (RD) and rhinacanthin-N (RN) were purified from the RRE using a silica gel column eluted by hexane and ethyl acetate (99:1, v/v). The structures of all three compounds were confirmed by comparing the ¹H and ¹³C-NMR spectral data with those from the literature [25, 26].

2.3. HPLC analysis of RRE

HPLC analysis of RRE was conducted as previously reported [22] using a UFLC Shimadzu system incorporating a Discovery[®] C18 (5 μ m, 4.6 × 150 mm) column (Supelco, PA, USA) equipped with a SPD-M20A photodiode-array detector, SIL-20A HT auto-sampler, and CTO-20AC oven (Shimadzu Corp. Kyoto, Japan).

2.4. Experimental animals

Adult male Wistar rats weighing approximate 200-250 g were obtained from the National Laboratory Animal Center, Mahidol University, Nakorn Pathom, Thailand and supplied with a standard feed protocol from the Southern Animal Facility, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla, Thailand. The animals were housed for at least 1 week in the laboratory prior to testing. Animals were allowed free access to food and water under standard environmental conditions of room temperature $24 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, 55 ± 10 % humidity and 12 h light: 12 h dark cycle. All experimental protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Prince of Songkla University (MOE 0521.11/326, Ref. 01/2016).

2.6. Induction of diabetes

Rats were divided into two groups; diabetic and non-diabetic. Diabetes was induced according to previously described method [21] by single intraperitoneal injection of STZ (55-60 mg/kg) dissolved in 0.1 M cold citrate buffer (pH 4.5) with pre-nicotinamide (100 mg/kg) injection to reduce pancreatic destruction and to create T2DM [28]. Diabetes was confirmed from the higher level of fasting blood glucose (FBG) using a glucometer (One Touch, LifeScan, Zug, Switzerland) after 72 h of STZ injection. The tail vein of animals was pricked to collect the blood for FBG determination. Animals with FBG above 300 mg/dL having symptoms such as hyperphagia, polydipsia and polyuria were marked as diabetic.

Treatment with 24.11 mg/kg/day of RRE (equivalent to 15 mg/kg RC) or 15 mg/kg/day of RC was started after 72 h of STZ injection and this was recorded as day first. RRE and RC were dissolved in cosolvent system consisted of propylene glycol, tween 80 and water (4:1:4). 1 ml of the solution containing 24.11 mg/kg of

RRE (equivalent to 15 mg/kg of) or 15 mg/kg of RC was administered once daily to the rats via feeding tube for 28 days.

2.6. Experimental design

The rats were assigned into seven groups with six (6) rats per group:

- 1. Normal control rats receiving cosolvent
- 2. Normal control rats receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE
- 3. Normal control rats receiving 15 mg/kg of RC
- 4. Diabetic control rats
- 5. Diabetic rats receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE
- 6. Diabetic rats receiving 15 mg/kg of RC
- 7. Diabetic rats receiving standard drug Glb ($600 \mu g/kg$)

2.7. Body weight, food and water intake, and FBG determination

The initial and final body weights, daily food and water consumptions of all animals were recorded. The FBS at day 0, 7, 14 and 28 was measured using the glucometer (One Touch, LifeScan, Zug, Switzerland) from the tail blood. At the end of the experiment (28th day), the overnight fasted rats were euthanized using phenobarbital (100-150 mg/kg i.p). Blood was collected from each rat through cardiac puncture and centrifuged at 4°C for 15 min at 800 g and the serum was used for biochemical analysis.

2.8. Measurement of HbA1c and insulin analysis

HbA1c level in whole blood was analyzed by Clover A1c self-analyzer (Infopia, Gyeonggi-do, Korea). Serum insulin level was measured by Electrochemiluminescence method using Cobas 6000, Roche kit (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland).

2.9. Biochemical analysis

Biochemical tests of the serum total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG), high density lipoprotein (HDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), aspartate

aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) were performed by Stanbio Diagnostic kits (Stanbio Laboratory, Texas, USA). Serum creatinine level was determined using BioSystem Diagnostic Kit (BioSystems, Barcelona, Spain). All the results were calculated using an A25 automated analyzer (BioSystems, Barcelona, Spain).

2.10. Histopathology of pancreas

The pancreas from euthanized rats was preserved in 10% buffered formalin. The tissue was embedded in molten paraffin and cut into 5 μ m thick sections. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and visualized under light microscope (Olympus DP73) to study the histopathological changes.

2. 11. In silico pharmacokinetic and toxicity predictions of RC

Candidates with poor pharmacokinetics should be identified early in drug design process to reduce the number of experiments required for compound selection and development [29]. In this context, drug-likeliness, blood brain barrier permeability, and toxicity of the RC were evaluated using MOE2016.0801 [30]. Additionally, ADMET profile of RC was established using admetSAR [31] a free tool for evaluation of ADMET properties. Further to validate our finding PreADMET v.02 was used to evaluate various toxicity and ADMET associated descriptors using the default parameters [32]. The web-based server, Xenosite was used to calculate the pattern of Cytochrome P-450 based metabolism of RC [33].

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Determination of rhinacanthins content in RRE

HPLC analysis showed that the total rhinacanthins content were 73.7% w/w. RRE used in the current study contained RC (62.2% w/w) as a major compound, and RD (7.9% w/w) and RN (3.6% w/w) were the minor compounds. The quantitative results of RRE analysis are consistent with the previous report [22].

3.2. Effect of RRE on body weight, food and water consumptions

Polydipsia (thirst), hyperphagia (appetite) and weight loss are the characteristic symptoms of diabetes [34]. As shown in Table 1, the initial water and food intake and body weight of nondiabetic and diabetic rats were comparable. After four weeks a significant rise in water and food intake with reduction in body weight was observed in diabetic rats in comparison with the normal rats. In T2DM, insulin deficiency causes abnormal glucose metabolism and protein catabolism resulting in muscular degeneration and weight loss [35]. Oral administration of RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and RC (15 mg/kg) significantly normalized the water and food intake, and body weight of diabetic rats without any significant effect on the normal rats (Table 1).

3.3. Effect of RRE on FBG, HbA1c and insulin

Insulin is an important hormone which acts as a metabolic regulator of carbohydrate, lipid and protein by promoting their synthesis, and prevents them from degrading and releasing into the circulatory system. Insulin also functions as glucose, amino acid and fatty acid uptake stimulator and certain metabolic enzymes expression enhancer [36]. In T2DM, due to partial destruction of pancreas the insulin level becomes lower that affect the overall metabolic process. In the current study, STZ along with nicotinamide has been used for partial destruction of pancreas to develop T2DM model which was confirmed by higher FBG and lower serum insulin levels in the diabetic rats (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2A). In nondiabetic control and nondiabetic rats receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE and 15 mg/kg of RC, the FBG and insulin levels were consistently normal throughout the 28 days (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2A). Diabetic rats treated with RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) or the standard drug Glb (600 µg/kg) gradually decreased the hyperglycemia and markedly increased the serum insulin throughout the experimental period of 28 days (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2A). Furthermore, it is evident from the histopathological images of pancreas (Fig. 3) that RRE markedly decreased beta cells destruction in diabetic rats. Pancreatic protective effect of REE can be correlated to the previous study on its marker compound RC [21]. It has been

reported that RC is a potent antioxidant [37], anti-inflammatory [24] and antiapoptotic agent [21] which can be correlated to the pancreatic protective effect.

During hyperglycemia the excess sugar reacts with the protien resulting in glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) which is a laboratory marker of diabetes and the associated risk of diabetic complications due to the formation of advanced glycation products [37]. In the present study the increase HbA1c level in diabetic rats was significantly reduced by RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and RC (15 mg/kg) comparatively with the standard drug Glb at a dose of 600 μ g/kg (Fig. 2B). However, there was no significant effect on the HbA1c level of normal treated rats. The results can be correlated with our previous *in vitro* study on the antiglycation potential of RRE and RC [38].

3.4. Effect of RRE on lipid profile

In DM, hyperglycemia is closely associated with hyperlipidemia. The linkage of hyperglycemia with hyperlipidemia often leads to fatal cardiovascular problems in diabetic patients [21]. Insulin deficiency instigates the hormone sensitive lipase which stimulates fatty acid release from adipocytes [39]. The extra fatty acid enhances the production of phospholipids and cholesterol in hepatocytes. The elevated levels of phospholipids and cholesterol along with triglycerides in serum are the biomarkers of hyperlipidemia [40]. In the present study, the serum level of TC, TG, HDL and LDL was significantly normalized by REE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and Glb (600 μ g/kg) (Table 2). However, there was no significant lipid profile alteration of normal rats treated with RRE and RC at same dose. The hypolipidemic results of RRE are consistent with previous report about hypolipidemic activity of crude methanol extract [17] and RC [21].

3.5. Effects of RRE on liver and kidney functions

Liver is the insulin dependent organ for production of carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes essential for accumulation and consumption of glycogen. Low insulin level particularly in DM markedly reduced the expression of these enzymes and other important proteins [41]. Further, the insulin deficiency severely disturbs the carbohydrate and fat metabolism [20]. AST and ALT are the key enzymes which are known to be the liver function marker [42]. Table 3 indicates that diabetic rats have elevated level of AST and ALT which is significantly reduced by REE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and Glb (600 μ g/kg). However, there is no effect of RRE and RC administration on liver markers of normal control rats (Table 3). These results show the hepatic safety of RRE (24.11 mg/kg) and (15 mg/kg).

DM is a metabolic disorder which affects all the vital organs including kidney, diabetic nephropathy is a one of the major diabetic complication. Oxidative stress, protien glycation and hyperlipidemia are the prominent diabetic factors which are responsible in the occurrence of diabetic nephropathy [43]. The serum BUN and creatinine levels are the important markers to evaluate the kidney function in nephropathic condition [44]. In the current study, the elevated level of BUN and creatinine were markedly reduced by RRE (24.11 mg/kg), RC (15 mg/kg) and the standard drug Glb (600 μ g/kg) in diabetic rats (Table 4). However, there was no significant effect of RRE and RC administration on BUN and creatinine level of normal rats which indicate the renal safety of the selected dose of RRE and RC. The results can be correlated with previous *in vitro* reports on the antioxidant and antiglycation potential of crude extract, RRE and RC [18,21,38].

3.6. ADMET profile of RC

In order to identify the pharmacokinetic and toxicity properties of RC, various *in silico* calculations were performed. The RC complies well with the Lipinski's rule of drug-likeliness with a violation count value of 0 (Table 4). RC was found to be BBB+ (0.44) that suggests it can penetrate in the blood brain barrier which can be correlated with a recent report on the modulatory effect of RC through high-mobility group box 1 related pathway to attenuate brain apoptosis in the pathogenesis of subarachnoid hemorrhage [45]. In the Table 4, ADMET profile of RC is presented as established by using admetSAR, a free web based tool for evaluation of ADMET properties.

As shown in Table 5, RC can be absorbed by both human intestine and brain. It was also predicted to display Caco-2 monolayer permeability. The Caco-2

serves as *in vitro* model of human intestinal mucosa for prediction of the oral bioavailability of a drug [46]. The observation is consistent with the fact that the compound was found to comply with Lipinksii rules which define properties of orally available drugs [47]. Though, the drug was found to be both substrate and inhibitor of P-glycoprotein (Table 5), the probability of being an inhibitor is greater. The P-glycoprotein plays a significant role in drug absorption and deposition by actively transporting a drug from cell cytoplasm to the intestine, thus limiting the oral bioavailability of the drug [46,48]. As an inhibitor of P-glycoprotein, RC may present good bioavailability and the drug concentration shall remain stable.

Human Ether-A-Go-Go-Related gene has emerged as an important antitarget in the drug development. Therefore, the hERG inhibitory potential of a drug is assessed at the preclinical stages during pharmaceutical testing [49]. The hERG inhibitory potential of the RC was evaluated using Pre-ADMET and admetSAR web servers. RC presented medium to low risk of being hERG inhibitor. However, as suggested by experimental results, the drug is non-toxic and non-lethal. The compounds having LD₅₀ between 500-5000 mg/kg are included in category III of acute oral toxins. However, as suggested by the experimental results, RC was found to be effective at a dose of 15 mg/kg which suggest the therapeutic window of the drug dose is many folds lower than the lower LD₅₀.

Cytochrome P450 is a family of isozymes responsible for the biotransformation of several drugs [50]. Table 4 shows the tendency of RC as CYP450 3A4 Substrate. The presence of this isoform in liver and intestine pronounce these organs as sites of clearance of RC. Server Xenosite was used to identify the potential sites of metabolic-oxidation carried out by CYP450 3A4 (Fig. 4). The terminal methyl group seems to be most vulnerable to oxidation based degradation followed by the benzene ring.

4. Conclusion

RRE containing 62.2% w/w RC was obtained from *R. nasutus* leaves using a green extraction method. RRE showed significant hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects comparable to RC. In term of green processing and low production cost, RRE is more suitable candidate for antidiabetic drug development.

Author contribution

MAS and PP conceived and designed the research study. MAS conducted the experiments. RK and ZU designed and carried out *in silico* calculations. MAS, RK, ZU, RW and PP analyzed the data, discussed the findings and prepared the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award 2014 and Thesis Support Grant 2015, granted by Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, Hat-Yai, Songkhla, Thailand. The authors wish to thank Mr. John Constable for assistance with the English.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

- World Health Organization, Global report on diabetes. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/</u>, 2016 (accessed 08.05.2017).
- L. Guariguata, D.R Whiting, I. Hambleton, J. Beagley, U. Linnenkamp, J.E. Shaw, Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035, Diab. Res. Clin. Pract. 103 (2014) 137-149.
- 3. S.E. Kahn, R.L. Hull, K.M. Utzschneider, Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, Nature 444 (2006) 840-846.

- 4. M. Stumvoll, B.J. Goldstein, T.W. van Haeften, Type 2 diabetes: pathogenesis and treatment, The Lancet 371 (2008) 2153-2156.
- 5. P. Dandona, A. Aljada, A. Bandyopadhyay, Inflammation: the link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes, Trends. Immunol. 25 (2004) 4-7.
- E.Z. Fisman, M. Motro, A. Tenenbaum, Non-insulin antidiabetic therapy in cardiac patients: current problems and future prospects, in: Cardiovascular Diabetology: Clinical, Metabolic and Inflammatory Facets, Karger Publishers., Basel, 2008, pp. 154-170.
- O.J. Phung, J.M. Scholle, M. Talwar, C.I. Coleman, Effect of noninsulin antidiabetic drugs added to metformin therapy on glycemic control, weight gain, and hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetes, Jama 303 (2010) 1410-1418.
- 8. H.Y. Hung, K. Qian, S.L. Morris-Natschke, C.S. Hsu, K.H. Lee, Recent discovery of plant-derived anti-diabetic natural products, Nat. Prod. Rep. 29 (2012) 580-606.
- B. Sharma, C. Balomajumder, P. Roy, Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of flavonoid rich extract from *Eugenia jambolana* seeds on streptozotocin induced diabetic rats, Food. Chem. Toxicol. 46 (2008a) 2376-2383.
- B. Sharma, G. Viswanath, R. Salunke, R. Roy, Effects of flavonoid-rich extract from seeds of *Eugenia jambolana* (L.) on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in diabetic mice. Food. Chem. 110 (2008b) 697-705.
- 11. M.H. Grace, D.M Ribnicky, P. Kuhn, A. Poulev, S. Logendra, G.G. Yousef, I. Raskin, M.A. Lila, Hypoglycemic activity of a novel Anthocyanin-rich formulation from Lowbush Blueberry, *Vaccinium angustifolium* Aiton, Phytomedicine 16 (2009) 406-415.
- R.L. Cai, M.H. Yang, Y. Shi, J. Chen, Y.C. Li, Y. Qi, Antifatigue activity of phenylethanoid-rich extract from *Cistanche deserticola*, Phytother. Res. 24 (2010) 313-315.
- J.M. Brimson, T. Tencomnao, Medicinal herbs and antioxidants: Potential of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* for disease treatment? Phytochem. Rev. 13 (2014) 643-651.
- 14. R.T. Huang, Y.F. Lu, B.S. Inbaraj, B.H. Chen, Determination of phenolic acids and flavonoids in *Rhinacanthus nasutus* (L.) Kurz by high-performance-liquidchromatography with photodiode-array detection and tandem mass spectrometry. J. Func. Foods. 12 (2015) 498-508.

- 15. D.L. Li, X.L. Zheng, L. Duan, S.W. Deng, W. Ye, A.H. Wang AH, Ethnobotanical survey of herbal tea plants from the traditional markets in Chaoshan, China. J. Ethnopharmacol. 205 (2017) 195-206.
- P.V. Rao, M.D. Naidu, Antidiabetic effect of *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats, Libyan. Agr. Res. Center. J. Int. 1 (2010) 310-312.
- P.V. Rao, K. Madhavi, M.D. Naidu, Hypolipidemic properties of *Rhinacanthus* nasutus in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats, J. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 6 (2011) 589-95.
- P.V. Rao, P. Sujana, T. Vijayakanth, M.D. Naidu, *Rhinacanthus nasutus*-its protective role in oxidative stress and antioxidant status in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats., Asian. Pac. J. Trop. Dis. 2 (2012) 327-330.
- P.V. Rao, K. Madhavi, M.D. Naidu, S.H. Gan, *Rhinacanthus nasutus* ameliorates cytosolic and mitochondrial enzyme levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats, Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med. 2013 (2013) 1-6.
- 20. P.V. Rao, K. Madhavi, M.D. Naidu, S.H. Gan, *Rhinacanthus nasutus* improves the levels of liver carbohydrate, protein, glycogen, and liver markers in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats, Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med. 2013 (2013b) 1-7.
- 21. S.H. Adam, N. Giribabu, P.V. Rao, A.S.M. Sayem, A. Arya, P. Panichayupakaranant, P.K. Korla, N. Salleh, Rhinacanthin C ameliorates hyperglycaemia, hyperlipidemia and pancreatic destruction in streptozotocin–nicotinamide induced adult male diabetic rats, Eur. J. Pharmacol.771 (2016)173-190.
- 22. G. Fricker D. Miller, Relevance of multidrug resistance proteins for intestinal drug absorption *in vitro* and *in vivo*, Basic. Clin. Pharmacol. 90 (2002) 5-13.
- 23. P. Panichayupakaranant, T. Charoonratana, A. Sirikatitham, RP-HPLC analysis of rhinacanthins in *Rhinacanthus nasutus*: Validation and application for the preparation of rhinacanthin high-yielding extract, J. Chromatog. Sci. 47 (2009) 705-708.
- 24. N. Bhusal, P. Panichayupakaranant, W. Reanmongkol, *In vivo* analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of a standardized *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf extract in

comparison with its major active constituent rhinacanthin-C, Songklanakarin. J. Sci. Tech. 36 (2014) 326-331.

- P. Puttarak, T. Charoonratana, P. Panichayupakaranant, Antimicrobial activity and stability of rhinacanthins-rich *Rhinacanthus nasutus* extract, Phytomedicine 17 (2010) 323-327.
- 26. A. Sendl, JL. Chen, S.D. Jolad, C. Stoddart, E. Rozhon, M. Kernan M, Two new naphthoquinones with antiviral activity from *Rhinacanthus nasutus*, J. Nat. Prod. 59 (1996) 808-811.
- 27. W.U. Tian-Shung, H.S. Hua-Chun, W.U. Pei-Lin, L.E. Yann-Lii, C.H. Yu-Yi, C.Y. Chern, Naphthoquinone esters from the root of *Rhinacanthus nasutus*, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 46 (1998) 413-418.
- A. Shirwaikar, K. Rajendran, R. Barik, Effect of aqueous bark extract of *Garuga* pinnata Roxb. in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced type-II diabetes mellitus, J. Ethnopharmacol. 107 (2006) 285-290.
- 29. D.K. Walker, The use of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data in the assessment of drug safety in early drug development, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 58 (2004) 601-608.
- 30. Molecular Operating Environment (MOE), 2016.0801; Chemical Computing Group ULC, 1010 Sherbooke St. West, Suite #910, Montreal, QC, Canada, H3A 2R7, 2017.
- 31. F. Cheng, W. Li, Y. Zhou, J. Shen, Z. Wu, G. Liu, admetSAR: a comprehensive source and free tool for assessment of chemical ADMET properties, J. Chem. Inf. Model. 52 (2012) 3099-3105.
- 32. P. BMDRC, PreADMET. "2.0, Bmdrc, Seoul." Korea (2007).
- 33. J. Zaretzki, M. Matlock, S.J. Swamidass, XenoSite: Accurately Predicting CYP-Mediated Sites of Metabolism with Neural Networks, J. Chem. Inf. Model. 53 (2013) 3373-3383.
- 34. S.L. Badole, S.M. Chaudhari, G.B. Jangam, A.D. Kandhare, S.L. Bodhankar, Cardioprotective activity of *Pongamia pinnata* in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabeticrats, Biomed. Res. Int. 2015 (2015) 1-8.

- 35. L.B. Pupim, O. Heimburger, A.R. Qureshi, T.A. Ikizler, P. Stenvinkel, Accelerated lean body mass loss in incident chronic dialysis patients with diabetes mellitus, *Kidney. Int.* 68 (2005) 2368-2374.
- A.R Saltiel, C.R. Kahn, Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism, Nature 414 (2001) 799-806.
- 37. S.L. Jeffcoate, Diabetes control and complications: the role of glycated haemoglobin, 25 years on. Diab. Med. 21 (2004) 657-665.
- 38. M.A. Shah, H. Muhammad, Y. Mehmood, R. Khalil, Z.U. Haq, P. Panichyupakaranant, Superoxide scavenging and antiglycation activities of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaves, Pharmacog. Mag. (accepted)
- 39. L. Al-Shamaony, S.M. Al-Khazraji, H.A.A. Twaij, Hypoglycemic effect of *Artemisia herba alba*. II. Effect of a valuable extract on some blood parameters in diabetic animals, J. Ethnopharmacol. 43 (1994) 167–171
- 40. S. Rajasekaran, K. Ravi, K. Sivagnanam, S. Subramanian, Beneficial effects of Aloe vera leaf gel extract on lipid profile status in rats with streptozotocin diabetes, Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 33 (2006) 232-237.
- H. Hikino, M. Ishiyama, Y. Suzuki, C. Konno, Mechanisms of hypoglycemic activity of ganoderan B: a glycan of *Ganoderma lucidum* fruit bodies, Planta. Med. 55 (1989) 423-428.
- 42. A.L.B. Williams J.H. Hoofnagle, Ratio of serum aspartate to alanine aminotransferase in chronic hepatitis. Relationship to cirrhosis, Gastroenterology 95 (1988) 734-739.
- 43. A.R. El Barky, S.A. Hussein, A.A. Alm-Eldeen, Y.A. Hafez, T.M. Mohamed, Anti-diabetic activity of *Holothuria thomasi* saponin. Biomed. Pharmacother. 84 (2016)1472-1487.
- 44. C. Ronco, S. Grammaticopoulos, M. Rosner, M. Decal, S. Soni, P. Lentini, P. Oliguria, Creatinine and other biomarkers of acute kidney injury, Contributions. Nephrol. 164 (2010) 118-127.
- 45. C.Z. Chang, S.C. Wu, A.L. Kwan, C.L. Lin, Rhinacanthin-C, a fat-soluble extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus*, modulates high-mobility group box 1-related neuro-

inflammation and subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced brain apoptosis in a rat model. World. Neurosurg. 86 (2016) 349-360.

- 46. G. Fricker, D. Miller, Relevance of multidrug resistance proteins for intestinal drug absorption *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Basic. Clin. Pharmacol. 90 (2002) 5-13.
- 47. P. Leeson, Drug discovery: Chemical beauty contest, Nature 481 (2012) 455-456.
- 48. M. Fromm, P-glycoprotein: a defense mechanism limiting oral bioavailability and CNS accumulation of drugs, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 38 (2000) 69-74.
- 49. H. Nogawa, T. Kawai, hERG trafficking inhibition in drug-induced lethal cardiac arrhythmia, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 741 (2014) 336-339.
- 50. C.C Ogu, J.L Maxa, Drug interactions due to cytochrome P450, Proceedings (Bayl Univ Med Cent). 13 (2000) 421-423.

		Normal treated			Diabetic treated		
Parameters	Normal	RRE	RC	Diabetic	RRE	RC	Glb
		(24.11 mg/kg)	(15 mg/kg)		(24.11 mg/kg)	(15 mg/kg)	(0.6 mg/kg)
Initial body weight (g)	225.83 ± 4.16^a	229.17 ± 6.64^{a}	228.33 ± 7.20^{a}	232.83 ± 8.75^{a}	231.67 ± 5.84^a	230.83 ± 8.24^{a}	232.50 ± 6.37^{a}
Final body weight (g)	293.35 ± 9.93^a	286.34 ± 10.37^{a}	290.53 ± 10.23^{a}	215.74 ± 11.31^{b}	$255.23 \pm 7.93^{\circ}$	$250.37 \pm 11.49^{\circ}$	272.67 ± 10.94^{d}
Water intake (mL/rat/day)	34.53 ± 6.72^a	32.75 ± 7.12^{a}	33.81 ± 5.37^{a}	53.93 ± 7.81^{b}	40.32 ± 6.95^c	43.5 ± 8.75^{c}	$41.2\pm7.04^{\rm c}$
Food intake (g/rat/day)	22.13 ± 4.35^a	21.59 ± 5.21^{a}	22.84 ± 3.98^a	39.73 ± 6.45^b	$29.3\pm7.14^{\circ}$	$31.6 \pm 6.24^{\circ}$	$29.32\pm3.98^{\rm c}$
Values are	C E M fan aaah an	and (n 6) Values	that also differen	+ lattana ana aiamifia	antles different (D	< 0.05)	

Table 1 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on body weight, food and water intake.

Values are \pm S.E.M for each group (n=6). Values that share different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

	Normal treated			Diabetic treated			
Parameters	Normal	RRE (24.11 mg/kg)	RC (15 mg/kg)	. Diabetic	RRE (24.11 mg/kg)	RC (15 mg/kg)	Glb (0.6 mg/kg)
TC (mg/dL)	101.34 ± 5.59^{a}	103.56 ± 7.36^a	105.28 ± 4.79^{a}	152.79 ± 15.16^{b}	$120.25 \pm 9.71^{\circ}$	$123.37 \pm 8.97^{\circ}$	111.53 ± 11.15^{d}
TG (mg/dL)	82.73 ± 4.78^a	85.13 ± 8.19^a	83.39 ± 7.39^a	133.83 ± 12.89^{b}	$103.79 \pm 8.99^{\circ}$	$107.85 \pm 5.98^{\circ}$	94.57 ± 5.69^d
HDL (mg/dL)	49.71 ± 2.99^{a}	51.75 ± 3.18^a	47.98 ± 5.31^a	23.98 ± 7.12^{b}	$33.31 \pm 4.38^{\circ}$	$32.98 \pm 5.12^{\circ}$	38.98 ± 3.97^d
LDL (mg/dL)	11.31 ± 1.09^{a}	$9.31\pm0.97^{\text{a}}$	12.72 ± 0.89^{a}	57.98 ± 5.73^{b}	$29.45 \pm 2.78^{\circ}$	31.81 ± 4.31^{c}	20.89 ± 2.91^{d}

Table 2 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on lipid profile.

Values are \pm S.E.M for each group (n=6). Values that share different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

		Normal treated			Diabetic treated		
Parameters	Normal	RRE (24.11 mg/kg)	RC (15 mg/kg)	Diabetic	RRE (24.11 mg/kg)	RC (15 mg/kg)	Glb (0.6 mg/kg)
AST (IU/dL)	105.47 ± 7.79^{a}	107.12 ± 5.71^{a}	103.98 ± 8.94^{a}	195.54 ± 12.1^{b}	$135.93 \pm 8.19^{\circ}$	151.79 ± 5.32^{d}	$123.83 \pm 7.73^{\rm e}$
ALT (IU/dL)	51.85 ± 4.17^a	49.98 ± 3.95^a	52.73 ± 7.14^a	89.38 ± 9.39^b	$72.89 \pm 5.73^{\circ}$	69.19 ± 4.34^{c}	61.39 ± 6.38^d
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.47 ± 0.05^{a}	0.43 ± 0.07^a	0.49 ± 0.03^{a}	0.95 ± 0.08^{b}	$0.68\pm0.09^{\rm c}$	0.71 ± 0.04^{c}	0.59 ± 0.03^{d}
BUN (mg/dL)	37.39 ± 3.59^{a}	36.79 ± 5.03^{a}	35.39 ± 4.78^a	64.31 ± 7.89^{b}	$47.31 \pm 5.31^{\circ}$	$54.93\pm4.19^{\rm d}$	42.98 ± 5.73^{e}

Table 3 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on liver and kidneys function.

Values are \pm S.E.M for each group (n=6). Values that share different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

Model	Result	Probability
Absorption		
Blood-brain barrier	bbb+	0.8552
Human intestinal absorption	Hia+	0.9957
Caco-2 permeability	Caco2+	0.7258
P-glycoprotein substrate	Substrate	0.7276
P-glycoprotein inhibitor	Inhibitor	0.9335
Renal organic cation transporter	Non-inhibitor	0.8205
Metabolism		
CYP450 2c9 substrate	Non-substrate	0.8317
CYP450 2d6 substrate	Non-substrate	0.8926
CYP450 3a4 substrate	Substrate	0.7221
CYP450 1a2 inhibitor	Inhibitor	0.8228
CYP450 2c9 inhibitor	Inhibitor	0.7242
CYP450 2d6 inhibitor	Non-inhibitor	0.7797
CYP450 2c19 inhibitor	Inhibitor	0.7216
CYP450 3a4 inhibitor	Non-inhibitor	0.6793
CYP inhibitory promiscuity	High cyp inhibitory promiscuity	0.6948
Toxicity		
Human Ether-A-Go-Go-Related	Weak inhibitor	0.9891
Gene inhibition	Non-inhibitor	0.8434
Ames toxicity	Non ames toxic	0.7815
Carcinogens	Non-carcinogens	0.8585
Acute oral toxicity	III	0.5385

Table 4 Pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile predictions of rhinacanthin-C obtainedfrom admetSAR server.

Descriptor	Calculated value	Standard Value
Hydrogen bond donor	2	≤5
Hydrogen bond acceptor	4	≤10
Molecular mass	410	≤500
Octanol-water partition coefficient (log P)	4.138	≤5
Number of atoms	60	20-70
Polar Surface Area	84 Å2	140 Å2

Table 5 The values of different descriptors of rhinacanthin-C and their comparison

 with the standard Lipinski's drug like values.

Figure 1 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extrct (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on fasting blood glucose level at weekly interval. Values are \pm S.E.M for each group (n=6). Bars that share different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). C: Non-diabetic control, D: Non-treated diabetic, C+RRE: non-diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE, C+RC: non-diabetic receiving 15 mg/kg of RC, D: non-treated diabetics, D+RRE: diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE, D+RC: diabetic receiving 15 mg/kg of glibenclamide.


Figure 2 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extrct (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on insulin (**A**) and HbA1c level (**B**). Values are \pm S.E.M for each group (n=6). Bars that share different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). C: Non-diabetic control, D: Non-treated diabetic, C+RRE: non-diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE, C+RC: non-diabetic receiving 15 mg/kg of RC, D: non-treated diabetics, D+RRE: diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RC and D+Glb: diabetic receiving 600 µg/kg of glibenclamide.



Figure 3 Effect of rhinacanthins-rich extrct (RRE) and rhinacanthin-C (RC) on histopathological changes in the pancreas. White lining indicates islet of Langerhans. C: Non-diabetic control, D: Non-treated diabetic, C+RRE: non-diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE, C+RC: non-diabetic receiving 15 mg/kg of RC, D: non-treated diabetics, D+RRE: diabetic receiving 24.11 mg/kg of RRE, D+RC: diabetic receiving 15 mg/kg of glibenclamide.



Figure 4 The potential sites of CYP450 mediated oxidation in rhinacanthin-C obtained from the Xenosite server



ANIMAL ETHIC CERTIFICATE



PRINCE OF SONGKLA UNIVERSITY 15 Karnjanawanij Road, Hat Yai, Songkhla 90110, Thailand Tel (66-74) 286940 Fax (66-74) 286961 Website : www.psu.ac.th

MOE 0521.11/ 326

Ref.01/2016

March 23 , 2016

This is to certify that the research project entitled "Antidiabetic activity of rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C" which was conducted by Assoc. Prof. Dr. Wantana Reanmongkol, Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, has been approved by The Animal Ethic Committee, Prince of Songkla University.

Kitja Savangjarov

Kitja Sawangjaroen, Ph.D. Chairman, The Animal Ethic Committee, Prince of Songkla University

VITEA

Mr. Muhammad Ajmal S	hah
	Mr. Muhammad Ajmal S

Student ID	5710730002
Student ID	5/10/5000

Educational Attainment

Degree	Name of Institution	Year of Graduation
Doctor of Pharmacy (PharmD, RPh)	Federal Urdu University of Arts, Science & Technology Karachi, Pakistan	2010
Master of Philosophy	Federal Urdu University of Arts,	2013
(Pharmacognosy)	Science & Technology Karachi, Pakistan	

Scholarship Awards

- 1. Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) PhD Award 2014, granted by Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University.
- 2. Thesis Support Grant 2016, granted by Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University.
- Conference Support Grants 2016-17, awarded by Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University.
- GA Travel Grant-2017, awarded by GA Society for Medicinal Plant and Natural Product Research Germany to present poster in their 65th GA Annual Meeting at Basel Switzerland, 6-10 September 2017.

List of Publication and Proceeding

Publications

 Shah MA, Keach J, Panichyupakaranant P. Antidiabetic naphthoquinones and their plant resources in Thailand: Review. Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, (accepted).

- Shah MA, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P. α-Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaf and synergistic effect in combination with acarbose. Journal of Functional Foods, 36 (2017) 325–331.
- Shah MA, Muhammad H, Mehmood Y, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P. Superoxide scavenging and antiglycation activities of rhinacanthins-rich extract from *Rhinacanthus nasutus* leaves. Pharmacognosy Magazine, (accepted).
- Shah MA, Jakkawanpitak C, Decha S, Panichyupakaranant P. Rhinacanthins-rich extract enhance glucose uptake and inhibit adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. Pharmacognosy Magazine, (submitted).
- Shah MA, Reanmongkol W, Radenahmad N, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P. Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effect of rhinacanthinsrich extract in nicotinamide-streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, (submitted).

Conference Presentation

- Shah MA, Haji M, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichyupakaranant P. Rhinacanthins-rich extract: A potent superoxide scavenger and advanced glycation end-product formation inhibitor. 65th GA Annual Meeting, 3-7 September 2017, Basel Switzerland (poster-accepted).
- Shah MA, Decha S, Khalil R, Haq ZU, Panichayupakaranant P. Rhinacanthinsrich extract: A potent synergistic α-glucosidase inhibitor and glucose uptake enhancer in muscles cells. 2nd International Symposium on Phytochemicals in Food and Medicine, 7-10 April 2017, Fuzhou China (poster).
- Shah MA, Panichyupakaranant P. α-Glucosidase inhibitory effect of rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin-C. 4th Current Drug Development Conference, 1-3 June 2016, Phuket Thailand (oral).